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Baseload Generation–the generating facilities within the system
that are operated to the greatest extent possible to maximize
efﬁciency and minimize costs, thus providing the “base” of generation requirements.
Book Value–a company’s common stock equity as it appears on a
balance sheet, equal to total assets minus liabilities, preferred stock,
and intangible assets such as goodwill. Book value per share refers
to the book value of a company divided by the number of shares
outstanding.
Competitive Generation Business–our market-based wholesale
electricity supply business that, primarily through long-term contracts, serves customers who can choose their suppliers based on
price, reliability, capacity, and other market needs.
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Distribution Lines–power lines, like those in neighborhoods, that
carry moderate-voltage electricity to customer service areas.
Dividend Yield–the annual dividend income per share received
from a company divided by its current stock price.
Earnings Per Share–net income divided by the average number of
shares of common stock outstanding.
Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC)–an independent
agency within the U.S. Department of Energy that, among other
things, regulates wholesale sales of electricity and transmission in
interstate commerce.
Generating Capacity–the amount of energy that can be produced
using all of our power generation facilities.
Kilowatt-hour–the basic unit of electric energy, which equals one
kilowatt of power taken from an electric circuit steadily for one hour.
A 100-watt light bulb burning for 10 hours uses one kilowatt-hour
of electricity.

Market Value–what investors believe a company is worth, calculated by multiplying the number of shares outstanding by the current market price of the company’s shares.
Megawatt–one thousand kilowatts. A measurement of electricity
usually used when discussing large amounts, such as the capacity
of generating plants.
Payout Ratio–the percentage of earnings that is paid to shareholders in the form of dividends.
Public Service Commissions (PSC) –the authorities that regulate
utilities at the state level.
Regulated Retail Business–the part of our business that generates,
transmits, and distributes electricity to commercial, industrial, and
residential customers in most of Alabama and Georgia, the Florida
panhandle, and southeastern Mississippi.
Retail Markets–markets in which energy is sold and delivered
directly to the ultimate end-users of that energy.
Return on Equity –a measure of proﬁtability, calculated as net
income divided by shareholders’ equity.
Risk-adjusted Return –a measure of return which factors in the risk
(expected variability in returns) of the investment relative to other
stocks.
Total Shareholder Return–stock price appreciation plus reinvested
dividends. (The distribution of shares of Mirant Corporation stock to
Southern Company shareholders is treated as a special dividend for
purposes of calculating Southern Company shareholder return.)
Transmission Lines–circuits carrying power at a high voltage. They
generally carry the power from the source of generation to the point
where the voltage is reduced and distributed to customers.
Wholesale Customers–energy marketers, electric and gas utilities,
municipal utilities, rural electric cooperatives, and other entities that
buy power for resale to retail customers.
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front and center
Serving one of the fastest-growing regions in
the country, Southern Company is a leader in
the energy industry. We focus on providing
reliable, affordable electricity with outstanding service to our 4.2 million retail and wholesale customers. Our goal is to consistently
deliver solid risk-adjusted returns for our
shareholders by executing a clear strategy.
Basic to being front and center is our belief
that actions are more important than words.
We are committed to keeping our promises,
and we understand that the way we do business
means as much as the results we achieve.

David M. Ratcliffe
Chairman, President, and CEO
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dear fellow shareholders
In a year that was marked by signiﬁcant challenges, your
company performed well in 2005. We strive to be leaders in
our industry, to be “front and center.” Southern Company employees demonstrated leadership as they delivered outstanding
results in 2005 for our shareholders, our customers, and the
communities we serve.
They did so in ways that were dramatic, such as responding to a great natural disaster, Hurricane Katrina. And they did
so in thousands of daily actions that don’t necessarily grab headlines but contribute just the same to our long-term success.
Earnings in 2005 were $2.14 a share, which exceeded the
top end of our targeted range. Our core utility business continued to beneﬁt from the relatively strong economy and population growth in the Southeast, which drove the demand for
electricity higher. We also had strong results from our competitive generation business, which added to its portfolio of longterm wholesale contracts and also acquired the 680-megawatt
Oleander generating plant in central Florida, increasing our
presence in that fast-growing market. Dividends were increased
last year to an annual rate of $1.49 per share as we extended our
record of consecutive quarterly dividend payments that reaches
back to 1948. The past year was the fourth straight in which we
raised the dividend; the 4 percent annual rate increase in 2005
was the largest of these. Our share price reached an all-time
high in September and closed with a gain for the year. Total
return to shareholders was 7.6 percent, better than the broad
Standard & Poor’s 500 Index. This was, however, below the
industry average as several utility-sector stocks, in comparison
to ours, rebounded from recent declines that Southern Company had not experienced. If you consider total return over the
long term, which I think is appropriate for an investment such

as ours, we remain one of the industry’s strongest performers.
Beyond the solid ﬁnancial performance, we continued to excel
in customer satisfaction, reliability, and corporate responsibility.
Any discussion of 2005 for us must include Hurricane
Katrina, the devastating storm that in late August caused
unprecedented destruction to the Gulf Coast of Mississippi as well as signiﬁcant damage and outages in Alabama.
In Mississippi, every one of our customers lost power, and our
generation and power delivery infrastructure was severely damaged. The heroic effort led by our employees to restore power
within 12 days to all Mississippi Power customers who could
safely receive it is detailed in a special section beginning on
Page 20. The way that people throughout Southern Company
came together as a team to rebuild the system and provide
aid to their fellow employees who had suffered considerable
personal losses was inspiring and made me prouder than ever
to be a part of this company.
The past year was one in which issues related to the costs
of producing energy–global issues, really–rose to the forefront. As one of the nation’s largest generators of electricity, we
are not immune to these pressures, and our customers have felt
the impact. Rising fuel costs present a new challenge to keeping the price of our product affordable. One of the ways that
we are able to continue to offer retail prices signiﬁcantly below
the national average is to maintain a fuel mix that is diverse
and thus less subject to price volatility. About 90 percent of
our combined power generation is fueled by coal, nuclear, and
hydro. The costs of these sources have been more stable than
natural gas, the other main fuel used to generate electricity
in the United States. This issue won’t go away, and we will continue our work to mitigate the effect on our customers.
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A major reason we have been able to achieve solid results
over the long term is our successful execution of a clear, uncomplicated strategy. It is based on a customer focused regulated
retail core business serving the economically-strong Southeast
and a conservatively structured, higher-growth competitive
generation business. By investing in our infrastructure to ensure
reliability, managing the business to keep prices affordable, and
focusing on customer satisfaction in all areas of the business,
we have built a record of successfully executing the strategy.
These actions, all related, also help contribute to constructive
regulatory environments. This business model has produced
solid risk-adjusted returns for our shareholders over the long
term and served our customers well. I believe it continues to be
a good model going forward.
That said, we must continue to sharpen our focus and we
are doing so. In 2005, for example, we decided to exit the retail
natural gas business. We closed the sale of Southern Company
Gas early this year. And we’ve decided to merge Savannah
Electric, our electric utility serving the coastal region of Georgia, into our largest subsidiary, Georgia Power. As the energy
industry continues to evolve, we will continue to assess our
business, discuss strategic issues, and challenge ourselves as to
things that we should do differently. This is part of our annual
business planning process.
There are some things that don’t show up as clearly on
the bottom line that are vitally important to our success. These
go beyond what we do to how we do it. In particular, I would
like you to know about two areas that underpin our traditional
business operations and were major areas of focus in 2005. One
is Southern Style, the value proposition that contributes in a real
way to our goal to be leaders in our business. Southern Style
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articulates our corporate culture in three tenets: unquestionable
trust, superior performance, and total commitment. I believe the
renewed emphasis on Southern Style has been well received by
employees and is increasingly embedded in our behavior. These
qualities were on display for the world to see during our
response to Hurricane Katrina. Our continued emphasis and dayto-day focus on Southern Style will make us a better company.
The other major priority is our corporate safety program.
It’s called Target Zero, named to reﬂect our commitment to an
injury-free work place. We believe that this goal is achievable.
The reason for emphasizing safety is obvious: We care about our
people, so we want them to be safe. There is, however, a strong
business element too. A company with safe, healthy employees
is more productive, so our customers and shareholders beneﬁt
as well.
I hope you’ll agree as you review this year’s annual report
that 2005 overall was a good year for the company. I have high
hopes for the future and am conﬁdent of the commitment that
all of us at Southern Company have for continued success.
Sincerely,

David M. Ratcliffe
March 20, 2006

F I N A N C I A L H IGHLIGHTS
2005

2004

CHANGE

$13,554

$11,729

15.6)%

$1,591

$1,529

4.1)%

Basic earnings per share from continuing operations

$2.14

$2.07

3.4)%

Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations

$2.13

$2.06

3.4)%

Operating revenues (in millions)
Earnings from continuing operations (in millions)

Dividends per share
Dividend yield (percent)

4.3

Average shares outstanding (in millions)

739

0.7)%
(1.4)%

Book value per share

$14.42

$13.86

4.0)%

Market price (year-end, closing)

$34.53

$33.52

3.0)%

Total market value of common stock (year-end, in millions)

$25,602

$24,855

3.0)%

Total assets (in millions)

$39,877

$36,955

7.9)%

Total kilowatt-hour sales (in millions)

196,877

192,382

2.3)%

159,076

157,143

1.2)%

37,801

35,239

7.3)%

4,248

4,197

1.2)%

Sales for resale

’02

2.4)%

15.38

Total number of customers–electric (year-end, in thousands)

’01

4.2)%

4.2

744

Retail

1.62

1 2

15.17

Return on average common equity (percent)

1.86

$1.41 /

$1.47 /

1 2

2.04

2.07

2.14

’03

’04

’05

11,018 11,729
10,155 10,447

’01

’02

’03

’04

13,554
13.51

’05

’01

15.79

16.05

15.38

15.17

’02

’03

’04

’05

E A R N I N G S P ER SHARE

OPERATING REVENUES

(in dollars)

(in millions of dollars)

COMMON EQUITY

From continuing operations

From continuing operations

(percent)

RETURN ON AVERAGE
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central topics
David M. Ratcliffe on key issues affecting the company

The energy bill was a long time in the making, and its passage
in 2005 was a major event for our company, our industry, and
our nation. It is comprehensive legislation with numerous
provisions that, in our judgment, are appropriate. Among other
things, it provides for greater reliability, encourages the use of
domestic resources such as coal, and has incentives for the
development of advanced nuclear power units. We think these
things are right. The biggest impact will be felt over the long term.
We are a long-view, long-term industry. We build assets that last
for many decades, and we have to plan them ﬁve to 10 years in
advance to meet the needs of our customers. So the implications
of the bill will become evident as we make these kinds of
far-reaching decisions.

We expect to ﬁle this year for an Early Site Permit for a
third unit at Plant Vogtle in Georgia and in 2008 for a Combined
Construction and Operating License there, both of which
are important preliminary regulatory steps. We also recently
announced an agreement with Duke Power to jointly evaluate
the potential construction of a plant in South Carolina. And
we are pursuing the Westinghouse AP1000 as the nuclear
reactor technology for potential new nuclear units. We believe
that nuclear energy must remain an option for expanding our
generating ﬂeet because it has proven to be safe, reliable, and
cost-effective, with relatively low environmental impact. We
expect that we will need new baseload generation to serve our
customers around 2015, so we probably will make a deﬁnitive
decision within the next two years.

INDUSTRY CONSOLIDATION

ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE

There are some who believe that recent changes in federal utility
holding company laws will lead to increased merger activity. As
for Southern Company, we will continue our disciplined way of
evaluating any opportunities that arise. The important questions
for us are whether a transaction would add to shareholder value
and enhance our ability to continue to deliver high reliability,
low prices, and industry-leading customer satisfaction. In other
words, would it make good business sense? It’s worth pointing
out, too, that we already are a large company. Even with the
completion of mergers that have been proposed elsewhere, we
would still be among the largest in the industry. So there’s no
pressing need to do something simply to become bigger.

Since 1990 we have taken actions that have reduced emissions
of nitrogen oxide and sulfur dioxide about 37 percent. During the
same period, we have increased generation about 37 percent
to serve our customers’ growing energy needs. To accomplish
this, we’ve invested heavily in environmental controls. In addition, we plan to spend more than $6 billion over the next decade
on installations to further reduce emissions. Meanwhile, we’re
aggressively looking for new solutions to help minimize our
impact on the environment, and we believe technology holds
many of the answers. So we’re involved in a number of initiatives,
both on our own and in partnerships, to develop technologies
that will allow us to produce cleaner electricity. In 2005, these
projects included, among other things, the opening of the
industry’s ﬁrst mercury research center, a project to explore
wind power prospects off the Georgia coast, and preliminary
work on an advanced technology coal-gasiﬁcation plant in
Florida that will allow us to more cleanly generate electricity
with coal.

THE FEDERAL ENERGY POLICY ACT

NUCLEAR POWER’S FUTURE

We are moving ahead–individually and in partnerships,including
the NuStart consortium–through the multi-stage federal and
state licensing process that is required before any decision to
build a nuclear facility is made.
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MAKING THE RIGHT CHOICES

One thing that deﬁnes our business is its long-term nature.
People who invest in utility companies generally do so not to
make a quick buck but to enjoy solid returns over an extended
period. Similarly, we have to plan today to serve the energy
needs of our customers many years into the future.
The importance of making the right choices for the long
term has never been greater. The U.S. population continues to
grow, especially in the South. The Census Bureau projects that
by 2030 about four of every 10 people in the country will live in
the South. Just like folks today, they will want energy delivered
reliably, affordably, and with less impact on the environment.
How to meet these needs is a national, even a global,
issue. But that doesn’t mean we should wait for others to
address it. Southern Company is facing this challenge and
working to make the right choices. Our view is that the right
choices involve a diverse supply of fuels and technologies.
Narrow solutions won’t do.
We believe coal should continue to be part of our energy
supply plan. Coal currently produces more than half the nation’s
electricity (and about 70 percent of Southern Company’s). There
is a 250-year supply of coal here in the United States. It is generally available and comparatively cheap. But coal use has wellknown environmental implications. So we must develop and
install technologies to lessen its environmental impact. Southern
Company already is at work on this issue on several fronts.
We’re part of the FutureGen Industrial Alliance, a national
effort to facilitate design, construction, and operation of the ﬁrst
near-zero-emissions coal-based power plant. Another initiative
of ours is the 285-megawatt integrated gasiﬁcation combined
cycle–or “coal-to-gas”–plant we’ll build with our partners in
Florida, using technology that Southern Company helped develop. We also recently opened the nation’s ﬁrst center for
testing technologies to reduce mercury emissions.

Additional nuclear power is another option. We have a long
record of safely and efﬁciently generating nuclear power, which
emits no greenhouse gases. The main obstacles to nuclear are
the political resolution of the spent fuel issue and the long time
it takes to plan, license, and build a plant. We cannot ignore
nuclear if we want to serve the growing demand for electricity.
Therefore, we are laying the groundwork needed to make the
right choice about whether to build a new nuclear facility.
The other main fuel currently used for generating
electricity is natural gas. Because gas has many other uses,
supplies have tightened and prices are quite volatile. However,
it is a relatively clean fuel. The nation will need more gas, and
efforts should be made to increase domestic production.
All of the major fuels currently being utilized have pros
and cons. Some say the answer is to use more renewable
sources, such as wind and solar power. Excluding hydroelectricity, renewable sources provide only 2 percent of U.S.
energy. Renewable energy has promise but also limitations.
There are issues of supply, reliability, and cost. It’s impossible
for existing renewable technologies by themselves to keep up
with expected levels of population and energy demand growth,
particularly in the Southeast. Still, renewables should be in the
mix. We are involved in biomass and wind projects, and we
hope they can provide some of our energy needs.
Conservation also is part of the answer. Demand-side
programs and other efﬁciency efforts have helped Southern
Company avoid 3,000 megawatts of energy needs during peak
periods. More can be done, so we’re working to ﬁnd additional
opportunities to lower demand and help customers reduce costs.
It’s a fact that we will need new generation to meet
growing energy needs. Our economy, quality of life, and ability
to compete globally depend on making the right choices that
allow us to provide a reliable and affordable supply of energy in
an environmentally responsible manner.
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Helping the best become better
Kathi Ramani, information technology project manager,
is overseeing the implementation of a program to evaluate
customer call center transactions. The information is used
to help customer service representatives improve their
performance and to train new employees.

One customer service rep...
600+ calls in a single day
Melissa Smith of Gulf Power certainly knows something about listening to customers. When Hurricane
Dennis hit northwest Florida, she answered 608 calls
during a single 14-hour shift.

Energy Star
To McDonald’s USA, LLC, Southern Company
account manager Cindy Verner is a star. The U.S.
Division of the global foodservice retailer named her
a 2005 “U.S. Energy All-Star” for her efforts to help
the company more effectively manage its energy usage.
Sharing Southern Company’s energy expertise with
National Energy Manager Steve De Palo (left) and
others at McDonald’s is how she does it.

Reaching out
Customer service representative Tammy Aman talks
with Hispanic customers at Alabama Power’s call
center. She is part of the effort to make contacting the
company easier for the growing number of customers
who do not speak English.

Eye on supply
Billy Studdard, ﬂeet optimization project manager, is
part of the team that makes sure we have enough power
to serve customers. He forecasts energy needs days in
advance and works with plants to ensure the company
has sufﬁcient and the most economical generation
capacity on line to meet system demand.

in front
Staying in front of our customers is the most important thing we do

It’s simple but true. Customer satisfaction is the center around
which everything in our business revolves. It’s why we invest
to keep our system running reliably. The reason we try to
manage the business to keep costs under control. And the
principle behind training our employees to offer the best service possible. We have a reputation and a record for customer
satisfaction that leads the industry. We intend to keep it.
One of the most prestigious measures of how well a
company treats its customers is the American Customer
Satisfaction Index, an independent indicator produced by
the Stephen M. Ross Business School at the University of
Michigan, in partnership with the American Society for
Quality and the international consulting ﬁrm CFI Group.
We’re proud to note that the survey in 2005 rated Southern
Company as the top electric utility for customer satisfaction.
For the sixth straight year.
Customer satisfaction drives our business results and
also helps us to maintain constructive regulatory environments. But customer satisfaction is about more than philosophies and programs. It’s about the actions of individuals.
And when it comes to taking care of customers, we think
our employees are the best. At Southern Company, we take

a broad view of customer focus. It’s a key part of everyone’s
job description. The people on the opposite page–a small
sampling of our customer-focused work force–are good examples of what we mean. They represent different areas of the
company, including some that don’t come into direct contact
with customers and may not seem like the place for traditional
“customer service” jobs. Yet each of these employees–and
their colleagues throughout the company–is committed to
customer satisfaction and doing work that ultimately helps
serve customers. Whether it’s correcting a customer’s immediate problem or preventing a potential one, making sure
our power is there when customers need it, dispensing useful information, or developing technological solutions to
make dealing with the company easier, the things that we
do are aimed at achieving greater customer satisfaction.
To remain a customer satisfaction leader, we know we
have to maintain our focus. So we will continue to make
customer satisfaction our highest priority, develop our employees’ customer service skills, improve our systems for
serving customers, ensure that our employees reﬂect the
communities we serve, and let our customers know how
important they are. That’s our pledge.
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Southern Style is the value proposition that guides the way our
more than 25,000 employees conduct business. It encompasses
our pledge to earn unquestionable trust, our dedication to superior
performance, and our total commitment to the success of everyone touched by our business.
A key goal of Southern Style is to value our employees and
strive for a culture of excellence through inclusion. By being involved in the communities we serve, including schools, we can play a
part in developing the next generation of qualiﬁed workers. An example is the Gulf Power Academy, a partnership with West Florida
High School of Advanced Technology created to expose students
to and provide skills for careers in the electric utility and construction industries. The academy graduated its ﬁrst class in 2005, and
seven participants were offered entry-level jobs with the company.
Two of them, Thomas Mitchell and Maurice Prewitt, are pictured
here with Jennifer Grove, who coordinates the program.
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Honesty, respect,
fairness, and integrity drive our behavior. We keep our
promises, and ethical behavior is our standard.

UNQUESTIONABLE TRUST

S U P E R I O R P E R F O R M A N C E We are dedicated to
superior performance throughout our business. Our priorities
are safety ﬁrst, teamwork, diversity, and continuous improvement through strong leadership.

We are committed to the success
of our employees, customers, and shareholders and to citizenship
and stewardship in all our actions.

TOTA L C O M M I T M E N T

up front
Actions speak louder than words
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out front
A business model that aims for consistent, strong results
Southern Company’s strategy is clear. We’re in the business
of generating and delivering reliable, affordable electricity
with outstanding customer service. Our regulated utilities in
Alabama, Florida, Georgia, and Mississippi serve 4.2 million
customers in a fast-growing and economically vibrant region. The regulated retail business provides the substantial
majority of our revenue and earnings. We also have a higher-growth competitive generation business that, consistent
with our fundamental business model, is primarily based on
long-term contracts. The competitive generation business
operates within the four states of our core business as well
as in surrounding states, where its presence is growing.
With more and more people moving to the South, the
number of customers we serve has continued to grow. We
project average long-term customer growth of 1.8 percent a
year, which is expected to result in total demand growth of
2 percent annually. We strive to contribute positively to the
continuing growth of our region by being an active partner
in the economic development efforts of the communities

12

SOUTHERN COMPANY 2005 ANNUAL REPORT

we serve. This has been a Southern Company tradition for
more than 80 years.
By successfully executing our strategy, we have built
a record of solid, long-term shareholder value. And we’ve
paid a consecutive quarterly dividend–equal to or higher
than the previous quarter–for 58 years. Looking ahead, our
goals for our major businesses are to continue to lead the
industry in service and customer satisfaction, deliver superior risk-adjusted returns, and earn at least $300 million from
competitive generation by 2007. Our ﬁnancial goals are to
continue to achieve annual earnings-per-share growth averaging 5 percent over the long term, a return on equity in
the top quartile of the electric utility industry, risk-adjusted
returns that are among the best in the industry, dividend
growth consistent with our long-term earnings-per-share
objectives, and strong credit quality. Our earnings-per-share
target for 2006 is in a range of $2.15 to $2.20 (including the
full value of the net income from our synthetic fuels business,
which receives tax credits that are set to expire in 2007).

A GROWING PRESENCE

Tim Haskew, generation development project manager, was a
member of the team that negotiated Southern Power’s purchase
of Plant Oleander. The plant’s location in Florida ﬁts our
competitive generation growth strategy. Since completing the
acquisition in 2005, several long-term contracts have been
signed to provide wholesale customers with reliable power
from Oleander.
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LOOKING OUT FOR SOLUTIONS

Larry Monroe, research engineer, and Tracy Hawkins, project
manager, check on the progress of scrubber construction at Alabama
Power’s Plant Gorgas. The project, part of a major investment in
environmental controls across Southern Company, is expected to reduce
annual sulfur dioxide emissions from the affected Gorgas units by
95 percent and also cut mercury emissions.

environmentally centered
Cleaner energy, today and tomorrow

It’s one of our greatest challenges: How to meet the evergrowing demand for electricity while continuing to minimize
the impact of electricity production on the environment.
There are no simple answers and there is no single answer.
To do it right, we must address environmental challenges
with a variety of solutions, some that will work today and
others that hold promise for tomorrow.
At Southern Company we’ve already invested nearly
$2 billion that has helped us reduce emissions of nitrogen
oxide and sulfur dioxide by about 37 percent since 1990,
while increasing generation about 37 percent to meet our
customers’ energy needs. And now we have embarked on
one of the largest environmental-control construction programs ever undertaken by a U.S. utility, with plans to spend
more than $6 billion over the next 10 years to cut emissions
even further. Over the next three years in particular, we are
entering a period of signiﬁcant capital investment on scrubbers and other controls to reduce NOx, SO2, and mercury
emissions from our larger coal-ﬁred plants.
We’re also focused on advanced coal technologies,
including those that will help enable us to capture and
sequester carbon as we search for ways to reduce emissions of carbon dioxide.
Environmental challenges are ongoing challenges. We
believe many of the solutions for the future are to be found
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in technology. So we’re committed to be at the forefront of
seeking new ways to deliver electricity as cleanly and effectively as possible. Some of our initiatives include:
• Working with Georgia Tech on a project to explore the possibility of building wind turbines off the coast of Georgia.
• Opening and operating the nation’s ﬁrst-of-its-kind comprehensive mercury research center in Pensacola, Florida.
The initial phase of testing will evaluate the performance
of ﬁve different advanced control technologies.
• Participating with other utilities and the U.S. Department
of Energy to jointly build and operate a prototype nearzero-emissions coal-based power plant.
• Building, in a partnership, a 285-megawatt advanced coal
gasiﬁcation facility in central Florida. This facility will feature
the cleanest, most efﬁcient coal-ﬁred generating technology currently available.
• Continuing and expanding research and development
into environmental technologies at our nationally recognized Power Systems Development Facility near Wilsonville, Alabama.
• Increasing management resources focused on the development of a renewable generation portfolio.
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RISING TO THE CHALLENGE

High above the panorama of north Georgia, lineman B.J. Hall works
on a 230-kilovolt transmission line that is being constructed to meet the
energy needs of the area’s growing population. The project is part of the
ongoing investment to ensure reliability for our customers.

the frontlines
Reliability is always top of mind

Flip a switch or press a button, the power comes on. A
customer shouldn’t have to ponder it any further. Thinking
about what’s behind that small miracle, that’s our job. We
plan, train, and invest so that the coffee pot helps wake you
up, the TV brings you the big game, and the computer works
to provide your company with outstanding results.
Southern Company customers used nearly 197 billion
kilowatt-hours of electricity in 2005 and set an all-time peak
demand record on July 26. It takes exceptional teamwork
and a commitment to operational excellence to meet this
level of demand with the reliability that our customers have
come to expect.
When a plant is being run well, it is also safer. Our
renewed emphasis on safety throughout the company has

resulted in some notable achievements at our generating
plants in 2005. There was a 31 percent reduction in recordable injuries in fossil/hydro generation, while 12 fossil plants
and the entire hydro system ﬁnished the year without a recordable injury. However, we want to go further and eliminate
accidents altogether.
There’s a lot of talk these days about making sure
transmission and distribution systems are able to handle
the increasing demand for electricity. That’s nothing new
for Southern Company, as we have been investing steadily
to stay up to date. We’ve kept our focus on reliability and
plan to continue doing so. We expect to invest an additional
$3.3 billion over the next three years to expand and maintain
our transmission and distribution networks.
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data center
Performance facts and ﬁgures

TOTAL RETURN

Compound annual return over 5 years (percent)

25

20
SO

15

10

5

0
LOWER

0.6

0.8

1.0

HIGHER

1.2

-5

-10

RISK
Beta (price volatility) relative to S&P 500

A RECORD OF SOLID RISK-ADJUSTED RETURNS

This chart compares Southern Company (SO) common stock’s risk and total return relative to other large electric
utilities for the ﬁve years ended December 31, 2005. Risk is shown by “beta,” a measure of stock volatility
commonly used by securities analysts. A lower beta means less volatility. A beta of 1 represents the risk for the
overall market. Southern Company had a beta of 0.65 for the period. Stocks with lower betas typically provide
lower total returns, but Southern Company has had a lower beta as well as solid long-term total returns.
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#1

37%

37%

INCREASED GENERATION
SINCE 1990

REDUCTION OF NO X AND SO 2
EMISSIONS SINCE 1990

OUR RANK AMONG ELECTRIC UTILITIES
BY THE AMERICAN CUSTOMER
SATISFACTION INDEX
FOR SIX STRAIGHT YEARS

FOCUSED ON LONG-TERM PERFORMANCE

TOTAL SHAREHOLDER RETURN (percent)

1-year

5-year

10-year

30-year

7.6

16.7

14.3

15.6

17.7

5.5

9.4

NA

4.9

0.5

9.1

12.7

Southern Company
S&P 500 Electric Utility Index
S&P 500 Index

Compound annual growth rates for the period ending December 31, 2005.
Assumes dividends were reinvested and returns compounded daily.

58

19.4

$15,038

YEARS OF CONSECUTIVE
QUARTERLY DIVIDEND PAYMENTS

NUMBER OF YEARS THE AVERAGE
SOUTHERN COMPANY SHAREHOLDER
HAS HELD OUR STOCK

VALUE ON 12/31/2005 OF $1,000
INVESTED IN SOUTHERN COMPANY
19.4 YEARS EARLIER
(ASSUMES DIVIDENDS REINVESTED)
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the center of the storm
Responding to Hurricane Katrina

SCENES FROM THE DISASTER

The damage and destruction from Hurricane Katrina was felt far
and wide across the Gulf Coast. A work force that grew from 1,200
to 12,000 in the wake of the storm was able to get the power back
on for Mississippi Power customers.
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With 126 mph winds and a 28-foot storm surge, Hurricane Katrina roared into the Gulf
Coast at daybreak August 29, sparing little in its wake. The damage to lives and property was enormous and terrifying. Southern Company subsidiaries Mississippi Power
and Alabama Power were hit hard. It was the worst storm ever for Mississippi Power,
with all 195,000 of its customers left without power and destruction of historic proportions. On the following pages are highlights of how Southern Company banded together to respond. It is a story of how strong leadership, selﬂessness, thoughtful planning, solid execution, help from our friends, and – most of all – teamwork combined to
get the lights back on for all who could safely receive power in a remarkable 12 DAYS.
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1,000

300
TRANSMISSION TOWERS
DAMAGED

8,900

MILES OF POWER LINES DOWN

POWER POLES DOWN

195,000
CUSTOMERS WITHOUT POWER

IN THE WAKE OF THE STORM

Numbers don’t tell the whole story but they do help illustrate the breadth of the challenge in the aftermath of Hurricane Katrina. All of Mississippi
Power’s 195,000 customers lost power, the most in its history. All Mississippi Power employees were impacted. Many lost their homes, and we are
helping them to rebuild; thankfully, none of them lost their lives. With the main objective being the safe and quick restoration of power, the lines
that separate subsidiaries, business units, departments, and functions immediately dissolved. Southern Company came together as one.

97%
GENERATING CAPACITY
OFF LINE
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65%

TRANSMISSION & DISTRIBUTION
FACILITIES DAMAGED

86

EMPLOYEES WHOSE
HOMES WERE DESTROYED

Though unmatched in its fury, Katrina was not the ﬁrst bad
hurricane to hit the Southern Company territory. We’ve learned
from previous storms and applied the lessons to our ongoing
training and disaster preparation. These lessons were put to
use in responding to Katrina. Plans provided for ﬂexible and decentralized authority so that decisions were made as close as
possible to the disaster. Well before Katrina hit Mississippi, the
disaster plan was activated, and 20 storm directors, with clearly
understood responsibilities, began putting it into action.
Once the storm hit, a large team was in place with more
help on the way. The basic work of rebuilding the infrastructure
had to be supported by a wide range of activities, including
staging areas, security, and procurement of food, shelter, and
fuel. Southern Company’s structure as a “vertically integrated”
utility company – meaning it performs all three functions of
generating, transmitting, and distributing electricity–was a key
to our efﬁcient, coordinated response. With a foundation of
experience and planning, the stage was set for the extraordinary
effort to confront the storm’s havoc.

at the front
Empower people and more gets done

STEPPING FORWARD

Hurricane Katrina placed many Southern Company employees in high-proﬁle roles.
Among those in key positions were (from left) Melvin Wilson, Mississippi Power sales
manager, who directed storm logistics; Aline Ward, regional chief information ofﬁcer,
one of many employees who were on the job despite losing a home; Jim George, coastal
district supervisor for SouthernLINC Wireless, who helped ensure effective communications; Johnnie Andrews, a Georgia Power distribution manager, who came to Mississippi to lead underground crews; and Mike Neighbors, a power delivery manager with
Alabama Power, who helped in Mississippi despite the storm damage in his own state.
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SCENES FROM THE RECOVERY

Teamwork –people working together from across the Southern Company system along with outside assistance –was key. From left, a crew repairs a
distribution line; Rufus Smith, Mississippi Power supply chain manager, stands among replacement transformers; Shelby Rogers, Mississippi Power
central communications representative, works at a control room; Georgia Power apprentice lineman Ben Wimberly and lead lineman Andy Parrish
prepare to reinstall a downed pole in Biloxi; tree-trimming contractors line up in a staging area; Mississippi Power lineman Kendall Briggs and
apprentice lineman Charlie Watson survey the scene.

center stage
Working wonders through teamwork

Katrina resulted in massive damage to Mississippi Power’s
transmission and distribution systems, generating facilities, and ofﬁces. More than half of all employees suffered
signiﬁcant damage to their homes (86 employees lost their
homes), yet they set aside their own problems and reported
to work to restore customers’ power. Help ﬂowed in from
Southern Company’s other subsidiaries and business units
– even Katrina-battered Alabama Power among them–both
to do the work of power restoration and to help Mississippi
Power employees deal with their personal losses. As in other
large storms, assistance also arrived from utilities across the
country and Canada.
Southern Company’s culture of trust, performance,
and commitment came to the fore. In addition to sister operating companies joining to work as one team, management
and frontline employees worked together seamlessly. There
were great examples of resourcefulness as 140,000 gallons
of fuel were delivered to 5,000 trucks every night and 30,000
meals a day were served to workers; innovation as SouthernLINC Wireless provided the only reliable communications
system in operation during a crucial period; and heroism as
employees helped rescue coastal residents trapped by the
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storm. In the words of Mississippi Governor Haley Barbour,
the company did a “breathtaking job.” Following the storm,
Southern Company Chairman, President, and CEO David M.
Ratcliffe was asked to testify before a U.S. Senate committee on how the company managed to respond so well. A
“strong culture of teamwork” was a fundamental reason,
he said, that the effort succeeded. The effectiveness of the
team effort was widely noted in the national media.
In a stirring sign of teamwork, more than 200 employees and volunteers came to Mississippi from across
Southern Company to help 700 Mississippi Power workers
with emergency repairs to their homes. The visiting team
repaired roofs, installed tarps, removed damaged trees and
carpet, salvaged furniture, did laundry, and babysat. This
freed the Mississippi Power employees to focus on the big
task of restoring power.
The Gulf Coast still shows the ravages of the storm and
will for some time. Much remains to be done. Mississippi
Power was part of the Governor’s Commission that developed the “Recovery, Rebuilding, and Renewal” plan. Again,
the company is committed to a team effort, this time to
make the coastal region stronger than before.

BACK IN BUSINESS

David Kidd (front), owner of Lil’ Ray’s restaurant in Gulfport,
had to shut down after suffering roof damage in the storm. The
quick restoration of power and support from the Mississippi Power
team including commercial marketing representative Bob Jenkins
and marketing engineer Barry Youngblood helped Lil’ Ray’s to
reopen, much to the delight of crawﬁsh fans.
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M A N AG E M E N T’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Southern Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining an adequate system of internal control over
ﬁnancial reporting as required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
and as deﬁned in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). A control system
can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the
objectives of the control system are met.
Under management’s supervision, an evaluation of the
design and effectiveness of Southern Company’s internal control
over ﬁnancial reporting was conducted based on the framework
in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(COSO). Based on this evaluation, management concluded that
Southern Company’s internal control over ﬁnancial reporting was
effective as of December 31, 2005.
Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent registered public
accounting ﬁrm, as auditors of Southern Company’s ﬁnancial
statements, has issued an attestation report on management’s
assessment of the effectiveness of Southern Company’s internal
control over ﬁnancial reporting as of December 31, 2005. Deloitte
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& Touche LLP’s report, which expresses unqualiﬁed opinions
on management’s assessment and on the effectiveness of
Southern Company’s internal control over ﬁnancial reporting, is
included herein.

David M. Ratcliffe
Chairman, President, and Chief Executive Ofﬁcer

Thomas A. Fanning
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Ofﬁcer,
and Treasurer
February 27, 2006

INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

R E PO RT O F I N D E P ENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
of Southern Company
We have audited management’s assessment, included in the
accompanying Management Report (page 26), that Southern
Company (the “Company”) maintained effective internal control
over ﬁnancial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission. The Company’s management is responsible for
maintaining effective internal control over ﬁnancial reporting and
for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over
ﬁnancial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Company’s internal control over ﬁnancial reporting based
on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over ﬁnancial reporting was maintained in all material respects.
Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control
over ﬁnancial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment,
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness
of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions.
A company’s internal control over ﬁnancial reporting is a
process designed by, or under the supervision of, the company’s
principal executive and principal ﬁnancial ofﬁcers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the company’s board
of directors, management, and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of ﬁnancial reporting
and the preparation of ﬁnancial statements for external purposes
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.
A company’s internal control over ﬁnancial reporting includes
those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance
of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reﬂect
the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company;
(2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded
as necessary to permit preparation of ﬁnancial statements in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and
that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a
material effect on the ﬁnancial statements.
Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over
ﬁnancial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or improper
management override of controls, material misstatements due to
error or fraud may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.
Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the
internal control over ﬁnancial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate because
of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
In our opinion, management’s assessment that the Company maintained effective internal control over ﬁnancial reporting
as of December 31, 2005, is fairly stated, in all material respects,
based on the criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission. Also in our opinion, the Company
maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control
over ﬁnancial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on the
criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission.
We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States),
the consolidated ﬁnancial statements as of and for the year
ended December 31, 2005 of the Company and our report dated
February 27, 2006 expressed an unqualiﬁed opinion on those
ﬁnancial statements.

Atlanta, Georgia
February 27, 2006
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R E P O RT O F I NDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
of Southern Company
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets
and consolidated statements of capitalization of Southern Company
and Subsidiary Companies (the “Company”) as of December 31,
2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of income,
comprehensive income, common stockholders’ equity, and cash
ﬂows for each of the three years in the period ended December
31, 2005. These ﬁnancial statements are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these ﬁnancial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the ﬁnancial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the ﬁnancial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and signiﬁcant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall ﬁnancial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, such consolidated ﬁnancial statements
(pages 49 to 81) present fairly, in all material respects, the ﬁnancial position of Southern Company and Subsidiary Companies at
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December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the results of their operations
and their cash ﬂows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2005, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States),
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over ﬁnancial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on the criteria
established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission and our report dated February 27, 2006 expressed
an unqualiﬁed opinion on management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over ﬁnancial reporting
and an unqualiﬁed opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal control over ﬁnancial reporting.

Atlanta, Georgia
February 27, 2006

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

OVERVIEW

Business Activities
The primary business of Southern Company (the Company) is
electricity sales in the Southeast by the retail operating companies –Alabama Power, Georgia Power, Gulf Power, Mississippi
Power, and Savannah Electric – and Southern Power. Southern
Power constructs, owns, and manages Southern Company’s
competitive generation assets and sells electricity at marketbased rates in the wholesale market.
Many factors affect the opportunities, challenges, and
risks of Southern Company’s electricity business. These factors
include the retail operating companies’ ability to maintain a
stable regulatory environment, to achieve energy sales growth
while containing costs, and to recover rising costs. These costs
include those related to growing demand, increasingly stringent
environmental standards, fuel prices, and storm restoration following multiple hurricanes. Since the beginning of 2004, each of
the retail operating companies completed successful retail rate
proceedings. These regulatory actions are expected to beneﬁt
future earnings stability and enable the recovery of substantial
capital investments to facilitate the continued reliability of the
transmission and distribution network and to continue environmental improvements at the generating plants. Appropriately
balancing environmental expenditures with customer prices will
continue to challenge the Company for the foreseeable future.
In addition, Georgia Power, Gulf Power, and Mississippi Power
expect further rate proceedings in 2006 as necessary to address
fuel and storm damage cost recovery.
Another major factor is the proﬁtability of the competitive
market-based wholesale generating business and federal regulatory
policy, which may impact Southern Company’s level of participation
in this market. Southern Power continued executing its regional
strategy in 2005 by signing several wholesale contracts with major
utilities, as well as with cooperatives and municipal suppliers in the
Southeast. However, the Company continues to face regulatory
challenges related to transmission and market power issues at the
national level.
Southern Company’s other business activities include investments in synthetic fuel producing entities, which claim federal
income tax credits that offset their operating losses, leveraged
lease projects, telecommunications, and energy-related services.
Management continues to evaluate the contribution of each of
these activities to total shareholder return and may pursue acquisitions and dispositions accordingly. In January 2006, the sale of the
Company’s natural gas marketing business was completed.
Key Performance Indicators
In striving to maximize shareholder value while providing cost-effective energy to more than 4 million customers, Southern Company
continues to focus on several key indicators. These indicators include

customer satisfaction, plant availability, system reliability, and earnings per share (EPS). Southern Company’s ﬁnancial success is directly
tied to the satisfaction of its customers. Key elements of ensuring
customer satisfaction include outstanding service, high reliability, and
competitive prices. Management uses customer satisfaction surveys
and reliability indicators to evaluate the Company’s results.
Peak season equivalent forced outage rate (Peak Season
EFOR) is an indicator of fossil/hydro plant availability and efﬁcient
generation ﬂeet operations during the months when generation
needs are greatest. The rate is calculated by dividing the number
of hours of forced outages by total generation hours. Peak Season
EFOR performance excludes the impact of hurricanes and certain
outage events caused by manufacturer defects. The 2005 Peak Season EFOR performance was slightly below target (as shown in the
chart below) primarily due to an outage event at a combined cycle
unit. Transmission and distribution system reliability performance
is measured by the frequency and duration of outages. Performance targets for reliability are set internally based on historical
performance, expected weather conditions, and expected capital
expenditures. The 2005 performance was above target on these
reliability measures. EPS is the measure for Southern Company’s
efforts to increase returns to shareholders through average longterm earnings per share growth of 5 percent.
Southern Company’s 2005 results compared with its targets
for some of these key indicators are reﬂected in the following chart:
KEY PERFORMANCE
INDICATOR

2005
TARGET PERFORMANCE

2005
ACTUAL PERFORMANCE

Customer Satisfaction

Top quartile
in national and
regional surveys

Top quartile

2.75% or less

2.83%

$2.04 – $2.09

$2.14

Peak Season EFOR
EPS

See RESULTS OF OPERATIONS herein for additional information on the Company’s ﬁnancial performance. The strong
ﬁnancial performance achieved in 2005 reﬂects the continued
emphasis that management places on these indicators as well as
the commitment shown by employees in achieving or exceeding
management’s expectations.
Earnings
Southern Company’s ﬁnancial performance in 2005 remained strong,
despite the challenges of rising costs and major hurricanes. Net
income was $1.59 billion in 2005, an increase of 3.8 percent over
the prior year. Net income was $1.53 billion in 2004 and $1.47 billion
in 2003, reﬂecting increases over the prior year of 4.0 percent and
11.8 percent, respectively. Basic EPS, including discontinued operations, was $2.14 in 2005, $2.07 in 2004, and $2.03 in 2003. Diluted
EPS, which factors in additional shares related to stock options, was
1 cent lower than basic EPS each year.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Dividends
Southern Company has paid dividends on its common stock since
1948. Dividends paid per share of common stock were $1.475 in
2005, $1.415 in 2004, and $1.385 in 2003. In January 2006, Southern
Company declared a quarterly dividend of 37.25 cents per share. This
is the 233rd consecutive quarter that Southern Company has paid a
dividend equal to or higher than the previous quarter. The Company’s
goal for the dividend payout ratio is to achieve and maintain a payout
of approximately 70 percent of net income, excluding earnings from
synthetic fuel businesses. For 2005, the actual payout ratio was
73 percent excluding synthetic fuel earnings, and 69 percent overall.
R E S U LT S O F OPERATIONS

Electricity Businesses
Southern Company’s electric utilities generate and sell electricity
to retail and wholesale customers in the Southeast. A condensed
income statement for the electricity business is as follows:
INCREASE (DECREASE)
FROM PRIOR YEAR

AMOUNT

2005

2005

2004

2003

$13,278

$1,813

$ 718

$ 541

4,488

1,089

400

213

731

88

170

24

Other operation and maintenance

3,220

215

148

105

Depreciation and amortization

1,137

229

(64)

(16)

Taxes other than income taxes

676

52

40

29

10,252

1,673

694

355

Operating income

3,026

140

24

186

Other income, net

62

38

22

20

Interest expenses

676

62

19

10

(in millions)

Electric operating revenues
Fuel
Purchased power

Total electric operating expenses

Income taxes
Net income

899
$ 1,513

$

24

30

68

92

$ (3)

$ 128

Revenues
Details of electric operating revenues are as follows:
(in millions)

Retail –prior year

2005

2004

2003

$ 9,732

$ 8,875

$ 8,728

Change in –
Base rates

236

41

75

Sales growth

184

216

104
(135)

Weather
Fuel and other cost recovery clauses
Retail current year
Sales – for resale
Other electric operating revenues
Electric operating revenues
Percent change

30

34

48

979

552

103

11,165

9,732

8,875

1,667

1,341

1,358

446

392

514

$13,278
15.8%

$11,465
6.7%

$ 10,747
5.3%
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Retail revenues increased $1.4 billion in 2005, $857 million in
2004, and $147 million in 2003. The signiﬁcant factors driving these
changes are shown in the preceding table. The increase in base rates
in 2005 is primarily due to approval by the Georgia Public Service
Commission (PSC) of retail base rate increases at Georgia Power and
Savannah Electric. Electric rates for the retail operating companies
include provisions to adjust billings for ﬂuctuations in fuel costs,
including the energy component of purchased energy costs. Under
these provisions, fuel revenues generally equal fuel expenses, including the fuel component of purchased energy, and do not affect net
income. Certain of the retail operating companies also have clauses
to recover other costs, such as environmental, storm damage, new
plants, and/or purchased power agreements (PPAs).
Sales for resale revenues increased $326 million in 2005,
decreased $17 million in 2004, and increased $190 million in 2003.
In 2005, sales for resale revenues increased primarily due to a
26.5 percent increase in the average cost of fuel per net kilowatthour (KWH) generated. In addition, Southern Company entered into
new PPAs with 30 electric membership cooperatives (EMCs) and
Flint EMC, both beginning in January 2005, and in June 2005, in
connection with the acquisition of Plant Oleander, assumed two
PPAs. In 2004, coal and gas prices increased, resulting in a lower
marginal price differential that reduced demand. Mild summer
weather throughout the Southeast also reduced demand. In 2003,
Southern Company entered into several new PPAs with neighboring
utilities. In addition, milder weather in Southern Company’s service
territory, compared with the rest of the Southeast and combined
with higher gas prices, resulted in increases in both customer
demand and available generation.
Southern Company’s average wholesale contract now extends
more than 11 years, and as a result, the Company has signiﬁcantly
limited its remarketing risk. Capacity revenues under unit power
sales contracts, principally sales to Florida utilities, reﬂect the
recovery of ﬁxed costs and a return on investment, and energy is
generally sold at variable cost. Unit power energy sales increased
1.7 percent, 1.9 percent, and 4.0 percent in 2005, 2004, and 2003,
respectively. Fluctuations in oil and natural gas prices, which are
the primary fuel sources for unit power sales customers, inﬂuence
changes in these sales. However, because the energy is generally
sold at variable cost, these ﬂuctuations have a minimal effect on
earnings. The capacity and energy components of the unit power
contract revenues were as follows:
( in millions)

2005

2004

2003

$ 201

$ 185

$ 182

237

213

211

$ 438

$ 398

$ 393

Unit power–
Capacity
Energy
Total

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Short-term opportunity energy sales are also included in sales for
resale. These opportunity sales are made at market-based rates that
generally provide a margin above the Company’s variable cost to
produce the energy. Revenues associated with opportunity sales
and PPAs were as follows:
( in millions)

2005

2004

2003

$ 430

$308

$298

799

635

667

$ 1,229

$943

$965

Other power sales –
Capacity and other
Energy
Total

In May 2003, Mississippi Power and Southern Power entered
into agreements with Dynegy, Inc. (Dynegy) that terminated all
capacity sales contracts with subsidiaries of Dynegy. The termination payments from Dynegy resulted in an increase in other electric
revenues of $135 million in 2003.
Energy Sales
Changes in revenues are inﬂuenced heavily by the volume of energy
sold each year. KWH sales for 2005 and the percent change by year
were as follows:
AMOUNT
(billions of Kilowatt-hours)

2005

Residential

51.1

Commercial
Industrial
Other
Total retail
Sales for resale
Total

2004

Fuel and Purchased Power Expenses
Fuel costs constitute the single largest expense for the electric
utilities. The mix of fuel sources for generation of electricity is
determined primarily by demand, the unit cost of fuel consumed,
and the availability of generating units. The amount and sources of
generation, the average cost of fuel per net kilowatt-hour generated, and the average cost of purchased power were as follows:

Total generation (billions of KWH)

2003

2.8%

3.9%

(1.9)%

51.9

3.6

3.4

0.3

55.1

(2.2)

3.6

1.0

1.0

(0.9)

0.8

(0.2)

159.1

1.2

3.6

(0.2)

37.8

7.3

(13.0)

24.5

196.9

2.3

0.1

4.2

Energy sales in 2005 increased 4.5 billion KWH as a result of
sustained economic growth and customer growth of 1.2 percent.
Hurricane Katrina dampened customer growth from previous years
and was the primary contributor to the decrease in industrial sales in
2005. In addition, in 2005, some Georgia Power industrial customers
were reclassiﬁed from industrial to commercial to be consistent with
the rate structure approved by the Georgia PSC resulting in higher
commercial sales and lower industrial sales in 2005 when compared
with 2004. Energy sales in 2004 were strong across all retail customer
classes as a result of an improved economy in the Southeast and
customer growth of 1.5 percent. Residential energy sales in 2003
reﬂected a decrease in customer demand as a result of very mild
weather, partially offset by customer growth of 1.6 percent. In 2003,
commercial sales continued to show steady growth while industrial
sales increased somewhat over the depressed results of previous
years. Energy sales to retail customers are projected to increase at
a compound average annual rate of 1.9 percent during the period
2006 through 2011, assuming normal weather conditions.

2005

2004

2003

196

188

189

Sources of generation (percent) –
Coal

71

69

71

Nuclear

15

16

16

Gas

11

12

9

3

3

4

2.39

1.89

1.67

7.14

4.48

3.86

Hydro

PERCENT CHANGE
2005

Energy sales for resale increased by 2.6 billion KWH in 2005,
decreased 5.3 billion KWH in 2004, and increased by 8.0 billion
KWH in 2003. The increase in sales in 2005 is related primarily to
the new PPAs discussed above. The decrease in 2004 as compared
with 2003 is due to the increased availability of coal-ﬁred generation
in 2003 resulting from weather-related lower retail demand coupled
with higher natural gas prices, which increased the wholesale
market demand for opportunity sales.

Average cost of fuel per net
KWH generated (cents)
Average cost of purchased power
per net KWH (cents)

In 2005, fuel and purchased power expenses were
$5.2 billion, an increase of $1.2 billion or 29.1 percent above the prior
year costs. An additional 7.8 billion KWH were generated in 2005
at a 26.5 percent higher average cost per net KWH generated;
however, this lowered requirements to purchase even more
expensive electricity from non-afﬁliates.
Fuel and purchased power expenses were $4.0 billion
in 2004, an increase of $570 million or 16.4 percent above 2003
costs. This increase was the result of a 13.2 percent increase in the
average cost per net KWH generated and a 16.1 percent increase in
the average cost per KWH purchased.
Fuel and purchased power expenses were $3.5 billion in
2003, an increase of $237 million or 7.3 percent above the prior
year costs. This increase was primarily attributed to higher average
unit fuel cost and increased customer demand.
A signiﬁcant upward trend in the cost of coal and natural
gas has emerged since 2003, and volatility in these markets is
expected to continue. Increased coal prices have been inﬂuenced
by a worldwide increase in demand as a result of rapid economic
growth in China, as well as by increases in mining costs. Higher
natural gas prices in the United States are the result of increased
demand and slightly lower gas supplies despite increased drilling
activity. Natural gas supply interruptions, such as those caused
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by the 2004 and 2005 hurricanes result in an immediate market
response; however, the long-term impact of this price volatility may
be reduced by imports of natural gas and liqueﬁed natural gas. Fuel
expenses generally do not affect net income, since they are offset
by fuel revenues under the retail operating companies’ fuel cost
recovery provisions. Likewise, Southern Power’s PPAs generally
provide that the purchasers are responsible for substantially all of
the cost of fuel.
Other Operation and Maintenance Expenses
Other operation and maintenance expenses were $3.2 billion,
$3.0 billion, and $2.9 billion, increasing $215 million, $148 million,
and $105 million in 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively. Other production expenses increased $58 million and $53 million in 2005 and
2004, respectively, and decreased $27 million in 2003. Production
expenses ﬂuctuate from year to year due to variations in outage
schedules, ﬂexible spending projects, and normal increases in costs.
Administrative and general expenses increased $73 million
in 2005 related to a $33 million increase in employee beneﬁts, a
$22 million increase in shared services expenses and a $9 million
increase in property insurance. Administrative and general expenses
increased $106 million in 2004 primarily related to $41 million, $23 million, and $13 million increases in employee beneﬁts, shared services
expenses, primarily nuclear security, and property insurance, respectively.
In 2003, administrative and general expenses increased $46 million, due primarily to a $19 million increase in property insurance, a
$9 million increase in employee beneﬁts, and $9 million of business
development costs at Southern Power.
Transmission and distribution expenses increased $60 million
in 2005, $49 million in 2004, and $23 million in 2003. Transmission
and distribution expenses increased in 2005 primarily as a result of
$48 million of expenses recorded by Alabama Power in accordance
with an accounting order approved by the Alabama PSC primarily
to offset the costs of Hurricane Ivan and restore the natural disaster
reserve. In accordance with the accounting order, Alabama Power
also returned certain regulatory liabilities related to deferred income
taxes to its retail customers; therefore, the combined effect of the
accounting order had no impact on net income. See Note 3 to the
ﬁnancial statements under “Storm Damage Cost Recovery” for
additional information. Transmission and distribution expenses also
ﬂuctuate from year to year due to variations in maintenance schedules, ﬂexible spending projects, and normal increases in costs, and
are the primary basis for the 2004 and 2003 increases.
The 2003 increase in other operation and maintenance
expenses also reﬂects the establishment of a $60 million regulatory
liability related to Plant Daniel that was expensed in 2003.
Depreciation and Amortization Expenses
Depreciation and amortization expenses increased $229 million in
2005 as a result of additional plant in service and from the expiration in 2004 of certain provisions in Georgia Power’s retail rate plan
for the three years ended December 31, 2004 (2001 Retail Rate
Plan). In accordance with the 2001 Retail Rate Plan, Georgia Power
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amortized an accelerated cost recovery liability as a credit to
amortization expense and recognized new Georgia PSC-certiﬁed
purchased power costs in rates over the three years ended December 31, 2004. See Note 3 to the ﬁnancial statements under “Georgia
Power Retail Regulatory Matters” for additional information.
Depreciation and amortization expenses declined by
$64 million in 2004, primarily as a result of amortization of the Plant
Daniel regulatory liability and a Georgia Power regulatory liability
related to the levelization of certain purchased power costs that
reduced amortization expense by $17 million and $90 million,
respectively, from the prior year. See FUTURE EARNINGS POTENTIAL – “PSC Matters – Mississippi Power” herein and Note 3 to the
ﬁnancial statements under “Georgia Power Retail Regulatory Matters” for more information on these regulatory adjustments. These
reductions were partially offset by a higher depreciable plant base.
The $16 million decrease in depreciation and amortization
expenses in 2003 was primarily due to a $49 million reduction in
amortization of the previously discussed Georgia Power purchased
power regulatory liability and was partially offset by a higher depreciable plant base.
Taxes Other Than Income Taxes
Taxes other than income taxes increased by $52 million in 2005
primarily as a result of increases in franchise and municipal gross
receipts taxes associated with increases in revenues from energy
sales. In 2004, taxes other than income taxes increased $40 million as a result of additional plant in service and a higher property
tax base. Taxes other than income taxes increased $29 million in
2003 as a result of additional generating facilities, as well as higher
property tax valuations on existing facilities.
Electric Other Income and (Expense)
Total interest charges and other ﬁnancing costs increased by
$62 million in 2005 associated with an additional $863 million in
debt outstanding at December 31, 2005 as compared to December
31, 2004 and an increase in average interest rates on variable rate
debt. Variable rates on pollution control bonds are highly correlated
with the Bond Market Association Municipal Swap Index which
averaged 2.5 percent in 2005 and 1.2 percent in 2004. Variable
rates on commercial paper and senior notes are highly correlated
with the one-month London Interbank Offer Rate (LIBOR), which
averaged 3.4 percent in 2005 and 1.5 percent in 2004. An additional
$17 million increase in 2005 was the result of a lower percentage of
interest costs capitalized as construction projects reached completion. The $19 million increase in interest charges and other ﬁnancing
costs in 2004 was also the result of a lower percentage of interest
costs capitalized as construction projects reached completion.
Other Business Activities
Southern Company’s other business activities include the parent
company (which does not allocate operating expenses to business
units), investments in synthetic fuels and leveraged lease projects,
telecommunications, energy-related services, and natural gas
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marketing. These businesses are classiﬁed in general categories and
may comprise one or more of the following subsidiaries: Southern
Company Holdings invests in various energy-related projects,
including synthetic fuels and leveraged lease projects that receive
tax beneﬁts, which contribute signiﬁcantly to the economic results
of these investments; SouthernLINC Wireless provides digital wireless communications services to the retail operating companies
and also markets these services to the public within the Southeast;
Southern Telecom provides ﬁber optics services in the Southeast;
and Southern Company Gas was a retail gas marketer serving
customers in the State of Georgia. On January 4, 2006, Southern
Company Gas completed the sale of substantially all of its assets
and is reﬂected in the condensed income statement below as discontinued operations. See Note 3 to the ﬁnancial statements under
“Southern Company Gas Sale” for additional information.
A condensed income statement for Southern Company’s
other business activities follows:
INCREASE (DECREASE)
FROM PRIOR YEAR

AMOUNT

( in millions)

2005

2005

2004

2003

$ 276

$ 12

$ (7)

$ 30

297

12

28

(23)

Depreciation and amortization

39

(2)

(9)

(7)

Taxes other than income taxes

4

1

1

–

Total operating expenses

340

11

20

(30)

Operating income

(64)

1

(27)

60

Operating revenues
Operation and maintenance

Equity in losses of
unconsolidated subsidiaries

(123)

(26)

3

(8)

74

4

4

8

Other income, net

(12)

(5)

(15)

9

Interest expenses

101

18

(21)

6

(304)

(14)

(63)

23

Leveraged lease income

Income taxes
Discontinued operations, net of tax
Net income

–

(3)

12

(12)

$ 78

$(33)

$ 61

$ 28

Southern Company’s non-electric operating revenues increased $12 million in 2005 primarily as the result of higher production and increased fees in the synthetic fuel business. The $7 million
decrease in 2004 was primarily due to lower operating revenues in
the energy-related services business, partially offset by an increase
in SouthernLINC Wireless revenues as a result of increased wireless subscribers. The $30 million increase in revenues in 2003
was primarily due to increased sales in the energy-related services
business. Revenues from a subsidiary that primarily provides fuel
transportation services related to synthetic fuel products were
$123 million in 2005, increasing by $17 million, $21 million, and
$37 million in 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively, as a result of increased production at the synthetic fuel facilities and annual increases
in rates. Most of these service revenues are ultimately included in
the cost of the synthetic fuel purchased by Alabama Power and
Georgia Power and, therefore, have no signiﬁcant effect on Southern
Company’s consolidated revenues. See Note 1 to the ﬁnancial statements under “Related Party Transactions” for additional information.

Operation and maintenance expenses for these other businesses increased by $12 million in 2005 as a result of $9 million
of higher losses for property damage, $2 million in higher network
costs at SouthernLINC Wireless, and a $11 million increase in shared
services expenses, offset by the 2004 $12.5 million bad debt reserve
discussed below. Operation and maintenance expenses increased
$28 million in 2004 primarily due to a $3 million increase in advertising, a $5 million increase in shared services expenses, and a
$12.5 million bad debt reserve related to additional federal income
taxes and interest Southern Company paid on behalf of Mirant
Corporation (Mirant). See FUTURE EARNINGS POTENTIAL–“Mirant
Bankruptcy Matters” herein and Note 3 to the ﬁnancial statements under “Mirant Matters–Mirant Bankruptcy” for additional
information. Operation and maintenance expenses decreased by
$23 million in 2003 primarily due to a $6 million decrease in shared
services expenses and a $3 million decrease in losses for property
damage at the parent company; a $4 million decrease in bad debt
expense and a $3 million decrease in network costs at SouthernLINC
Wireless; and a $2 million decrease in salaries in the energy-related
services business.
Depreciation and amortization expenses decreased $9 million
and $7 million in 2004 and 2003, respectively. These reductions are
primarily the result of $10 million of expenses associated with the
repurchase of debt at Southern Holdings recorded in 2003 and a
$16 million charge recorded in 2002 related to the impairment of
assets under certain customer contracts for energy-related services.
The increases in equity in losses of unconsolidated subsidiaries in 2005 and 2003 reﬂect the results of additional production
expenses in the synthetic fuel partnerships. These partnerships
also claim federal income tax credits that offset their operating
losses and make the businesses proﬁtable. These credits totaled
$177 million in 2005, $146 million in 2004, and $120 million in
2003. In 2004, a $37 million reserve related to these tax credits was
reversed following the settlement of an Internal Revenue Service
(IRS) audit. See FUTURE EARNINGS POTENTIAL – “Income Tax
Matters” herein for additional information.
The decrease in other income in 2004 as compared with 2003
reﬂects a $15 million gain for a Southern Telecom contract settlement
during 2003. The gain in 2003 was partially offset by an increase of
$7 million in charitable contributions made by the parent company.
Total interest charges and other ﬁnancing costs increased by
$18 million in 2005 associated with an additional $283 million in
debt outstanding and a 164 basis point increase in average interest
rates on variable rate debt. Interest expense decreased $21 million
in 2004 as a result of the parent company’s redemption of preferred
securities in 2003. This decrease was partially offset by an increase
in outstanding long-term debt in 2004.
Effects of Inflation
The retail operating companies and Southern Power are subject to
rate regulation and party to long-term contracts, respectively, that
are generally based on the recovery of historical costs. In addition,
the income tax laws are based on historical costs. Therefore, inﬂation
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creates an economic loss because Southern Company is recovering
its costs of investments in dollars that have less purchasing power.
While the inﬂation rate has been relatively low in recent years,
it continues to have an adverse effect on Southern Company
because of the large investment in utility plant with long economic
lives. Conventional accounting for historical cost does not recognize this economic loss nor the partially offsetting gain that arises
through ﬁnancing facilities with ﬁxed-money obligations such as
long-term debt and preferred securities. Any recognition of inﬂation
by regulatory authorities is reﬂected in the rate of return allowed in
the retail operating companies’ approved electric rates.
FUTURE EARNINGS POTENTIAL

General
The retail operating companies operate as vertically integrated companies providing electricity to customers within their service areas in
the southeastern United States. Prices for electricity provided to retail
customers are set by state PSCs under cost-based regulatory principles. Retail rates and earnings are reviewed and may be adjusted
periodically within certain limitations. Southern Company’s wholesale
business continues to focus on long-term capacity contracts, optimized by limited energy trading activities. The level of future earnings
depends on numerous factors including the FERC’s market-based
rate investigation, creditworthiness of customers, total generating
capacity available in the Southeast and the successful remarketing of
capacity as current contracts expire. See ACCOUNTING POLICIES–
“Application of Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates–Electric
Utility Regulation” herein and Note 3 to the ﬁnancial statements for
additional information about these and other regulatory matters.
The results of operations for the past three years are not
necessarily indicative of future earnings potential. The level of
Southern Company’s future earnings depends on numerous factors that affect the opportunities, challenges, and risks of Southern
Company’s primary business of selling electricity. These factors
include the retail operating companies’ ability to maintain a stable
regulatory environment that continues to allow for the recovery of
all prudently incurred costs. Another major factor is the proﬁtability
of the competitive market-based wholesale generating business and
federal regulatory policy, which may impact Southern Company’s
level of participation in this market. Future earnings for the electricity business in the near term will depend, in part, upon growth in
energy sales, which is subject to a number of factors. These factors
include weather, competition, new energy contracts with neighboring utilities, energy conservation practiced by customers, the price
of electricity, the price elasticity of demand, and the rate of economic
growth in the service area.
Southern Company system generating capacity increased
1,880 megawatts in 2005 with the completion of Plant McIntosh
units 10 and 11 by Georgia Power and Savannah Electric and
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the acquisition by Southern Power of Plant Oleander. In general,
Southern Company has constructed or acquired new generating
capacity only after entering into long-term capacity contracts for
the new facilities or to meet requirements of Southern Company’s
regulated retail markets, both of which are optimized by limited
energy trading activities.
To adapt to a less regulated, more competitive environment,
Southern Company continues to evaluate and consider a wide array
of potential business strategies. These strategies may include business combinations, acquisitions involving other utility or non-utility
businesses or properties, internal restructuring, disposition of certain assets, or some combination thereof. Furthermore, Southern
Company may engage in new business ventures that arise from
competitive and regulatory changes in the utility industry. Pursuit
of any of the above strategies, or any combination thereof, may
signiﬁcantly affect the business operations and ﬁnancial condition
of Southern Company.
Environmental Matters
New Source Review Actions
In November 1999, the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA)
brought a civil action in the U.S. District Court for the Northern District
of Georgia against certain Southern Company subsidiaries, including
Alabama Power and Georgia Power, alleging that these subsidiaries
had violated the New Source Review (NSR) provisions of the Clean
Air Act and related state laws at certain coal-ﬁred generating facilities. Through subsequent amendments and other legal procedures,
the EPA added Savannah Electric as a defendant to the original action
and ﬁled a separate action against Alabama Power in the U.S. District
Court for the Northern District of Alabama after it was dismissed
from the original action. In these lawsuits, the EPA alleges that NSR
violations occurred at eight coal-ﬁred generating facilities operated
by Alabama Power, Georgia Power, and Savannah Electric. The civil
actions request penalties and injunctive relief, including an order
requiring the installation of the best available control technology at
the affected units. On June 3, 2005, the U.S. District Court for the
Northern District of Alabama issued a decision in favor of Alabama
Power on two primary legal issues in the case; however, the decision does not resolve the case, nor does it address other legal issues
associated with the EPA’s allegations. In accordance with a separate
court order, Alabama Power and the EPA are currently participating in
mediation with respect to the EPA’s claims. The action against Georgia
Power and Savannah Electric has been administratively closed since
the spring of 2001, and none of the parties has sought to reopen the
case. See Note 3 to the ﬁnancial statements under “Environmental
Matters–New Source Review Actions.”
Southern Company believes that the retail operating companies
complied with applicable laws and the EPA regulations and interpretations in effect at the time the work in question took place. The Clean
Air Act authorizes maximum civil penalties of $25,000 to $32,500 per
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day, per violation at each generating unit, depending on the date of the
alleged violation. An adverse outcome in any one of these cases could
require substantial capital expenditures that cannot be determined at
this time and could possibly require payment of substantial penalties.
This could affect future results of operations, cash ﬂows, and ﬁnancial
condition if such costs are not recovered through regulated rates.
In December 2002 and October 2003, the EPA issued ﬁnal
revisions to its NSR regulations under the Clean Air Act. A coalition
of states and environmental organizations ﬁled petitions for review
of these regulations. On June 24, 2005, the U.S. Court of Appeals
for the District of Columbia Circuit upheld, in part, the EPA’s December 2002 revisions to its NSR regulations, which included changes
to the regulatory exclusions and methods of calculating emissions
increases. However, the court vacated portions of those revisions,
including those addressing the exclusion of certain pollution control
projects. The October 2003 revisions, which clariﬁed the scope of
the existing Routine Maintenance, Repair and Replacement exclusion, have been stayed by the Court of Appeals pending its review of
the rules. On October 20, 2005, the EPA also published a proposed
rule clarifying the test for determining when an emissions increase
subject to the NSR requirements has occurred. The impact of these
revisions and proposed rules will depend on adoption of the ﬁnal
rules by the EPA and the individual state implementation of such
rules, as well as the outcome of any additional legal challenges,
and, therefore, cannot be determined at this time.
Carbon Dioxide Litigation
In July 2004, attorneys general from eight states, each outside of
Southern Company’s service territory, and the corporation counsel
for New York City ﬁled a complaint in the U.S. District Court for the
Southern District of New York against Southern Company and four
other electric power companies. A nearly identical complaint was
ﬁled by three environmental groups in the same court. The complaints allege that the companies’ emissions of carbon dioxide, a
greenhouse gas, contribute to global warming, which the plaintiffs
assert is a public nuisance. Under common law public and private
nuisance theories, the plaintiffs seek a judicial order (1) holding
each defendant jointly and severally liable for creating, contributing
to, and/or maintaining global warming and (2) requiring each of the
defendants to cap its emissions of carbon dioxide and then reduce
those emissions by a speciﬁed percentage each year for at least
a decade. Plaintiffs have not, however, requested that damages
be awarded in connection with their claims. Southern Company
believes these claims are without merit and notes that the complaint
cites no statutory or regulatory basis for the claims. In September
2005, the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York
granted Southern Company’s and the other defendants’ motions to
dismiss these cases. The plaintiffs ﬁled an appeal to the U.S. Court
of Appeals for the Second Circuit on October 19, 2005. The ultimate
outcome of these matters cannot be determined at this time.

Plant Wansley Environmental Litigation
In December 2002, the Sierra Club, Physicians for Social Responsibility, Georgia Forestwatch, and one individual ﬁled a civil suit in
the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Georgia against
Georgia Power for alleged violations of the Clean Air Act at four of
the units at Plant Wansley. The civil action requests injunctive and
declaratory relief, civil penalties, a supplemental environmental project, and attorneys’ fees. The Clean Air Act authorizes civil penalties
of up to $27,500 per day, per violation at each generating unit. The
liability phase of the case has concluded with the court ruling in favor
of Georgia Power in part and the plaintiffs in part. In March 2005,
the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit accepted Georgia
Power’s petition for review of the district court’s order, and oral arguments were held on January 24, 2006. The district court case has
been administratively closed pending that appeal. If necessary, the
district court will hold a separate trial, which will address civil penalties and possible injunctive relief requested by the plaintiffs.
The ultimate outcome of this matter cannot currently be
determined; however, an adverse outcome could require substantial capital expenditures that cannot be determined at this time
and could possibly require the payment of substantial penalties. This
could affect future results of operations, cash ﬂows, and ﬁnancial
condition if such costs are not recovered through regulated rates.
Environmental Statutes and Regulations
General
Southern Company’s operations are subject to extensive regulation by state and federal environmental agencies under a variety of
statutes and regulations governing environmental media, including air, water, and land resources. Applicable statutes include the
Clean Air Act; the Clean Water Act; the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act; the Resource
Conservation and Recovery Act; the Toxic Substances Control Act;
the Emergency Planning & Community Right-to-Know Act; and
the Endangered Species Act. Compliance with these environmental requirements involves signiﬁcant capital and operating costs,
a major portion of which is expected to be recovered through
existing ratemaking provisions. Through 2005, Southern Company
had invested approximately $2.4 billion in capital projects to comply with these requirements, with annual totals of $423 million,
$300 million, and $256 million for 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively. Over the next decade, the Company expects that capital
expenditures to assure compliance with existing and new regulations could exceed an additional $7.5 billion, including $0.8 billion,
$1.3 billion, and $1.1 billion for 2006, 2007, and 2008, respectively. Because the Company’s compliance strategy is impacted by
changes to existing environmental laws and regulations, the cost,
availability, and existing inventory of emission allowances, and the
Company’s fuel mix, the ultimate outcome cannot be determined
at this time. Environmental costs that are known and estimable
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at this time are included in capital expenditures discussed under
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND LIQUIDITY – “Capital Requirements
and Contractual Obligations” herein.
Compliance with possible additional federal or state legislation or regulations related to global climate change, air quality, or
other environmental and health concerns could also signiﬁcantly
affect Southern Company. New environmental legislation or regulations, or changes to existing statutes or regulations, could affect
many areas of Southern Company’s operations; however, the full
impact of any such changes cannot be determined at this time.
Air Quality
Compliance with the Clean Air Act and resulting regulations has been
and will continue to be a signiﬁcant focus for Southern Company.
Through 2005, the Company had spent approximately $1.6 billion in
reducing sulfur dioxide (SO2) and nitrogen oxide (NOx) emissions and
in monitoring emissions pursuant to the Clean Air Act. Additional controls have been announced and are currently being installed at several
plants to further reduce SO2 and NOx emissions, maintain compliance
with existing regulations, and to meet new requirements.
Approximately $1.3 billion of these expenditures related to
reducing NOx emissions pursuant to state and federal requirements
in connection with the EPA’s one-hour ozone standard and the 1998
regional NOx reduction rules. In 2004, the regional NOx reduction
rules were implemented for the northern two-thirds of Alabama.
Although the State of Georgia was originally included in the states
subject to the regional NOx rules, the EPA, in August 2005, stayed
compliance with these requirements and initiated rulemakings to
address issues raised in a petition for reconsideration ﬁled by a
coalition of Georgia industries. The impact of the 1998 regional NOx
reduction rules for the State of Georgia will depend on the outcome
of the petition for reconsideration and/or any subsequent development and approval of its state implementation plan.
In addition, in 2005, Gulf Power substantially completed the
terms of a 2002 agreement with the State of Florida to help ensure
attainment of the ozone standard in the Pensacola, Florida area. The
conditions of the agreement, which required installing additional
controls on certain units and retiring three older units at a plant near
Pensacola, will be fully implemented in 2006 at a cost of approximately $134.4 million, of which $4.3 million remains to be spent.
Gulf Power’s costs have been approved under its environmental
cost recovery clause. See Note 1 to the ﬁnancial statements under
“Environmental Cost Recovery” for additional information.
In 2005, the EPA revoked the one-hour ozone standard and
published the ﬁnal set of rules for implementation of the new, more
stringent eight-hour ozone standard. Areas within Southern Company’s service area that have been designated as nonattainment under
the eight-hour ozone standard include Birmingham (Alabama),
Macon (Georgia), and a 20-county area within metropolitan Atlanta.
State implementation plans, including new emission control regulations necessary to bring those areas into attainment, are required for
most areas by June 2007. These state implementation plans could
require further reductions in NOx emissions from power plants.
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In November 2005, the State of Alabama, through the
Alabama Department of Environmental Management, submitted a
request to the EPA to redesignate the Birmingham eight-hour ozone
non-attainment area to attainment for the standard. On January
25, 2006, the EPA published a proposal in the Federal Register to
approve the redesignation request. If ultimately approved by the
EPA, the area would be designated to be in attainment. The ﬁnal
outcome of this matter cannot now be determined.
During 2005, the EPA’s ﬁne particulate matter nonattainment
designations became effective for several areas within Southern
Company’s service area in Alabama and Georgia, and the EPA proposed a rule for the implementation of the ﬁne particulate matter
standard. The EPA plans to ﬁnalize the proposed implementation
rule in 2006. State plans for addressing the nonattainment designations are required by April 2008 and could require further reductions
in SO2 and NOx emissions from power plants. The EPA has also
published proposed revisions to lower the levels of particulate matter currently allowed.
The EPA issued the ﬁnal Clean Air Interstate Rule on March
10, 2005. This cap-and-trade rule addresses power plant SO2 and
NOx emissions that were found to contribute to nonattainment of the
eight-hour ozone and ﬁne particulate matter standards in downwind
states. Twenty-eight eastern states, including each of the states within
Southern Company’s service area, are subject to the requirements of
the rule. The rule calls for additional reductions of NOx and/or SO2 to
be achieved in two phases, 2009/2010 and 2015. These reductions
will be accomplished by the installation of additional emission controls at Southern Company’s coal-ﬁred facilities or by the purchase of
emission allowances from a cap-and-trade program.
The Clean Air Visibility Rule (formerly called the Regional Haze
Rule) was ﬁnalized on July 6, 2005. The goal of this rule is to restore
natural visibility conditions in certain areas (primarily national parks
and wilderness areas) by 2064. The rule involves the application of
Best Available Retroﬁt Technology (BART) requirements and a review
each decade, beginning in 2018, of progress toward the goal. BART
requires that sources that contribute to visibility impairment implement additional emission reductions, if necessary, to make progress
toward remedying current visibility concerns. For power plants, the
Clean Air Visibility Rule allows states to determine that the Clean Air
Interstate Rule satisﬁes BART requirements for SO2 and NOx. However, additional requirements could be imposed. By December 17,
2007, states must submit implementation plans that contain emission reduction strategies for implementing BART requirements and
for achieving sufﬁcient and reasonable progress toward the goal.
On March 15, 2005, the EPA announced the ﬁnal Clean Air
Mercury Rule, a cap-and-trade program for the reduction of mercury
emissions from coal-ﬁred power plants. The rule sets caps on mercury
emissions to be implemented in two phases, 2010 and 2018, and
provides for an emission allowance trading market. The Company
anticipates that emission controls installed to achieve compliance
with the Clean Air Interstate Rule and the eight-hour ozone and ﬁneparticulate standards will also result in mercury emission reductions.
However, the long-term capability of emission control equipment to
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reduce mercury emissions is still being evaluated, and the installation of additional control technologies may be required.
The impacts of the eight-hour ozone standard, the ﬁne particulate matter nonattainment designations, the Clean Air Interstate
Rule, the Clean Air Visibility Rule, and the Clean Air Mercury Rule on
the Company will depend on the development and implementation
of rules at the state level. States implementing the Clean Air Mercury
Rule and the Clean Air Interstate Rule, in particular, have the option
not to participate in the national cap-and-trade programs and could
require reductions greater than those mandated by the federal rules.
Such impacts will also depend on resolution of pending legal challenges to the Clean Air Interstate Rule, the Clean Air Mercury Rule
and a related petition from the State of North Carolina under Section 126 of the Clean Air Act, also related to the interstate transport
of air pollutants. Therefore, the full impacts of these regulations on
the Company cannot be determined at this time. The Company has
developed and continually updates a comprehensive environmental
compliance strategy to comply with the continuing and new environmental requirements discussed above. As part of this strategy, the
Company plans to install additional SO2, NOx, and mercury emission
controls within the next several years to assure continued compliance
with applicable air quality requirements.
Water Quality
In July 2004, the EPA published ﬁnal rules under the Clean Water
Act for the purpose of reducing impingement and entrainment of
ﬁsh and ﬁsh larvae at power plants’ cooling water intake structures.
The new rules require baseline biological information and, perhaps,
installation of ﬁsh protection technology near some intake structures at existing power plants.
Georgia Power is installing cooling towers at additional
facilities under the Clean Water Act to cool water prior to discharge.
Near Atlanta, a cooling tower for one plant was completed in 2004
and two others are scheduled for completion in 2008. The total
estimated cost of these projects is $173 million, with $85 million
remaining to be spent. Georgia Power is also conducting a study of
the aquatic environment at another facility to determine if further
thermal controls are necessary at that plant.
The full impact of these new rules will depend on the results
of studies and analyses performed as part of the rules’ implementation and the actual requirements established by state regulatory
agencies, and therefore, cannot now be determined.
Environmental Remediation
Southern Company must comply with other environmental laws and
regulations that cover the handling and disposal of waste and release
of hazardous substances. Under these various laws and regulations,
the retail operating companies could incur substantial costs to clean
up properties. The retail operating companies conduct studies to
determine the extent of any required cleanup and have recognized
in their respective ﬁnancial statements the costs to clean up known
sites. Amounts for cleanup and ongoing monitoring costs were not
material for any year presented. The retail operating companies may

be liable for some or all required cleanup costs for additional sites
that may require environmental remediation.
See Note 3 to the ﬁnancial statements under “Environmental
Matters – Environmental Remediation” for additional information.
Global Climate Issues
Domestic efforts to limit greenhouse gas emissions have been
spurred by international discussions surrounding the Framework
Convention on Climate Change and speciﬁcally the Kyoto Protocol,
which proposes constraints on the emissions of greenhouse gases
for a group of industrialized countries. The Bush Administration
has not supported U.S. ratiﬁcation of the Kyoto Protocol or other
mandatory carbon dioxide reduction legislation; however, in 2002,
it did announce a goal to reduce the greenhouse gas intensity
of the U.S., the ratio of greenhouse gas emissions to the value
of U.S. economic output, by 18 percent by 2012. A year later,
the Department of Energy (DOE) announced the Climate VISION
program to support this goal. Energy-intensive industries, including electricity generation, are the initial focus of this program.
Southern Company is involved in the development of a voluntary
electric utility sector climate change initiative in partnership with
the government. In a memorandum of understanding signed in
December 2004 with the DOE under Climate VISION, the utility
sector pledged to reduce its greenhouse gas emissions rate by
3 percent to 5 percent by 2010- 2012. The Company is continuing to evaluate future energy and emission proﬁles relative to the
Climate VISION program and is analyzing voluntary programs to
support the industry initiative.
FERC Matters
Market-Based Rate Authority
Each of the retail operating companies and Southern Power has
authorization from the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission
(FERC) to sell power to non-afﬁliates at market-based prices. The
retail operating companies and Southern Power also have FERC
authority to make short-term opportunity sales at market rates.
Speciﬁc FERC approval must be obtained with respect to a marketbased contract with an afﬁliate.
In December 2004, the FERC initiated a proceeding to assess
Southern Company’s generation dominance within its retail service
territory. The ability to charge market-based rates in other markets
is not an issue in that proceeding. In February 2005, Southern
Company submitted responsive information. In February 2006, the
FERC suspended the proceedings to allow the parties to conduct
settlement discussions. Any new market-based rate transactions in
its retail service territory entered into after February 27, 2005 are
subject to refund to the level of the default cost-based rates, pending
the outcome of the proceeding. The impact of such sales through
December 31, 2005 is not expected to exceed $16 million. The
refund period covers 15 months. In the event that the FERC’s default
mitigation measures for entities that are found to have market power
are ultimately applied, the retail operating companies and Southern
Power may be required to charge cost-based rates for certain whole-
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sale sales in the Southern Company retail service territory, which may
be lower than negotiated market-based rates. The ﬁnal outcome of
this matter will depend on the form in which the ﬁnal methodology
for assessing generation market power and mitigation rules may be
ultimately adopted and cannot be determined at this time.
In addition, in May 2005, the FERC started an investigation to determine whether Southern Company satisﬁes the other
three parts of the FERC’s market-based rate analysis: transmission
market power, barriers to entry, and afﬁliate abuse or reciprocal
dealing. The FERC established a new refund period related to this
expanded investigation. Any and all new market-based rate transactions both inside and outside Southern Company’s retail service
territory involving any Southern Company subsidiary will be subject
to refund to the extent the FERC orders lower rates as a result of this
new investigation, with the 15-month refund period beginning July
19, 2005. The impact of such sales through December 31, 2005 is
not expected to exceed $31 million, of which $11 million relates to
sales inside the retail service territory discussed above. The FERC
also directed that this expanded proceeding be held in abeyance
pending the outcome of the proceeding on the Intercompany Interchange Contract (IIC) discussed below.
Southern Company and its subsidiaries believe that there is
no meritorious basis for this proceeding and are vigorously defending themselves in this matter. However, the ﬁnal outcome of this
matter, including any remedies to be applied in the event of an
adverse ruling in this proceeding, cannot now be determined.
Intercompany Interchange Contract
The Company’s generation ﬂeet in its retail service territory is operated under the IIC, as approved by the FERC. In May 2005, the
FERC initiated a new proceeding to examine (1) the provisions of
the IIC among Alabama Power, Georgia Power, Gulf Power, Mississippi Power, Savannah Electric, Southern Power, and SCS, as agent,
under the terms of which the power pool of Southern Company is
operated, and, in particular, the propriety of the continued inclusion
of Southern Power as a party to the IIC, (2) whether any parties to
the IIC have violated the FERC’s standards of conduct applicable to
utility companies that are transmission providers, and (3) whether
Southern Company’s code of conduct deﬁning Southern Power as
a “system company” rather than a “marketing afﬁliate” is just and
reasonable. In connection with the formation of Southern Power,
the FERC authorized Southern Power’s inclusion in the IIC in 2000.
The FERC also previously approved Southern Company’s code of
conduct. The FERC order directs that the administrative law judge
who presided over a proceeding involving approval of PPAs between
Southern Power and Georgia Power and Savannah Electric be
assigned to preside over the hearing in this proceeding and that the
testimony and exhibits presented in that proceeding be preserved to
the extent appropriate. Hearings are scheduled for September 2006.
Effective July 19, 2005, revenues from transactions under the IIC
involving any Southern Company subsidiaries are subject to refund
to the extent the FERC orders any changes to the IIC.
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Southern Company and its subsidiaries believe that there is
no meritorious basis for this proceeding and are vigorously defending themselves in this matter. However, the ﬁnal outcome of this
matter, including any remedies to be applied in the event of an
adverse ruling in this proceeding, cannot now be determined.
Generation Interconnection Agreements
In July 2003, the FERC issued its ﬁnal rule on the standardization
of generation interconnection agreements and procedures (Order
2003). Order 2003 shifts much of the ﬁnancial burden of new
transmission investment from the generator to the transmission provider. The FERC has indicated that Order 2003, which was effective
January 20, 2004, is to be applied prospectively to interconnection
agreements. Subsidiaries of Tenaska, Inc., as counterparties to three
previously executed interconnection agreements with subsidiaries
of Southern Company, have ﬁled complaints at the FERC requesting
that the FERC modify the agreements and that Southern Company
refund a total of $19 million previously paid for interconnection
facilities, with interest. These proceedings are still pending at the
FERC. Southern Company has also received similar requests from
other entities totaling approximately $14 million. Southern Company
has opposed all such requests. The impact of Order 2003 and its
subsequent rehearings on Southern Company and the ﬁnal results
of these matters cannot be determined at this time.
Transmission
In December 1999, the FERC issued its ﬁnal rule on Regional
Transmission Organizations (RTOs). Since that time, there have
been a number of additional proceedings at the FERC designed
to encourage further voluntary formation of RTOs or to mandate
their formation. However, at the current time, there are no active
proceedings that would require Southern Company to participate
in an RTO. Current FERC efforts that may potentially change the
regulatory and/or operational structure of transmission include
rules related to the standardization of generation interconnection,
as well as an inquiry into, among other things, market power by
vertically integrated utilities. See “Market-Based Rate Authority”
and “Generation Interconnection Agreements” above for additional information. The ﬁnal outcome of these proceedings cannot
now be determined. However, Southern Company’s ﬁnancial
condition, results of operations, and cash ﬂows could be adversely
affected by future changes in the federal regulatory or operational
structure of transmission.
PSC Matters
Alabama Power
In October 2004, the Alabama PSC approved a speciﬁc rate mechanism for the recovery of Alabama Power’s retail costs associated
with environmental laws, regulations, or other such mandates.
The rate mechanism began operation in January 2005 and provides for the recovery of these costs pursuant to a factor that
will be calculated annually. Environmental costs to be recovered
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include operation and maintenance expenses, depreciation, and
a return on invested capital. Retail rates increased approximately
1 percent in both January 2005 and 2006. In conjunction with the
Alabama PSC’s approval of this rate mechanism, Alabama Power
agreed to a moratorium until 2007 on any retail rate increase
under its previously approved Rate Stabilization and Equalization
Plan (Rate RSE).
On October 4, 2005, the Alabama PSC approved a revision
to Rate RSE requested by Alabama Power. Effective January 2007,
Rate RSE adjustments will be based on forward-looking information
for the applicable upcoming calendar year. Rate adjustments for any
two-year period, when averaged together, cannot exceed 4 percent
per year and any annual adjustment is limited to 5 percent. Rates
will remain unchanged if the return on equity (ROE) is between
13 percent and 14.5 percent. If Alabama Power’s actual retail
ROE is above the allowed equity return range, customer refunds
will be required; however, there is no provision for additional customer billings should the actual retail return on common equity fall
below the allowed equity return range. Alabama Power will make
its initial submission of projected data for calendar year 2007 by
December 1, 2006.
See Note 3 to the ﬁnancial statements under “Alabama
Power Retail Regulatory Matters” for further information.
Georgia Power
In December 2004, the Georgia PSC approved the December 2004
three-year retail rate plan ending December 31, 2007 (2004 Retail
Rate Plan) for Georgia Power. Under the terms of the 2004 Retail
Rate Plan, earnings will be evaluated against a retail ROE range of
10.25 percent to 12.25 percent. Two-thirds of any earnings above
12.25 percent will be applied to rate refunds, with the remaining
one-third retained by Georgia Power. Retail rates and customer
fees were increased by approximately $203 million in January
2005 to cover the higher costs of purchased power, operation and
maintenance expenses, environmental compliance, and continued
investment in new generation, transmission, and distribution facilities to support growth and ensure reliability.
Georgia Power is required to ﬁle a general rate case on or
about July 1, 2007, in response to which the Georgia PSC would
be expected to determine whether the 2004 Retail Rate Plan should
be continued, modiﬁed, or discontinued. Until then, Georgia Power
may not ﬁle for a general base rate increase unless its projected
retail return on common equity falls below 10.25 percent. See
Note 3 to the ﬁnancial statements under “Georgia Power Retail
Regulatory Matters” for additional information.
On December 13, 2005, Georgia Power and Savannah Electric entered into a merger agreement. Savannah Electric will merge
into Georgia Power, with Georgia Power continuing as the surviving
corporation. Pending regulatory approvals, the merger is expected
to occur by July 2006. See “Fuel Cost Recovery” herein and Note
3 to the ﬁnancial statements under “Merger of Georgia Power and
Savannah Electric” for additional information.

Mississippi Power
On December 1, 2005, Mississippi Power submitted its annual Performance Evaluation Plan (PEP) ﬁling to the Mississippi PSC. Ordinarily,
PEP limits annual rate increases to 4 percent; however, Mississippi
Power has requested that the Mississippi PSC approve a temporary
change to allow it to exceed this cap as a result of the ongoing effects
of Hurricane Katrina. Mississippi Power has requested a 5 percent or
$32 million retail base rate increase to become effective in April 2006
if approved. Hearings are scheduled for March 2, 2006.
In May 2004, the Mississippi PSC approved Mississippi
Power’s request to reclassify to jurisdictional cost of service the
266 megawatts of Plant Daniel unit 3 and 4 capacity, effective
January 1, 2004. The Mississippi PSC authorized Mississippi Power
to include the related costs and revenue credits in jurisdictional rate
base, cost of service, and revenue requirement calculations for
purposes of retail rate recovery. Mississippi Power is amortizing the
regulatory liability established pursuant to the Mississippi PSC’s
interim December 2003 order, as approved in May 2004, to earnings
as follows: $16.5 million in 2004, $25.1 million in 2005, $13.0 million
in 2006, and $5.7 million in 2007, resulting in expense reductions in
each of those years.
Fuel Cost Recovery
The retail operating companies each have established fuel cost recovery rates approved by their respective state PSCs. Over the past year,
the retail operating companies have continued to experience higher
than expected fuel costs for coal and natural gas. These higher fuel
costs have increased the under recovered fuel costs included in the
balance sheets. The retail operating companies continuously monitor
the under recovered fuel cost balance in light of these higher fuel
costs. Each of the retail operating companies received approval in
2005 to increase their fuel cost recovery factors to recover existing
under recovered amounts as well as projected future costs.
Alabama Power fuel costs are recovered under Rate ECR
(Energy Cost Recovery), which provides for the addition of a fuel and
energy cost factor to base rates. In December 2005, the Alabama PSC
approved an increase that allows for the recovery of approximately
$227 million in existing under recovered fuel costs over a two-year period.
In May 2005, the Georgia PSC approved Georgia Power’s
request to increase customer fuel rates by approximately 9.5 percent
to recover under recovered fuel costs of approximately $508 million
existing as of May 31, 2005 over a four-year period that began June 1,
2005. Under recovered fuel amounts for the period subsequent to
June 1, 2005 totaled $327.5 million through December 31, 2005.
The Georgia PSC’s order instructs that such amounts be reviewed
semi-annually beginning February 2006. If the amount under or
over recovered exceeds $50 million at the evaluation date, Georgia
Power would be required to ﬁle for a temporary fuel rate change.
In addition, Savannah Electric’s under recovered fuel costs totaled
$77.7 million at December 31, 2005. In accordance with a Georgia
PSC order, Savannah Electric was scheduled to ﬁle an additional request for a fuel cost recovery increase in January 2006.
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In connection with the proposed merger, Georgia Power has
agreed with a Georgia PSC staff recommendation to forego the
temporary fuel rate process, and Savannah Electric has postponed
its scheduled ﬁling. Instead, Georgia Power and Savannah Electric
will ﬁle a combined request in March 2006 to increase its fuel cost
recovery rate.
The case will seek approval of a fuel cost recovery rate based
upon future fuel cost projections for the combined Georgia Power
and Savannah Electric generating ﬂeet as well as the under recovered balances existing at June 30, 2006. The new fuel cost recovery
rate would be billed beginning in July 2006 to all Georgia Power
customers, including the existing Savannah Electric customers.
Under recovered amounts as of the date of the merger will be paid
by the appropriate customer groups.
In August 2005, the Georgia PSC initiated an investigation of
Savannah Electric’s fuel practices. In February 2006, an investigation
of Georgia Power’s fuel practices was initiated. Georgia Power and
Savannah Electric are responding to data requests and cooperating
in the investigations. The ﬁnal outcome of these matters cannot
now be determined.
Fuel cost recovery revenues as recorded on the ﬁnancial
statements are adjusted for differences in actual recoverable costs
and amounts billed in current regulated rates. Accordingly, any
increase in the billing factor would have no signiﬁcant effect on
the Company’s revenues or net income, but would increase annual
cash ﬂow. Based on their respective state PSC orders, a portion of
the under recovered regulatory clause revenues for Alabama Power,
Georgia Power, and Savannah Electric was reclassiﬁed from current
assets to deferred charges and other assets in the balance sheet.
See Note 1 to the ﬁnancial statements under “Revenues” and Note
3 to the ﬁnancial statements under “Alabama Power Retail Regulatory Matters” and “Georgia Power Retail Regulatory Matters” for
additional information.
Storm Damage Cost Recovery
Each retail operating company maintains a reserve for property
damage to cover the cost of damages from major storms to its
transmission and distribution facilities and the cost of uninsured
damages to its generation facilities and other property. In September 2004, Hurricane Ivan hit the Gulf Coast of Florida and Alabama
and continued north through Southern Company’s service territory
causing substantial damage.
At Gulf Power, the related costs charged to its property damage reserve as of December 31, 2004 were $93.5 million. Prior to
Hurricane Ivan, Gulf Power’s reserve balance was approximately
$28 million. Gulf Power’s current annual accrual to the property
damage reserve, as approved by the Florida PSC, is $3.5 million.
The Florida PSC has also approved additional accrual amounts at
Gulf Power’s discretion; Gulf Power accrued an additional $6 million
and $15 million in 2005 and 2004, respectively. In February 2005,
Gulf Power, the Ofﬁce of Public Counsel for the State of Florida,
and the Florida Industrial Power Users Group ﬁled a Stipulation
and Settlement with the Florida PSC, which the Florida PSC subse-
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quently approved, allowing Gulf Power to recover the retail portion
of $51.7 million of these costs, plus interest and revenue taxes,
from customers over a 24-month period that began in April 2005.
In connection with the stipulation, Gulf Power has agreed that it will
not seek any additional increase in its base rates and charges to
become effective on or before March 1, 2007.
At Alabama Power, operation and maintenance expenses
associated with repairing the damage to its facilities and restoring service to customers as a result of Hurricane Ivan were
$57.8 million for 2004. The balance in Alabama Power’s natural
disaster reserve prior to the storm was $14.6 million. In October
2004, Alabama Power received approval from the Alabama PSC to
defer the negative balance for recovery in future periods. Alabama
Power is allowed to accrue $250,000 per month until a maximum
accumulated provision of $32 million is attained. Higher accruals to
restore the reserve to its authorized level are allowed whenever the
balance in the reserve declines below $22.4 million. During 2004,
Alabama Power accrued an additional $6.9 million.
In February and December 2005, Alabama Power requested
and received Alabama PSC approval of accounting orders that
allowed Alabama Power to immediately return certain regulatory
liabilities to the retail customers. These orders also allowed Alabama
Power to simultaneously recover from customers accruals of approximately $48 million primarily to offset the costs of Hurricane Ivan and
restore a positive balance in the natural disaster reserve. The combined effect of these orders had no impact on net income in 2005.
In July and August 2005, Hurricanes Dennis and Katrina,
respectively, hit the Gulf Coast of the United States and caused signiﬁcant damage within Southern Company’s service area, including
portions of the service areas of Alabama Power, Gulf Power, and
Mississippi Power. The total incremental cost of repairing the
damages to Mississippi Power’s facilities and restoring service to
customers is currently estimated to be approximately $277 million
net of approximately $68 million of insurance proceeds. Prior to Hurricane Katrina, Mississippi Power had a balance of approximately
$3 million in its property reserve. Incremental costs incurred through
December 31, 2005 were $210 million net of insurance proceeds of
$68 million, of which $8 million has been received. These costs
include approximately $149 million of capital additions and
$133 million of operation and maintenance expenditures. Restoration
efforts following Hurricane Katrina are ongoing for approximately
19,200 Mississippi Power customers who remain unable to receive
power, as well as to make permanent improvements in areas where
temporary emergency repairs were necessary. In addition, business
and governmental authorities are still reviewing redevelopment
plans for portions of the most severely damaged areas along the
Mississippi shoreline. Until such plans are complete, Mississippi
Power cannot determine the related electric power needs or associated cost estimates. The ultimate impact of redevelopment plans in
these areas on the cost estimates cannot now be determined.
Each of the affected retail operating companies has been
authorized by their respective state PSCs to defer the portion of the
Hurricane Dennis and Katrina restoration costs that exceeded the
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balance in their storm damage reserve accounts. As of December
31, 2005, the deﬁcit balance in Southern Company’s storm damage reserve accounts totaled approximately $366 million, of which
approximately $70 million and $296 million, respectively, is included
in the balance sheets herein under Other Current Assets and Other
Regulatory Assets. The recovery of these deferred costs is subject
to the approval of the respective state PSCs.
In December 2005, the Alabama PSC approved a separate
rate rider to recover Alabama Power’s $51 million of deferred Hurricane Dennis and Katrina operation and maintenance costs over a
two-year period and to replenish its reserve to a target balance of
$75 million over a ﬁve-year period.
In October 2005, the Mississippi PSC issued an Interim
Accounting Order requiring Mississippi Power to recognize a regulatory asset in an amount equal to the retail portion of the recorded
Hurricane Katrina restoration costs, including both operation and
maintenance expenditures and capital additions. In December 2005,
Mississippi Power ﬁled with the Mississippi PSC a detailed review of all
Hurricane Katrina restoration costs as required in the Interim Accounting Order. Mississippi Power is currently working with the Mississippi
PSC to establish a method to recover all such prudently incurred
costs upon resolution of uncertainties related to federal grant assistance and proposed state legislation to allow securitized ﬁnancing.
In 2005, the Florida Legislature authorized securitized ﬁnancing
for hurricane costs. On February 22, 2006, Gulf Power ﬁled a petition with the Florida PSC under this legislative authority requesting
permission to issue $87.2 million in securitized storm-recovery bonds.
The bonds would be repaid over 8 years from revenues to be received
from storm-recovery charges implemented under the securitization
plan and billed to customers. If approved as proposed, the plan would
resolve Gulf Power’s remaining deferred costs, by reﬁnancing, net of
taxes, the remaining balance of storm damage costs currently being
recovered from customers related to Hurricane Ivan and ﬁnancing,
net of taxes, restoration costs associated with Hurricanes Dennis
and Katrina of approximately $54 million. It would also replenish
Gulf Power’s property damage reserve with an additional $70 million.
A decision on the plan is expected prior to the end of the second
quarter of 2006. Since Gulf Power will recognize expenses equal to
the revenues billed to customers, the securitization plan would have
no impact on net income, but would increase cash ﬂow.
See Notes 1 and 3 to the financial statements under
“Storm Damage Reserves” and “Storm Damage Cost Recovery,”
respectively, for additional information on these reserves. The ﬁnal
outcome of these matters cannot now be determined.
Mirant Bankruptcy Matters
Mirant is an energy company with businesses that include independent power projects and energy trading and risk management
companies in the U.S. and selected other countries. It was a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Southern Company until its initial
public offering in October 2000. In April 2001, Southern Company
completed a spin-off to its shareholders of its remaining ownership
and Mirant became an independent corporate entity.

In July 2003, Mirant ﬁled for voluntary reorganization under
Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code. In January 2006, Mirant’s plan
of reorganization became effective, and Mirant emerged from bankruptcy. As part of the plan, Mirant transferred substantially all of its
assets and its restructured debt to a new corporation that adopted
the name Mirant Corporation (Reorganized Mirant). Southern
Company has certain contingent liabilities associated with guarantees
of contractual commitments made by Mirant’s subsidiaries discussed
in Note 7 to the ﬁnancial statements under “Guarantees.”
In December 2004, as a result of concluding an IRS
audit for the tax years 2000 and 2001, Southern Company paid
$39 million in additional tax and interest for issues related to
Mirant tax items. Under the terms of the separation agreements
entered into in connection with the spin-off, Mirant agreed to
indemnify Southern Company for costs associated with these tax
items and additional IRS assessments. However, as a result of
Mirant’s bankruptcy, Southern Company sought reimbursement
as an unsecured creditor in the Chapter 11 proceeding. Based on
management’s assessment of the collectibility of this receivable,
Southern Company has reserved approximately $12.5 million.
If Southern Company is ultimately required to make any additional payments, Mirant’s indemniﬁcation obligation to Southern
Company for these additional payments would constitute unsecured claims against Mirant, entitled to stock in Reorganized
Mirant, the value of which is uncertain. See Note 3 to the ﬁnancial
statements under “Mirant Matters – Mirant Bankruptcy.”
In June 2005, Mirant, as a debtor in possession, and The
Ofﬁcial Committee of Unsecured Creditors of Mirant Corporation
ﬁled a complaint against Southern Company in the U.S. Bankruptcy
Court for the Northern District of Texas, which was amended in
July 2005 and February 2006. The complaint alleges that Southern
Company caused Mirant to engage in certain fraudulent transfers
and to pay illegal dividends to Southern Company prior to the spin-off.
The complaint also seeks to recharacterize certain advances from
Southern Company to Mirant for investments in energy facilities
from debt to equity. The complaint further alleges that Southern Company is liable to Mirant’s creditors for the full amount
of Mirant’s liability and that Southern Company caused Mirant
to breach its ﬁduciary duties to creditors. The complaint seeks
monetary damages in excess of $2 billion plus interest, punitive
damages, attorneys’ fees, and costs. Finally, Mirant objects to
Southern Company’s claims against Mirant in the Bankruptcy
Court (which relate to reimbursement under the separation agreements of payments such as income taxes, interest, legal fees, and
other guarantees described in Note 7 to the ﬁnancial statements)
and seeks equitable subordination of Southern Company’s claims
to the claims of all other creditors. Southern Company served an
answer to the second amended complaint in February 2006. Also
in February 2006, the Company’s motion to transfer the case to
the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Georgia was
granted. Southern Company believes there is no meritorious
basis for the claims in the complaint and is vigorously defending
itself in this action. See Note 3 to the ﬁnancial statements under
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“Mirant Matters – Mirant Bankruptcy Litigation” for additional
information. The ultimate outcome of these matters cannot be
determined at this time.
Income Tax Matters
Leveraged Lease Transactions
Southern Company undergoes audits by the IRS for each of its tax
years. The IRS has completed its audits of Southern Company’s
consolidated federal income tax returns for all years through 2001.
Southern Company participates in four international leveraged lease
transactions and receives federal income tax deductions for depreciation and amortization, as well as interest on related debt. The IRS
proposed to disallow the tax losses for one of these leases (a leasein-lease-out, or LILO) in connection with its audit of 1996 through
2001. In October 2004, Southern Company submitted the issue to
the IRS appeals division and in February 2005 reached a negotiated
settlement with the IRS, which is subject to ﬁnal approval.
In connection with its audit of 2000 and 2001, the IRS also
challenged Southern Company’s deductions related to three other
international lease (sale-in-lease-out, or SILO) transactions. If the IRS
is ultimately successful in disallowing the tax deductions related to
these three transactions, beginning with the 2000 tax year, Southern
Company would be subject to additional interest charges of up to
$34 million. The IRS has also proposed a penalty of approximately
$16 million. Southern Company believes these transactions are
valid leases for U.S. tax purposes, the related deductions are allowable, and the assessment of a penalty is inappropriate. Southern
Company is continuing to pursue resolution of these matters with
the IRS and expects to litigate the issue if necessary. Although the
payment of the tax liability, exclusive of interest, would not affect
Southern Company’s results of operations under current accounting standards, it could have a material impact on cash ﬂow. Through
December 31, 2005, Southern Company has claimed $241 million
in tax beneﬁts related to these SILO transactions challenged by
the IRS. See Note 1 to the ﬁnancial statements under “Leveraged
Leases” for additional information.
Under current accounting rules, the settlement of the LILO
transaction will not have a material impact on Southern Company’s
ﬁnancial statements; however, the Financial Accounting Standards
Board (FASB) has proposed changes to the accounting for leveraged
leases that are expected to become effective in 2006. If approved
as proposed, these changes could require Southern Company to
reﬂect the tax deductions that the IRS is challenging as currently
payable in the balance sheet and to change the timing of income
recognized for the leases, including a cumulative effect upon adoption of the change. For the LILO transaction settled with the IRS
in February 2005, Southern Company estimates such cumulative
effect would reduce Southern Company’s net income by up to
$16 million. The impact of these proposed changes related to the
SILO transactions would be dependent on the resolution of these
matters with the IRS but could be signiﬁcant, and potentially material, to Southern Company’s net income. The ultimate outcome of
these matters cannot now be determined.
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Synthetic Fuel Tax Credits
Southern Company has investments in two entities that produce
synthetic fuel and receive tax credits under Section 45K (formerly
Section 29) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended
(Internal Revenue Code). In accordance with Section 45K of the
Internal Revenue Code, these tax credits are subject to limitation as
the annual average price of oil (as determined by the DOE) increases
over a speciﬁed, inﬂation-adjusted dollar amount published in the
spring of the subsequent year. Southern Company, along with its
partners in these investments, will continue to monitor oil prices. Any
indicated potential limitation on these credits could affect either the
timing or the amount of the credit recognition and could also result
in an impairment of these investments, which total approximately
$19.5 million at December 31, 2005, by Southern Company.
Construction Projects
Integrated Coal Gasification Combined Cycle
In December 2005, Southern Power and the Orlando Utilities
Commission (OUC) executed deﬁnitive agreements for development
of an integrated coal gasiﬁcation combined cycle (IGCC) 283-megawatt project in Orlando, Florida. The deﬁnitive agreements provide
that Southern Power will own at least 65 percent of the gasiﬁer
portion of the IGCC project. OUC will own the remainder of the
gasiﬁer portion and 100 percent of the combined cycle portion
of the IGCC project. OUC will purchase all of the gasiﬁer capacity
from Southern Power once the plant is in commercial operation.
Southern Power will construct the project and manage its operation after construction is completed. In February 2006, Southern
Power signed a cooperative agreement with the DOE that provides
up to $235 million in grant funding for the gasiﬁcation portion of
this project. The IGCC project is subject to National Environmental
Policy Act review as well as state environmental review, requires
certain regulatory approvals, and is expected to begin commercial
operation in 2010. Southern Power’s total cost related to the IGCC
project is estimated at approximately $121 million.
Plant Franklin Unit 3
In August 2004, Southern Power completed limited construction
activities on Plant Franklin Unit 3 to preserve the long-term viability
of the project. Final completion is not anticipated until the 20082011 period. See Note 3 to the ﬁnancial statements under “Plant
Franklin Construction Project” for additional information. The ﬁnal
outcome of this matter cannot now be determined.
Nuclear
As part of a potential expansion of Plant Vogtle, Georgia Power
and Southern Nuclear have notiﬁed the Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) of their intent to apply for an early site permit (ESP)
this year and a combined construction and operating license
(COL) in 2008. In addition, a reactor design from Westinghouse
Electric Company has been selected and a purchase agreement
is being negotiated. Participation agreements have been reached
with each of the existing Plant Vogtle co-owners. See Note 4
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to the ﬁnancial statements for additional information on these
co-owners. At this point, no ﬁnal decision has been made regarding actual construction. The NRC’s streamlined licensing process
for new nuclear units allows utilities to seek regulatory approval at
various stages. These stages include design certiﬁcation, which
is obtained by the reactor vendor, and the ESP and COL, which
are each obtained by the owner-operators of the units. An ESP
indicates site approval is obtained before a company decides to
build and the COL provides regulatory approval for building and
operating the plant. In addition, any new Georgia Power generation must be certiﬁed by the Georgia PSC.
Southern Company also is participating in NuStart Energy
Development, LLC (NuStart Energy), a broad-based nuclear industry consortium formed to share the cost of developing a COL and
the related NRC review. NuStart Energy plans to complete detailed
engineering design work and to prepare COL applications for two
advanced reactor designs, then to choose one of the applications
and ﬁle it for NRC review and approval. The COL ultimately is
expected to be transferred to one or more of the consortium companies; however, at this time, none of them have committed to build
a new nuclear plant.
Southern Company is also exploring other possibilities relating to nuclear power projects, both on its own or in partnership with
other utilities.
Other Matters
In accordance with FASB Statement No. 87, Employers’
Accounting for Pensions, Southern Company recorded non-cash
pre-tax pension income/(expense) of approximately $(2) million,
$44 million, and $99 million in 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively. Postretirement beneﬁt costs for Southern Company were
$118 million, $106 million, and $101 million in 2005, 2004, and
2003, respectively. Both pension and postretirement costs are
expected to continue to trend upward. Such amounts are dependent
on several factors including trust earnings and changes to the plans.
A portion of pension and postretirement beneﬁt costs is capitalized
based on construction-related labor charges. For the retail operating
companies, pension and postretirement beneﬁt costs are a component of the regulated rates and generally do not have a long-term
effect on net income. For more information regarding pension and
postretirement beneﬁts, see Note 2 to the ﬁnancial statements.
Southern Company is involved in various other matters being
litigated, regulatory matters, and certain tax-related issues that
could affect future earnings. See Note 3 to the ﬁnancial statements
for information regarding material issues.
AC C O U N T I N G P O L I CIES

Application of Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Southern Company prepares its consolidated ﬁnancial statements
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States. Signiﬁcant accounting policies are described in
Note 1 to the ﬁnancial statements. In the application of these poli-

cies, certain estimates are made that may have a material impact
on Southern Company’s results of operations and related disclosures. Different assumptions and measurements could produce
estimates that are signiﬁcantly different from those recorded in
the ﬁnancial statements. Senior management has discussed the
development and selection of the critical accounting policies and
estimates described below with the Audit Committee of Southern
Company’s Board of Directors.
Electric Utility Regulation
Southern Company’s retail operating companies, which comprise
approximately 88 percent of Southern Company’s total earnings for
2005, are subject to retail regulation by their respective state PSCs
and wholesale regulation by the FERC. These regulatory agencies
set the rates the retail operating companies are permitted to
charge customers based on allowable costs. As a result, the retail
operating companies apply FASB Statement No. 71, Accounting
for the Effects of Certain Types of Regulation (Statement No. 71),
which requires the ﬁnancial statements to reﬂect the effects of rate
regulation. Through the ratemaking process, the regulators may
require the inclusion of costs or revenues in periods different than
when they would be recognized by a non-regulated company. This
treatment may result in the deferral of expenses and the recording
of related regulatory assets based on anticipated future recovery
through rates or the deferral of gains or creation of liabilities and
the recording of related regulatory liabilities. The application of
Statement No. 71 has a further effect on the Company’s ﬁnancial
statements as a result of the estimates of allowable costs used in
the ratemaking process. These estimates may differ from those
actually incurred by the retail operating companies; therefore, the
accounting estimates inherent in speciﬁc costs such as depreciation, nuclear decommissioning, and pension and postretirement
beneﬁts have less of a direct impact on the Company’s results of
operations than they would on a non-regulated company.
As reﬂected in Note 1 to the ﬁnancial statements, signiﬁcant
regulatory assets and liabilities have been recorded. Management
reviews the ultimate recoverability of these regulatory assets and
liabilities based on applicable regulatory guidelines and accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. However,
adverse legislative, judicial, or regulatory actions could materially
impact the amounts of such regulatory assets and liabilities and
could adversely impact the Company’s ﬁnancial statements.
Contingent Obligations
Southern Company and its subsidiaries are subject to a number of
federal and state laws and regulations, as well as other factors and
conditions that potentially subject them to environmental, litigation,
income tax, and other risks. See FUTURE EARNINGS POTENTIAL
herein and Note 3 to the ﬁnancial statements for more information
regarding certain of these contingencies. Southern Company periodically evaluates its exposure to such risks and records reserves
for those matters where a loss is considered probable and reasonably estimable in accordance with generally accepted accounting
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principles. The adequacy of reserves can be signiﬁcantly affected
by external events or conditions that can be unpredictable; thus, the
ultimate outcome of such matters could materially affect Southern
Company’s ﬁnancial statements. These events or conditions include
the following:
• Changes in existing state or federal regulation by governmental authorities having jurisdiction over air quality, water
quality, control of toxic substances, hazardous and solid
wastes, and other environmental matters.
• Changes in existing income tax regulations or changes in IRS
interpretations of existing regulations.
• Identiﬁcation of additional sites that require environmental
remediation or the ﬁling of other complaints in which
Southern Company or its subsidiaries may be asserted to be
a potentially responsible party.
• Identiﬁcation and evaluation of other potential lawsuits or
complaints in which Southern Company or its subsidiaries
may be named as a defendant.
• Resolution or progression of existing matters through the
legislative process, the court systems, the IRS, or the EPA.
Unbilled Revenues
Revenues related to the sale of electricity are recorded when electricity
is delivered to customers. However, the determination of KWH sales
to individual customers is based on the reading of their meters, which
is performed on a systematic basis throughout the month. At the end
of each month, amounts of electricity delivered to customers, but not
yet metered and billed, are estimated. Components of the unbilled
revenue estimates include total KWH territorial supply, total KWH
billed, estimated total electricity lost in delivery, and customer usage.
These components can ﬂuctuate as a result of a number of factors
including weather, generation patterns, and power delivery volume
and other operational constraints. These factors can be unpredictable
and can vary from historical trends. As a result, the overall estimate of
unbilled revenues could be signiﬁcantly affected, which could have a
material impact on the Company’s results of operations.
New Accounting Standards
Income Taxes
In December 2004, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position 109-1,
Application of FASB Statement No. 109, Accounting for Income
Taxes, to the Tax Deduction on Qualiﬁed Production Activities
provided by the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (FSP 109-1),
which requires that the generation deduction be accounted for as a
special tax deduction rather than as a tax rate reduction. Southern
Company adopted FSP 109-1 in the ﬁrst quarter of 2005 with no
material impact on its ﬁnancial statements.
Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations
Effective December 31, 2005, Southern Company adopted the
provision of FASB Interpretation No. 47 (FIN 47), Conditional Asset
Retirement Obligations, which requires that an asset retirement
obligation be recorded even though the timing and/or method of
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settlement are conditional on future events. Prior to December 2005,
Southern Company did not recognize asset retirement obligations
for asbestos removal and disposal of polychlorinated biphenyls in
certain transformers because the timing of their retirements was
dependent on future events. For additional information, see Note
1 to the ﬁnancial statements under “Asset Retirement Obligations
and Other Costs of Removal.” At December 31, 2005, Southern
Company recorded additional asset retirement obligations (and
assets) of approximately $153 million. The adoption of FIN 47 did
not have any effect on Southern Company’s income statement.
Stock Options
On January 1, 2006, Southern Company adopted FASB Statement
No. 123R, Share-Based Payment, on a modiﬁed prospective basis.
This statement requires that compensation cost relating to sharebased payment transactions be recognized in ﬁnancial statements.
That cost will be measured based on the grant date fair value of the
equity or liability instruments issued. Although the compensation
expense required under the revised statement differs slightly, the
impacts on the Company’s ﬁnancial statements are similar to the
pro forma disclosures included in Note 1 to the ﬁnancial statements
under “Stock Options.”
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND LIQUIDITY

Overview
Southern Company’s ﬁnancial condition continued to be stable
at December 31, 2005. Net cash ﬂow from operating activities
totaled $2.5 billion, $2.7 billion, and $3.1 billion for 2005, 2004,
and 2003, respectively. The $165 million decrease for 2005 resulted
primarily from higher fuel costs at the retail operating companies,
partially offset by increases in base rates and fuel recovery rates.
The $376 million decrease from 2003 to 2004 also resulted primarily from higher fuel costs at the retail operating companies. Fuel
costs are recoverable in future periods and are reﬂected in the
balance sheets as under recovered regulatory clause revenues.
See FUTURE EARNINGS POTENTIAL – “PSC Matters – Fuel Cost
Recovery” herein for additional information.
Signiﬁcant balance sheet changes include a $0.4 billion
increase in long-term debt and preferred stock for 2005 due to
an increase of $1.1 billion in property, plant, and equipment. The
majority of funds needed for property additions were provided from
operating activities.
At the close of 2005, the closing price of Southern Company’s
common stock was $34.53 per share, compared with book value of
$14.42 per share. The market-to-book value ratio was 240 percent at
the end of 2005, compared with 242 percent at year-end 2004.
Each of the retail operating companies, Southern Power, and SCS
have received investment grade ratings from the major rating agencies.
Sources of Capital
Southern Company intends to meet its future capital needs through
internal cash ﬂow and external security issuances. Equity capital can
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be provided from any combination of the Company’s stock plans,
private placements, or public offerings. The amount and timing of
additional equity capital to be raised in 2006, as well as in subsequent years, will be contingent on Southern Company’s investment
opportunities. The Company does not currently anticipate any equity
offerings in 2006 outside of its existing stock option plan.
The retail operating companies plan to obtain the funds
required for construction and other purposes from sources similar
to those used in the past, which were primarily from operating
cash ﬂows, security issuances, and term loan and short-term borrowings. Gulf Power and Mississippi Power are considering other
ﬁnancing options for storm recovery costs. However, the type and
timing of any ﬁnancings, if needed, will depend upon prevailing
market conditions, regulatory approval, and other factors. The
issuance of securities by the retail operating companies is generally
subject to the approval of the applicable state PSC. In addition, the
issuance of all securities by Mississippi Power and Southern Power
and short-term securities by Georgia Power and Savannah Electric
is generally subject to regulatory approval by the FERC following
the repeal of the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935, as
amended (PUHCA), on February 8, 2006. Additionally, with respect
to the public offering of securities, Southern Company and certain
of its subsidiaries ﬁle registration statements with the Securities
and Exchange Commission under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended (1933 Act). The amounts of securities authorized by the
appropriate regulatory authorities, as well as the amounts registered
under the 1933 Act, are continuously monitored and appropriate
ﬁlings are made to ensure ﬂexibility in the capital markets.
Southern Power plans to use operating cash ﬂows, external
funds, and equity capital from Southern Company to ﬁnance its
capital expenditures. External funds are expected to be obtained
from the issuance of unsecured senior debt and commercial paper
or through credit arrangements from banks.
Southern Company and each retail operating company obtains
ﬁnancing separately without credit support from any afﬁliate. See
Note 6 to the ﬁnancial statements under “Bank Credit Arrangements”
for additional information. The Southern Company system does not
maintain a centralized cash or money pool. Therefore, funds of each
company are not commingled with funds of any other company.
Southern Company’s current liabilities frequently exceed
current assets because of the continued use of short-term debt as a
funding source to meet cash needs as well as scheduled maturities
of long-term debt. To meet short-term cash needs and contingencies, Southern Company has various sources of liquidity. In addition,
Southern Company has substantial cash ﬂow from operating activities and access to the capital markets, including commercial paper
programs, to meet liquidity needs.
At December 31, 2005, Southern Company and its subsidiaries had approximately $202 million of cash and cash equivalents
and $3.3 billion of unused credit arrangements with banks, of which
$810 million expire in 2006 and $2.5 billion expire in 2007 and
beyond. Approximately $228 million of the credit facilities expiring
in 2006 allow for the execution of term loans for an additional two-

year period, and $311 million allow for the execution of one-year
term loans. Most of these arrangements contain covenants that
limit debt levels and typically contain cross default provisions that
are restricted only to the indebtedness of the individual company.
Southern Company and its subsidiaries are currently in compliance
with all such covenants. See Note 6 to the ﬁnancial statements
under “Bank Credit Arrangements” for additional information.
Financing Activities
During 2005, Southern Company and its subsidiaries issued $1.6 billion of long-term debt and $55 million of preference stock. The security
issuances were used to redeem $1.3 billion of long-term debt, fund
Southern Company’s ongoing construction program, and for general
corporate purposes. In addition, Southern Company issued 10.1 million new shares of common stock through the Company’s stock plans
and realized proceeds of $213 million. In a program designed primarily to offset these issuances, Southern Company also repurchased
10.1 million shares of common stock at a total cost of $352 million.
The repurchase program was discontinued in early January 2006.
Subsequent to December 31, 2005, Alabama Power issued
$600 million of long-term senior notes to reduce short-term debt
and for other general corporate purposes. In conjunction with these
transactions, Alabama Power terminated $600 million notional
amount of interest rate swaps at a gain of $18 million. The gain will
be amortized to interest expense over a 10-year period. In addition,
Southern Company redeemed $72 million in long-term debt payable to afﬁliated trusts following the repurchase of the underlying
capital securities.
Off-Balance Sheet Financing Arrangements
In 2001, Mississippi Power began the initial 10-year term of a lease
agreement for a combined cycle generating facility built at Plant Daniel for approximately $370 million. In 2003, the generating facility was
acquired by Juniper Capital L.P. (Juniper), a limited partnership whose
investors are unafﬁliated with Mississippi Power. Simultaneously,
Juniper entered into a restructured lease agreement with Mississippi
Power. Juniper has also entered into leases with other parties unrelated to Mississippi Power. The assets leased by Mississippi Power
comprise less than 50 percent of Juniper’s assets. Mississippi Power
is not required to consolidate the leased assets and related liabilities,
and the lease with Juniper is considered an operating lease. The lease
also provides for a residual value guarantee, approximately 73 percent
of the acquisition cost, by Mississippi Power that is due upon termination of the lease in the event that Mississippi Power does not renew
the lease or purchase the assets and that the fair market value is less
than the unamortized cost of the assets. See Note 7 to the ﬁnancial
statements under “Operating Leases” for additional information.
Credit Rating Risk
Southern Company does not have any credit arrangements that would
require material changes in payment schedules or terminations as a
result of a credit rating downgrade. There are certain contracts that
could require collateral, but not accelerated payment, in the event of a
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credit rating change to BBB- or Baa3 or below. These contracts are primarily for physical electricity purchases and sales. At December 31,
2005, the maximum potential collateral requirements at a BBB- or
Baa3 rating were approximately $196.4 million. The maximum potential collateral requirements at a rating below BBB- or Baa3 were
approximately $602.3 million. Generally, collateral may be provided
by a Southern Company guaranty, letter of credit, or cash. Southern
Company is also party to certain derivative agreements that could
require collateral and/or accelerated payment in the event of a credit
rating change to below investment grade. These agreements are primarily for natural gas price risk management activities. At December
31, 2005, Southern Company and its subsidiaries had no material
exposure under these contracts.
Subsequent to December 31, 2005, the Company has entered
into additional physical electricity purchases and sales contracts
adding $9 million to the maximum potential collateral requirements
at a credit rating of BBB and Baa2 and $17 million at BBB- or Baa3
and below.

sale electricity market and, to a lesser extent, into similar contracts for
natural gas purchases. The retail operating companies have implemented fuel-hedging programs at the instruction of their respective
state PSCs. Southern Company Gas also utilized a risk management
program to substantially mitigate its exposure to price volatility for its
natural gas purchases.
The changes in fair value of energy-related derivative contracts and year-end valuations were as follows at December 31:
CHANGES IN FAIR VALUE
(in millions)

Contracts beginning of year
Contracts realized or settled

2005

2004

$ 10.5

$ 15.8
(58.7)

(106.1)

–

New contracts at inception

–

Changes in valuation techniques

–

–

196.1

53.4

$ 100.5

$ 10.5

Current period changes (a)
Contracts end of year

(a) Current period changes also include the changes in fair value of new contracts entered into
during the period.
SOURCE OF 2005 YEAR-END VALUATION PRICES

Market Price Risk
Southern Company is exposed to market risks, primarily commodity
price risk and interest rate risk. To manage the volatility attributable
to these exposures, the Company nets the exposures to take advantage of natural offsets and enters into various derivative transactions
for the remaining exposures pursuant to the Company’s policies in
areas such as counterparty exposure and risk management practices. Company policy is that derivatives are to be used primarily for
hedging purposes and mandates strict adherence to all applicable
risk management policies. Derivative positions are monitored using
techniques including, but not limited to, market valuation, value at
risk, stress testing, and sensitivity analysis.
To mitigate future exposure to change in interest rates, the
Company has entered into forward starting interest rate swaps that
have been designated as hedges. These swaps have a notional
amount of $930 million and are related to anticipated debt issuances over the next two years. The weighted average interest rate
on $1.5 billion of long-term variable interest rate exposure that has
not been hedged at January 1, 2006 was 4.37 percent. If Southern
Company sustained a 100 basis point change in interest rates for
all unhedged variable rate long-term debt, the change would affect
annualized interest expense by approximately $15.4 million at
January 1, 2006. For further information, see Notes 1 and 6 to the
ﬁnancial statements under “Financial Instruments.”
Due to cost-based rate regulations, the retail operating companies have limited exposure to market volatility in interest rates,
commodity fuel prices, and prices of electricity. In addition, Southern
Power’s exposure to market volatility in commodity fuel prices and
prices of electricity is limited because its long-term sales contracts
shift substantially all fuel cost responsibility to the purchaser. To
mitigate residual risks relative to movements in electricity prices, the
retail operating companies and Southern Power enter into ﬁxed-price
contracts for the purchase and sale of electricity through the whole-
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(in millions)

Actively quoted
External sources
Models and other
Contracts end of year

MATURITY

TOTAL
FAIR VALUE

2006

2007-2008

$ 101.6

$ 67.6

$ 34.0

(1.1)

(1.1)

–

–

–
–

$ 100.5

$ 66.5

$ 34.0

Unrealized gains and losses from mark-to-market adjustments
on derivative contracts related to the retail operating companies’ fuel
hedging programs are recorded as regulatory assets and liabilities.
Realized gains and losses from these programs are included in fuel
expense and are recovered through the retail operating companies’
fuel cost recovery clauses. In addition, unrealized gains and losses
on energy-related derivatives used by Southern Power to hedge
anticipated purchases and sales are deferred in other comprehensive income. Gains and losses on derivative contracts that are not
designated as hedges are recognized in the income statement as
incurred. At December 31, 2005, the fair value of derivative energy
contracts was reﬂected in the ﬁnancial statements as follows:
(in millions)

Regulatory liabilities, net
Other comprehensive income
Net income
Total fair value

AMOUNTS

$ 103.4
(0.3)
(2.6)
$ 100.5

Unrealized pre-tax gains and losses recognized in income
were not material for any year presented.
Southern Company is exposed to market price risk in the event
of nonperformance by counterparties to the derivative energy contracts. Southern Company’s policy is to enter into agreements with
counterparties that have investment grade credit ratings by Moody’s
and Standard & Poor’s or with counterparties who have posted
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collateral to cover potential credit exposure. Therefore, Southern
Company does not anticipate market risk exposure from nonperformance by the counterparties. For additional information, see Notes 1
and 6 to the ﬁnancial statements under “Financial Instruments.”
Capital Requirements and Contractual Obligations
The construction program of Southern Company is currently
estimated to be $2.8 billion for 2006, $3.6 billion for 2007, and
$3.1 billion for 2008. Environmental expenditures included in these
amounts are $0.8 billion, $1.3 billion, and $1.1 billion for 2006,
2007, and 2008, respectively. Actual construction costs may vary
from this estimate because of changes in such factors as: business
conditions; environmental regulations; nuclear plant regulations;
FERC rules and regulations; load projections; the cost and efﬁciency
of construction labor, equipment, and materials; and the cost
of capital. In addition, there can be no assurance that costs related
to capital expenditures will be fully recovered.
As a result of NRC requirements, Alabama Power and
Georgia Power have external trust funds for nuclear decommis-

sioning costs; however, Alabama Power currently has no additional
funding requirements. For additional information, see Note 1 to
the ﬁnancial statements under “Nuclear Decommissioning.” Also,
as discussed in Note 1 to the ﬁnancial statements under “Nuclear
Fuel Disposal Costs,” in 1993 the DOE implemented a special
assessment over a 15-year period on utilities with nuclear plants,
to be used for the decontamination and decommissioning of its
nuclear fuel enrichment facilities. The ﬁnal installment is scheduled to occur in 2006.
In addition, as discussed in Note 2 to the ﬁnancial statements,
Southern Company provides postretirement beneﬁts to substantially
all employees and funds trusts to the extent required by the retail
operating companies’ respective regulatory commissions.
Other funding requirements related to obligations associated with scheduled maturities of long-term debt and preferred
securities, as well as the related interest, derivative obligations,
preferred and preference stock dividends, leases, and other purchase commitments are as follows. See Notes 1, 6, and 7 to the
ﬁnancial statements for additional information.

Contractual Obligations
(in millions)

2006

2007-2008

2009 -2010

Af ter 2010

Total

$ 901

$ 1,966

$ 834

$10,065

$13,766

688

1,246

1,108

9,752

12,794

Long-term debt(a) –
Principal
Interest
Other derivative obligations(b) –
Commodity
Preferred and preference stock dividends(c)
Operating leases

32

–

–

–

32

33

65

65

–

163

123

205

156

259

743

Purchase commitments(d) –
Capital(e)

2,772

6,673

–

–

9,445

Coal

3,129

3,959

1,558

364

9,010

Nuclear fuel

63

62

34

89

248

Natural gas(f)

1,495

1,286

740

3,046

6,567

175

356

305

541

1,377

71

175

180

1,334

1,760

Purchased power
Long-term service agreements
Trusts –
Nuclear decommissioning

7

14

14

117

152

45

88

–

–

133

DOE

9

–

–

–

9

Total

$ 9,543

$16,095

$ 4,994

$25,567

$56,199

Postretirement beneﬁts(g)

(a) All amounts are reﬂected based on ﬁnal maturity dates. Southern Company and its subsidiaries plan to continue to retire higher-cost securities and replace these obligations with lower-cost capital if market conditions
permit. Variable rate interest obligations are estimated based on rates as of January 1, 2006, as reﬂected in the statements of capitalization. Fixed rates include, where applicable, the effects of interest rate derivatives
employed to manage interest rate risk.
(b) For additional information, see Notes 1 and 6 to the ﬁnancial statements.
(c) Preferred and preference stock do not mature; therefore, amounts are provided for the next ﬁve years only.
(d) Southern Company generally does not enter into non-cancelable commitments for other operation and maintenance expenditures. Total other operation and maintenance expenses for 2005, 2004, and 2003 were
$3.5 billion, $3.3 billion, and $3.2 billion, respectively.
(e) Southern Company forecasts capital expenditures over a three-year period. Amounts represent current estimates of total expenditures excluding those amounts related to contractual purchase commitments for uranium
and nuclear fuel conversion, enrichment, and fabrication services. At December 31, 2005, signiﬁcant purchase commitments were outstanding in connection with the construction program.
(f) Natural gas purchase commitments are based on various indices at the time of delivery. Amounts reﬂected have been estimated based on the New York Mercantile Exchange future prices at December 31, 2005.
(g) Southern Company forecasts postretirement trust contributions over a three-year period. No contributions related to Southern Company’s pension trust are currently expected during this period. See Note 2 to the
ﬁnancial statements for additional information related to the pension and postretirement plans, including estimated beneﬁt payments. Certain beneﬁt payments will be made through the related trusts. Other beneﬁt
payments will be made from Southern Company’s corporate assets.
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Southern Company’s 2005 Annual Report contains forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements include, among other
things, statements concerning the strategic goals for Southern
Company’s wholesale business, retail sales growth, storm damage
cost recovery and repairs, environmental regulations and expenditures, earnings growth, dividend payout ratios, the Company’s
projections for postretirement beneﬁt trust contributions, ﬁnancing activities, access to sources of capital, the proposed merger
of Savannah Electric and Georgia Power, impacts of the adoption
of new accounting rules, completion of construction projects, and
estimated construction and other expenditures. In some cases, forward-looking statements can be identiﬁed by terminology such as
“may,” “will,” “could,” “should,” “expects,” “plans,” “anticipates,”
“believes,” “estimates,” “projects,” “predicts,” “potential,” or “continue” or the negative of these terms or other similar terminology.
There are various factors that could cause actual results to differ
materially from those suggested by the forward-looking statements;
accordingly, there can be no assurance that such indicated results
will be realized. These factors include:
• the impact of recent and future federal and state regulatory change, including legislative and regulatory initiatives
regarding deregulation and restructuring of the electric utility
industry, implementation of the Energy Policy Act of 2005,
and also changes in environmental, tax, and other laws and
regulations to which Southern Company and its subsidiaries
are subject, as well as changes in application of existing laws
and regulations;
• current and future litigation, regulatory investigations,
proceedings, or inquiries, including the pending EPA civil
actions against certain Southern Company subsidiaries,
FERC matters, IRS audits, and Mirant matters;
• the effects, extent, and timing of the entry of additional
competition in the markets in which Southern Company’s
subsidiaries operate;
• variations in demand for electricity and gas, including those
relating to weather, the general economy and population,
and business growth (and declines);
• available sources and costs of fuels;

• ability to control costs;
• investment performance of Southern Company’s employee
beneﬁt plans;
• advances in technology;
• state and federal rate regulations and the impact of pending
and future rate cases and negotiations, including rate cases
relating to fuel cost recovery;
• the performance of projects undertaken by the non-utility
businesses and the success of efforts to invest in and develop
new opportunities;
• internal restructuring or other restructuring options that may
be pursued;
• potential business strategies, including acquisitions or dispositions of assets or businesses, which cannot be assured
to be completed or beneﬁcial to Southern Company or its
subsidiaries;
• the ability of counterparties of Southern Company and its
subsidiaries to make payments as and when due;
• the ability to obtain new short- and long-term contracts with
neighboring utilities;
• the direct or indirect effect on Southern Company’s business
resulting from terrorist incidents and the threat of terrorist
incidents;
• interest rate ﬂuctuations and ﬁnancial market conditions
and the results of ﬁnancing efforts, including Southern
Company’s and its subsidiaries’ credit ratings;
• the ability of Southern Company and its subsidiaries to obtain
additional generating capacity at competitive prices;
• catastrophic events such as ﬁres, earthquakes, explosions,
ﬂoods, hurricanes, or other similar occurrences;
• the direct or indirect effects on Southern Company’s business resulting from incidents similar to the August 2003
power outage in the Northeast;
• the effect of accounting pronouncements issued periodically
by standard setting bodies; and
• other factors discussed elsewhere herein and in other reports
(including the Form 10-K) ﬁled by Southern Company from
time to time with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Southern Company expressly disclaims any obligation to update
any forward-looking statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
FOR THE YEARS END E D D E C E M B E R 3 1 , 2 0 0 5 , 2 0 0 4 , A N D 2 0 0 3

2005

2004

2003

$ 11,165
1,667
446
276

$ 9,732
1,341
392
264

$ 8,875
1,358
514
271

13,554

11,729

11,018

4,495
731
2,394
1,116
1,176
680

3,399
643
2,263
1,027
949
627

2,999
473
2,177
937
1,022
586

10,592

8,908

8,194

2,962

2,821

2,824

(in millions)

OPERATING REVENUES:

Retail sales
Sales for resale
Other electric revenues
Other revenues
Total operating revenues
OPERATING EXPENSES:

Fuel
Purchased power
Other operations
Maintenance
Depreciation and amortization
Taxes other than income taxes
Total operating expenses
OPERATING INCOME
OTHER INCOME AND (EXPENSE):

Allowance for equity funds used during construction
Interest income
Equity in losses of unconsolidated subsidiaries
Leveraged lease income
Interest expense, net of amounts capitalized
Interest expense to affiliate trusts
Distributions on mandatorily redeemable preferred securities
Preferred dividends of subsidiaries
Other income (expense), net

51
36
(119)
74
(619)
(128)
–
(30)
(41)

47
27
(95)
70
(540)
(100)
(27)
(30)
(59)

25
36
(99)
66
(527)
–
(151)
(21)
(52)

Total other income and (expense)

(776)

(707)

(723)

Income taxes

2,186
595

2,114
585

2,101
618

EARNINGS FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS

1,591

1,529

1,483

–

3

(9)

$ 1,591

$ 1,532

$ 1,474

$

2.14
2.13

$

2.07
2.06

$

2.04
2.03

$

2.14
2.13

$

2.07
2.06

$

2.03
2.02

EARNINGS FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEFORE INCOME TAXES

Earnings from discontinued operations, net of income taxes
of $ –, $2, and $(6) for 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively
CONSOLIDATED NET INCOME
COMMON STOCK DATA:

Earnings per share from continuing operations –
Basic
Diluted
Earnings per share including discontinued operations –
Basic
Diluted
Average number of shares of common stock outstanding – (in millions)
Basic
Diluted
Cash dividends paid per share of common stock

744
749

739
743

727
732

$ 1.475

$ 1.415

$ 1.385

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
AT D E C E M B E R 3 1 , 2 0 0 5 A N D 2 0 0 4

ASSETS (in millions)

2004

2005

CURRENT ASSETS:

Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables–
Customer accounts receivable
Unbilled revenues
Under recovered regulatory clause revenues
Other accounts and notes receivable
Accumulated provision for uncollectible accounts
Fossil fuel stock, at average cost
Vacation pay
Materials and supplies, at average cost
Assets from risk management activities
Prepaid expenses
Other
Total current assets

$

202
868
304
770
410
(38)
398
109
671
125
130
256

$

368
697
304
532
310
(33)
308
105
602
38
126
134

4,205

3,491

In service
Less accumulated depreciation

43,578
15,727

41,425
14,947

Nuclear fuel, at amortized cost
Construction work in progress

27,851
262
1,367

26,478
218
1,662

Total property, plant, and equipment

29,480

28,358

Nuclear decommissioning trusts, at fair value
Leveraged leases
Other

954
1,082
337

905
976
366

Total other property and investments

2,373

2,247

937
1,022
162
309

864
986
153
323

531
525
333

–
253
280

PROPERTY, PLANT, AND EQUIPMENT:

OTHER PROPERTY AND INVESTMENTS:

DEFERRED CHARGES AND OTHER ASSETS :

Deferred charges related to income taxes
Prepaid pension costs
Unamortized debt issuance expense
Unamortized loss on reacquired debt
Deferred under recovered regulatory clause revenues
Other regulatory assets
Other
Total deferred charges and other assets
TOTAL ASSETS
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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3,819

2,859

$ 39,877

$ 36,955

CONSOLIDAT ED BALANCE SHEETS

CONTINUED

AT DE C E M B E R 3 1 , 2 0 0 5 A N D 2 0 0 4

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (in millions)

2004

2005

CURRENT LIABILITIES:

Securities due within one year
Notes payable
Accounts payable
Customer deposits
Accrued taxes–
Income taxes
Other
Accrued interest
Accrued vacation pay
Accrued compensation
Other

$

901
1,258
1,229
220

$

983
426
877
199

104
319
204
144
459
402

47
242
179
137
424
284

5,240

3,798

10,958

10,488

1,888

1,961

5,736
311
527
930
1,117
1,295
323
267

5,243
373
552
864
903
1,296
328
310

Total deferred credits and other liabilities

10,506

9,869

TOTAL LIABILITIES

28,592

26,116

596

561

Total current liabilities
LONG-TERM DEBT (See accompanying statements)
LONG-TERM DEBT PAYABLE TO AFFILIATED TRUSTS (See accompanying statements)
DEFERRED CREDITS AND OTHER LIABILITIES:

Accumulated deferred income taxes
Deferred credits related to income taxes
Accumulated deferred investment tax credits
Employee benefit obligations
Asset retirement obligations
Other cost of removal obligations
Other regulatory liabilities
Other

PREFERRED AND PREFERENCE STOCK OF SUBSIDIARIES (See accompanying statements)
COMMON STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (See accompanying statements)
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

10,689

10,278

$ 39,877

$ 36,955

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT MATTERS (See notes)
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEA R S E N D E D D E C E M B E R 3 1 , 2 0 0 5 , 2 0 0 4 , A N D 2 0 0 3

(in millions)

2005

2004

2003

$ 1,591

$ 1,532

$ 1,474

1,398
499
48
(51)
119
(74)
(6)
50
(19)
(22)

1,161
559
–
(47)
95
(70)
(22)
31
(10)
37

1,281
427
–
(25)
99
(66)
(40)
30
(116)
32

(1,045)
(110)
(78)
(1)
71
28
13
119
2,530

(392)
(8)
(31)
9
29
(109)
(23)
(46)
2,695

(11)
(17)
(12)
26
(88)
19
(11)
69
3,071

(2,370)
(606)
596
(115)
(128)
(6)
(2,629)

(2,022)
(810)
781
(97)
(75)
(35)
(2,258)

(1,964)
(1,007)
978
(94)
(80)
(27)
(2,194)

831

(141)

(366)

1,608
–
55
213

1,861
200
175
124

3,494
–
125
470

OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Consolidated net income
Adjustments to reconcile consolidated net income to net cash
provided from operating activities –
Depreciation and amortization
Deferred income taxes and investment tax credits
Storm damage accounting order
Allowance for equity funds used during construction
Equity in losses of unconsolidated subsidiaries
Leveraged lease income
Pension, postretirement, and other employee benefits
Tax benefit of stock options
Hedge settlements
Other, net
Changes in certain current assets and liabilities –
Receivables
Fossil fuel stock
Materials and supplies
Other current assets
Accounts payable
Accrued taxes
Accrued compensation
Other current liabilities
Net cash provided from operating activities
INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Property additions
Nuclear decommissioning trust fund purchases
Nuclear decommissioning trust fund sales
Investment in unconsolidated subsidiaries
Cost of removal net of salvage
Other
Net cash used for investing activities
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Increase (decrease) in notes payable, net
Proceeds–
Long-term debt
Mandatorily redeemable preferred securities
Preferred and preference stock
Common stock
Redemptions–
Long-term debt
Mandatorily redeemable preferred securities
Preferred and preference stock
Common stock repurchased
Payment of common stock dividends
Other
Net cash (used for) provided from financing activities
NET CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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(1,285)
–
(4)
(352)
(1,098)
(35)
(67)
(166)
368
$
202

(1,246)
(240)
(28)
–
(1,045)
(40)
(380)
57
311
$
368

(3,009)
(480)
–
–
(1,004)
(69)
(839)
38
273
$ 311

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CAPITALIZATION
AT DE C E M B E R 3 1 , 2 0 0 5 A N D 2 0 0 4

PERCENT OF TOTAL

2004

2005

(in millions)

2005

2004

LONG-TERM DEBT OF SUBSIDIARIES:

First mortgage bonds –
Maturity
Interest Rates
2006
6.50% to 6.90%
2025 through 2026
6.88% to 7.45%
Total first mortgage bonds
Long-Term senior notes and debt–
Maturity
Interest Rates
2005
5.49% to 5.50%
2006
2.65% to 6.20%
2007
3.50% to 7.13%
2008
2.54% to 6.55%
2009
4.10% to 7.00%
2010
4.70%
2011 through 2044
4.00% to 8.12%
Adjustable rates (at 1/1/06):
2005
1.66% to 3.63%
2006
2.11%
2007
2.11% to 5.755%
2009
4.53% to 4.64%
2010
5.41%
Total long-term senior notes and debt
Other long-term debt–
Pollution control revenue bonds –
Maturity
Interest Rates
Collateralized:
2006
5.25%
2024
5.50%
Variable rates (at 1/1/06):
2015 through 2017
2.01% to 2.16%
Non-collateralized:
2012 through 2034
2.83% to 5.45%
Variable rates (at 1/1/06):
2011 through 2038
2.01% to 3.87%
Total other long-term debt
Capitalized lease obligations
Unamortized debt (discount), net
Total long-term debt (annual interest
requirement–$ 561 million)
Less amount due within one year
Long-term debt excluding amount due within one year

$

45
–
45

$

45
60
105

–
674
1,207
461
128
102
5,637

379
674
1,220
462
169
102
4,433

–
27
265
440
154
9,095

563
195
90
440
–
8,727

12
3

12
24

90

90

850

850

1,586
2,541
110
(19)

1,565
2,541
115
(17)

11,772
814
10,958

11,471
983
10,488

45.4%
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CAPITALIZATION

CONTINUED

AT D E C E M B E R 3 1 , 2 0 0 5 A N D 2 0 0 4

PERCENT OF TOTAL

2005

2004

2027 through 2044
4.75% to 8.19%
(annual interest requirement – $128 million)
Less amount due within one year

1,960
72

1,961
–

Total long-term debt payable to affiliated trusts
excluding amount due within one year

1,888

1,961

96

100

294
123

294
123

44

44

54

–

Total preferred and preference stock of subsidiaries
(annual dividend requirement – $33 million)
Less amount due within one year

611
15

561
–

Preferred and preference stock of subsidiaries
excluding amount due within one year

596

561

3,759

3,709

1,085
(359)
6,332
(128)

869
(6)
5,839
(133)

(in millions)

2005

2004

7.8

8.4

2.5

2.4

LONG-TERM DEBT PAYABLE TO AFFILIATED TRUSTS:

Maturity

Interest Rates

PREFERRED AND PREFERENCE STOCK OF SUBSIDIARIES:

Cumulative preferred stock
$100 par or stated value–4.20% to 5.44%
Authorized – 20 million shares
Outstanding – 1 million shares
$1 par value – 4.95% to 5.83%
Authorized – 28 million shares
Outstanding – 12 million shares: $25 stated value
Outstanding – 1,250 shares: $100,000 stated value
Non-cumulative preferred stock
$25 par or stated value–6.00%
Authorized – 4 million shares
Outstanding – 2 million shares
Non-cumulative preference stock
$100 par or stated value–6.00%
Authorized – 10 million shares
Outstanding – 1 million shares

COMMON STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY:

Common stock, par value $5 per share –
Authorized – 1 billion shares
Issued
– 2005: 752 million shares
– 2004: 742 million shares
Treasury
– 2005: 10.4 million shares
– 2004: 0.2 million shares
Paid-in capital
Treasury, at cost
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Total common stockholders’ equity
TOTAL CAPITALIZATION
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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10,689

10,278

44.3

44.1

$24,131

$23,288

100.0%

100.0%

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMMON STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
FOR THE YEARS END E D D E C E M B E R 3 1 , 2 0 0 5 , 2 0 0 4 , A N D 2 0 0 3

ACCUMULATED OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

COMMON STOCK
PAR
VALUE

PAID –IN
CAPITAL

$ 3,583
–
–
92
–
–

$ 338
–
–
408
–
1

3,675
–
–
34
–
–

Net income
Other comprehensive income (loss)
Stock issued
Stock repurchased, at cost
Cash dividends
Other
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2005

(in millions)

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2002

Net income
Other comprehensive income (loss)
Stock issued
Cash dividends
Other
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2003

Net income
Other comprehensive income (loss)
Stock issued
Cash dividends
Other
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2004

TREASURY

$

RETAINED
EARNINGS

CONTINUING DISCONTINUED
OPERATIONS
OPERATIONS

TOTAL

(3)
–
–
–
–
(1)

$ 4,874
1,474
–
–
(1,004)
(1)

$ (95)
–
(20)
–
–
–

$ 13
–
(11)
–
–
–

$ 8,710
1,474
(31)
500
(1,004)
(1)

747
–
–
122
–
–

(4)
–
–
–
–
(2)

5,343
1,532
–
–
(1,044)
8

(115)
–
(16)
–
–
–

2
–
(4)
–
–
–

9,648
1,532
(20)
156
(1,044)
6

3,709
–
–
50
–
–
–

869
–
–
216
–
–
–

(6)
–
–
–
(352)
–
(1)

5,839
1,591
–
–
–
(1,098)
–

(131)
–
3
–
–
–
–

(2)
–
2
–
–
–
–

10,278
1,591
5
266
(352)
(1,098)
(1)

$ 3,759

$1,085

$(359)

$ 6,332

$(128)

$

–

$ 10,689

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEARS END E D D E C E M B E R 3 1 , 2 0 0 5 , 2 0 0 4 , A N D 2 0 0 3

(in millions)

CONSOLIDATED NET INCOME

Other comprehensive income (loss)–continuing operations:
Change in additional minimum pension liability,
net of tax of $(6), $(11), and $(11), respectively
Change in fair value of marketable securities,
net of tax of $(2) and $4, respectively
Changes in fair value of qualifying hedges,
net of tax of $7, $(11), and $(12), respectively
Less: Reclassification adjustment for amounts included
in net income, net of tax of $4, $8, and $9, respectively
Total other comprehensive income (loss)–continuing operations
Other comprehensive income (loss)–discontinued operations:
Changes in fair value of qualifying hedges,
net of tax of $4, $(1), and $10, respectively
Less: Reclassification adjustment for amounts included
in net income, net of tax of $(3), $(1), and $(8), respectively
Total other comprehensive income (loss)–discontinued operations
CONSOLIDATED COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2005

2004

2003

$ 1,591

$1,532

$ 1,474

(11)

(20)

(17)

(4)

6

–

12

(16)

(20)

6

14

17

3

(16)

(20)

6

(2)

3

(4)

(2)

(14)

2

(4)

(11)

$ 1,596

$1,512

$ 1,443

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

N OT E 1 :
S U M M A RY O F SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

General
Southern Company (the Company) is the parent company of
ﬁve retail operating companies, Southern Power Company
(Southern Power), Southern Company Services (SCS), Southern
Communications Services (SouthernLINC Wireless), Southern
Company Holdings (Southern Holdings), Southern Nuclear Operating Company (Southern Nuclear), Southern Telecom, and other
direct and indirect subsidiaries. The retail operating companies,
Alabama Power, Georgia Power, Gulf Power, Mississippi Power, and
Savannah Electric, provide electric service in four Southeastern
states. Southern Power constructs, owns, and manages Southern
Company’s competitive generation assets and sells electricity at
market-based rates in the wholesale market. Contracts among the
retail operating companies and Southern Power, related to jointly
owned generating facilities, interconnecting transmission lines,
or the exchange of electric power, are regulated by the Federal
Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC). SCS, the system service
company, provides, at cost, specialized services to Southern
Company and the subsidiary companies. SouthernLINC Wireless
provides digital wireless communications services to the retail
operating companies and also markets these services to the public
within the Southeast. Southern Telecom provides ﬁber cable services within the Southeast. Southern Holdings is an intermediate
holding subsidiary for Southern Company’s investments in synthetic fuels and leveraged leases and various other energy-related
businesses. Southern Nuclear operates and provides services to
Southern Company’s nuclear power plants.
On January 4, 2006, Southern Company completed the sale
of substantially all the assets of Southern Company Gas, its competitive retail natural gas marketing subsidiary, including natural
gas inventory, accounts receivable, and customer list, to Gas South,
LLC, an afﬁliate of Cobb Electric Membership Corporation. As a
result of the sale, Southern Company’s ﬁnancial statements and
related information reﬂect Southern Company Gas as discontinued
operations. For additional information, see Note 3 under “Southern
Company Gas Sale.”
The ﬁnancial statements reﬂect Southern Company’s investments in the subsidiaries on a consolidated basis. The equity method
is used for subsidiaries in which the Company has signiﬁcant inﬂuence but does not control and for variable interest entities where the
Company is not the primary beneﬁciary. All material intercompany
items have been eliminated in consolidation. Certain prior years’
data presented in the ﬁnancial statements have been reclassiﬁed to
conform with the current year presentation.
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Southern Company was registered as a holding company
under the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935, as amended
(PUHCA), until its repeal on February 8, 2006, and the Company
and its subsidiaries were subject to the regulatory provisions of the
PUHCA. The retail operating companies, Southern Power, and certain of their subsidiaries are subject to regulation by the FERC and
the retail operating companies are also subject to regulation by their
respective state public service commissions (PSC). The companies
follow accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
and comply with the accounting policies and practices prescribed
by their respective commissions. The preparation of ﬁnancial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States requires the use of estimates, and the actual
results may differ from those estimates.
Related Party Transactions
Alabama Power and Georgia Power purchase synthetic fuel from
Alabama Fuel Products, LLC (AFP), an entity in which Southern
Holdings holds a 30 percent ownership interest. Total fuel purchases
for 2005, 2004, and 2003 were $507 million, $409 million, and
$312 million, respectively. Synfuel Services, Inc. (SSI), another subsidiary of Southern Holdings, provides fuel transportation services
to AFP that are ultimately reﬂected in the cost of the synthetic fuel
billed to Alabama Power and Georgia Power. In connection with
these services, the related revenues of approximately $83 million,
$82 million, and $65 million in 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively,
have been eliminated against fuel expense in the ﬁnancial statements. SSI also provides additional services to AFP, as well as to
a related party of AFP. Revenues from these transactions totaled
approximately $40 million, $24 million, and $20 million in 2005,
2004, and 2003, respectively.
Regulatory Assets and Liabilities
The retail operating companies are subject to the provisions of
Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Statement No. 71,
Accounting for the Effects of Certain Types of Regulation. Regulatory assets represent probable future revenues associated with
certain costs that are expected to be recovered from customers
through the ratemaking process. Regulatory liabilities represent
probable future reductions in revenues associated with amounts
that are expected to be credited to customers through the rate-

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

making process. Regulatory assets and (liabilities) reﬂected in the
balance sheets at December 31 relate to:
2005

(in millions)

Deferred income tax charges

$

937

$

2004

NOTE

865

(a)

7

(a)
(a)

Asset retirement obligations-asset

81

Asset retirement obligations-liab.

(139)

(180)

Other cost of removal obligations

(1,295)

(1,296)

(a)

(313)

(374)

(a)
(b)

Deferred income tax credits
Loss on reacquired debt

309

323

Vacation pay

109

105

(c)

Building lease

52

53

(d)
(d)

Generating plant outage costs-asset

54

49

366

97

(d)

Fuel hedging

(116)

(27)

(d)

Other assets

Storm damage-asset

139

115

(d)

Environmental remediation-asset

58

59

(d)

Environmental remediation-liab.

(36)

(47)

(d)

Deferred purchased power

(52)

(19)

(d)

Other liabilities

(32)

(26)

(d)

Plant Daniel capacity

(19)

(44)

(e)

Total

$

103

$ (340)

Note: The recovery and amortization periods for these regulatory assets and (liabilities) are as follows:
(a) Asset retirement and removal liabilities are recorded, deferred income tax assets are recovered, and
deferred tax liabilities are amortized over the related property lives, which may range up to 60 years. Asset
retirement and removal liabilities will be settled and trued up following completion of the related activities.
(b) Recovered over either the remaining life of the original issue or, if reﬁnanced, over the life of the new
issue, which may range up to 50 years.
(c) Recorded as earned by employees and recovered as paid, generally within one year.
(d) Recorded and recovered or amortized as approved by the appropriate state PSCs.
(e) Amortized over four-year period ending in 2007.

In the event that a portion of a retail operating company’s
operations is no longer subject to the provisions of FASB Statement
No. 71, such company would be required to write off related regulatory assets and liabilities that are not speciﬁcally recoverable through
regulated rates. In addition, the retail operating company would be
required to determine if any impairment to other assets, including
plant, exists and write down the assets, if impaired, to their fair
value. All regulatory assets and liabilities are to be reﬂected in rates.
Revenues
Capacity revenues are generally recognized on a levelized basis over
the appropriate contract periods. Energy and other revenues are
recognized as services are provided. Unbilled revenues are accrued
at the end of each ﬁscal period. Electric rates for the retail operating companies include provisions to adjust billings for ﬂuctuations
in fuel costs, fuel hedging, the energy component of purchased
power costs, and certain other costs. Revenues are adjusted for differences between these actual costs and amounts billed in current
regulated rates. Under or over recovered regulatory clause revenues
are recorded in the balance sheets and are recovered or returned to
customers through adjustments to the billing factors.
Retail fuel costs recovery mechanisms vary by each retail
operating company, but in general, the process requires periodic

ﬁlings with the appropriate state PSC. Alabama Power continuously
monitors the under/over recovered balance and ﬁles for a revised
fuel rate when management deems appropriate. The Georgia
PSC requires that such amounts be reviewed semi-annually. If the
amount under or over recovered exceeds $50 million at the evaluation date, Georgia Power is required to ﬁle for a temporary fuel
rate change. If the over or under recovery exceeds 10 percent of
the projected fuel costs for the period, Gulf Power is required to
notify the Florida PSC to determine if an adjustment to the fuel
cost recovery factor is necessary. Mississippi Power is required to
ﬁle for an adjustment to the fuel cost recovery factor annually. See
“Alabama Power Retail Regulatory Matters” and “Georgia Power
Retail Regulatory Matters” in Note 3 for additional information.
Southern Company has a diversiﬁed base of customers.
No single customer or industry comprises 10 percent or more of
revenues. For all periods presented, uncollectible accounts averaged
less than 1 percent of revenues despite an increase in customer
bankruptcies.
Fuel Costs
Fuel costs are expensed as the fuel is used. Fuel expense generally includes the cost of purchased emission allowances as they
are used. Fuel expense also includes the amortization of the cost
of nuclear fuel and a charge, based on nuclear generation, for the
permanent disposal of spent nuclear fuel. Total charges for nuclear
fuel included in fuel expense amounted to $134 million in 2005,
$134 million in 2004, and $138 million in 2003.
Nuclear Fuel Disposal Costs
Alabama Power and Georgia Power have contracts with the U.S.
Department of Energy (DOE) that provide for the permanent disposal
of spent nuclear fuel. The DOE failed to begin disposing of spent
nuclear fuel in 1998 as required by the contracts, and Alabama
Power and Georgia Power are pursuing legal remedies against the
government for breach of contract. Sufﬁcient pool storage capacity
for spent fuel is available at Plant Vogtle to maintain full-core discharge capability for both units into 2015. Construction of an on-site
dry storage facility at Plant Vogtle is scheduled to begin in sufﬁcient
time to maintain pool full-core discharge capability. At Plants Hatch
and Farley, on-site dry storage facilities are operational and can be
expanded to accommodate spent fuel through the life of each plant.
Also, the Energy Policy Act of 1992 established a Uranium
Enrichment Decontamination and Decommissioning Fund, which
is funded in part by a special assessment on utilities with nuclear
plants. This assessment has been paid over a 15-year period; the ﬁnal
installment is scheduled to occur in 2006. This fund will be used by
the DOE for the decontamination and decommissioning of its nuclear
fuel enrichment facilities. The law provides that utilities will recover
these payments in the same manner as any other fuel expense.
Alabama Power and Georgia Power, based on its ownership interest,
estimate their respective remaining liability at December 31, 2005
under this law to be approximately $5 million and $4 million.
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Property, Plant, and Equipment
Property, plant, and equipment is stated at original cost less
regulatory disallowances and impairments. Original cost includes:
materials; labor; minor items of property; appropriate administrative
and general costs; payroll-related costs such as taxes, pensions,
and other beneﬁts; and the interest capitalized and/or cost of funds
used during construction.
Southern Company’s property, plant, and equipment consisted of the following at December 31 (in millions):

Generation
Transmission
Distribution
General

2005

2004

$ 22,490

$21,262

6,031

5,770

11,894

11,368

2,393

2,268

41

42

42,849

40,710

IT equipment and software

211

214

Communications equipment

431

404

Plant acquisition adjustment
Utility plant in service

Other
Other plant in service
Total plant in service

87

97

729

715

$ 43,578

$41,425

The cost of replacements of property, exclusive of minor
items of property, is capitalized. The cost of maintenance, repairs,
and replacement of minor items of property is charged to maintenance expense as incurred or performed with the exception of
nuclear refueling costs, which are recorded in accordance with speciﬁc state PSC orders. Alabama Power accrues estimated refueling
costs in advance of the unit’s next refueling outage. Georgia Power
defers and amortizes refueling costs over the unit’s operating cycle
before the next refueling. The refueling cycles for Alabama Power
and Georgia Power range from 18 to 24 months for each unit. In
accordance with a Georgia PSC order, Georgia Power also defers
the costs of certain signiﬁcant inspection costs for the combustion
turbines at Plant McIntosh and amortizes such costs over 10 years,
which approximates the expected maintenance cycle.
Income Taxes
Southern Company uses the liability method of accounting for
deferred income taxes and provides deferred income taxes for all
signiﬁcant income tax temporary differences. Investment tax credits utilized are deferred and amortized to income over the average
life of the related property.
Depreciation and Amortization
Depreciation of the original cost of utility plant in service is provided
primarily by using composite straight-line rates, which approximated
2.9 percent in 2005, 3.0 percent in 2004, and 3.1 percent in 2003.
Depreciation studies are conducted periodically to update the composite rates. These studies are ﬁled with the respective state PSC for
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the retail operating companies. Accumulated depreciation for utility
plant in service totaled $15.3 billion and $14.6 billion at December 31,
2005 and 2004, respectively. When property subject to composite
depreciation is retired or otherwise disposed of in the normal course
of business, its original cost, together with the cost of removal, less
salvage, is charged to accumulated depreciation. For other property
dispositions, the applicable cost and accumulated depreciation
is removed from the balance sheet accounts and a gain or loss is
recognized. Minor items of property included in the original cost of
the plant are retired when the related property unit is retired.
Under its 2001 rate order, the Georgia PSC ordered Georgia
Power to amortize $333 million, the cumulative balance of accelerated depreciation and amortization previously expensed, equally
over three years as a credit to depreciation and amortization expense
beginning January 2002. Georgia Power was also ordered to recognize new certiﬁed purchased power costs in rates evenly over the
three-year period by the 2001 rate order. As a result of this regulatory
adjustment, Georgia Power recorded depreciation and amortization
expense of $(77) million and $14 million in 2004 and 2003, respectively. See Note 3 under “Georgia Power Retail Regulatory Matters”
for additional information.
In May 2004, the Mississippi PSC approved Mississippi
Power’s request to reclassify 266 megawatts of Plant Daniel units 3
and 4 capacity to jurisdictional cost of service effective January 1,
2004 and authorized Mississippi Power to include the related costs
and revenue credits in jurisdictional rate base, cost of service, and
revenue requirement calculations for purposes of retail rate recovery. Mississippi Power is amortizing the related regulatory liability
pursuant to the Mississippi PSC’s order as follows: $16.5 million in
2004, $25.1 million in 2005, $13.0 million in 2006, and $5.7 million
in 2007, resulting in increases to earnings in each of those years.
Depreciation of the original cost of other plant in service is
provided primarily on a straight-line basis over estimated useful lives
ranging from 3 to 25 years. Accumulated depreciation for other
plant in service totaled $378 million and $345 million at December
31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
Asset Retirement Obligations and Other Costs of Removal
Effective January 1, 2003, Southern Company adopted FASB
Statement No. 143, Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations,
which established new accounting and reporting standards for legal
obligations associated with the ultimate costs of retiring long-lived
assets. The present value of the ultimate costs for an asset’s future
retirement is recorded in the period in which the liability is incurred.
The costs are capitalized as part of the related long-lived asset
and depreciated over the asset’s useful life. In addition, effective
December 31, 2005, Southern Company adopted the provisions of
FASB Interpretation No. 47, Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations, which requires that an asset retirement obligation be recorded
even though the timing and/or method of settlement are conditional
on future events. Prior to December 2005, the Company did not
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recognize asset retirement obligations for asbestos removal and disposal of polychlorinated biphenyls in certain transformers because
the timing of their retirements was dependent on future events.
The Company has received accounting guidance from the various
state PSCs allowing the continued accrual of other future retirement
costs for long-lived assets that the Company does not have a legal
obligation to retire. Accordingly, the accumulated removal costs for
these obligations will continue to be reﬂected in the balance sheets
as a regulatory liability. Therefore, the Company had no cumulative effect to net income resulting from the adoption of Statement
No. 143 or Interpretation No. 47.
The liability recognized to retire long-lived assets primarily
relates to the Company’s nuclear facilities, Plants Farley, Hatch, and
Vogtle. The fair value of assets legally restricted for settling retirement obligations related to nuclear facilities as of December 31,
2005 was $954 million. In addition, the Company has retirement
obligations related to various landﬁll sites and underground storage
tanks. In connection with the adoption of Interpretation No. 47,
Southern Company also recorded additional asset retirement obligations (and assets) of approximately $153 million, primarily related
to asbestos removal and disposal of polychlorinated biphenyls in
certain transformers. The Company has also identiﬁed retirement
obligations related to certain transmission and distribution facilities,
co-generation facilities, certain wireless communication towers,
and certain structures authorized by the United States Army Corps
of Engineers. However, liabilities for the removal of these assets
have not been recorded because the range of time over which the
Company may settle these obligations is unknown and cannot be
reasonably estimated. The Company will continue to recognize in
the statements of income allowed removal costs in accordance
with its regulatory treatment. Any divfference between costs recognized under Statement No. 143 and Interpretation No. 47 and
those reﬂected in rates are recognized as either a regulatory asset
or liability, as ordered by the various state PSCs, and are reﬂected
in the balance sheets. See “Nuclear Decommissioning” herein for
further information on amounts included in rates.
Details of the asset retirement obligations included in the
balance sheets are as follows:
(in millions)

Balance beginning of year
Liabilities incurred

2005

2004

$ 903

$ 845

155

–

Liabilities settled

(2)

(3)

Accretion
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Cash ﬂow revisions

–

4

Balance end of year

$ 1,117

$ 903

If Interpretation No. 47 had been adopted as of December 31,
2004, the pro forma asset retirement obligations would have been
$1.0 billion.

Nuclear Decommissioning
The Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) requires licensees of
commercial nuclear power reactors to establish a plan for providing reasonable assurance of funds for future decommissioning.
Alabama Power and Georgia Power have external trust funds to
comply with the NRC’s regulations. Use of the funds is restricted
to nuclear decommissioning activities and the funds are managed and invested in accordance with applicable requirements
of various regulatory bodies, including the NRC, the FERC, and
state PSCs, as well as the Internal Revenue Service (IRS). The trust
funds are invested in a tax-efﬁcient manner in a diversiﬁed mix
of equity and ﬁxed income securities and are classiﬁed as available-for-sale. The trust funds are included in the balance sheets at
fair value, as obtained from quoted market prices for the same or
similar investments. Details of the securities held in these trusts at
December 31 are as follows:
(in millions)

UNREALIZED
GAINS

UNREALIZED
LOSSES

FAIR
VALUE

2005
Equity

$ 155.6

$ (14.0)

$ 600.8

Debt

4.1

(2.4)

241.4

Other

17.0

–

111.4

$ 176.7

$ (16.4)

$ 953.6

UNREALIZED
GAINS

UNREALIZED
LOSSES

FAIR
VALUE

$ 566.3

Total

(in millions)

2004
Equity

$ 140.0

$ (8.3)

Debt

8.5

(0.7)

233.5

Other

13.6

(0.2)

105.0

$ 162.1

$ (9.2)

$ 904.8

Total

The contractual maturities of debt securities at December 31,
2005 are as follows: $17.3 million in 2006; $90.1 million in 20072010; $59.5 million in 2011-2015; and $65.5 million thereafter.
Sales of the securities held in the trust funds resulted in
proceeds of $596.3 million, $781.3 million, and $978.1 million in
2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively, all of which were re-invested.
Net realized gains (losses) were $22.5 million, $21.6 million and
$19.6 million in 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively. Realized gains
and losses are determined on a speciﬁc identiﬁcation basis. In
accordance with regulatory guidance, all realized and unrealized
gains and losses are included in the regulatory liability for Asset
Retirement Obligations in the balance sheets and are not included
in net income or other comprehensive income. Unrealized gains
and losses are considered non-cash transactions for purposes of
the statements of cash ﬂow. Unrealized losses were not material
in any period presented and did not require the recognition of any
impairment related to the underlying investments.
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Amounts previously recorded in internal reserves are being transferred
into the external trust funds over periods approved by the respective
state PSCs. The NRC’s minimum external funding requirements are
based on a generic estimate of the cost to decommission only the
radioactive portions of a nuclear unit based on the size and type of
reactor. Alabama Power and Georgia Power have ﬁled plans with the
NRC designed to ensure that, over time, the deposits and earnings of
the external trust funds will provide the minimum funding amounts
prescribed by the NRC. At December 31, 2005, the accumulated
provisions for decommissioning were as follows:

(in millions)

External trust funds, at fair value
Internal reserves
Total

PLANT
FARLEY

PLANT
HATCH

PLANT
VOGTLE

$467

$ 313

$174

28

–

1

$495

$ 313

$175

Site study cost is the estimate to decommission a speciﬁc
facility as of the site study year. The estimated costs of decommissioning based on the most current studies, which were performed
in 2003, for Alabama Power’s Plant Farley and Georgia Power’s
ownership interests in Plants Hatch and Vogtle were as follows:
PLANT
FARLEY

PLANT
HATCH

PLANT
VOGTLE

Beginning year

2017

2034

2027

Completion year

2046

2065

2048

$892

$497

$452

63

49

58

$955

$546

$510

Decommissioning periods:

(in millions)

Site study costs:
Radiated structures
Non-radiated structures
Total

The decommissioning cost estimates are based on prompt
dismantlement and removal of the plant from service. The actual
decommissioning costs may vary from the above estimates because
of changes in the assumed date of decommissioning, changes in
NRC requirements, or changes in the assumptions used in making
these estimates.
For ratemaking purposes, Alabama Power’s decommissioning
costs are based on the site study and Georgia Power’s decommissioning costs are based on the NRC generic estimate to decommission
the radioactive portion of the facilities as of 2003, $421 million and
$326 million for Plants Hatch and Vogtle, respectively. Amounts
expensed in 2005, 2004, and 2003 totaled $7 million, $27 million, and
$27 million, respectively. Signiﬁcant assumptions used to determine
these costs for ratemaking were an inﬂation rate of 4.5 percent and
3.1 percent for Alabama Power and Georgia Power, respectively, and a
trust earnings rate of 7.0 percent and 5.1 percent for Alabama Power
and Georgia Power, respectively. Another signiﬁcant assumption
used was the change in the operating licenses for Plants Farley and

60

SOUTHERN COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 2005 ANNUAL REPORT

Hatch. In January 2002, the NRC granted Georgia Power a 20-year
extension of the licenses for both units at Plant Hatch, which permits
the operation of units 1 and 2 until 2034 and 2038, respectively.
In May 2005, the NRC granted Alabama Power a similar 20-year
extension of the operating license for both units at Plant Farley. As a
result of the Farley license extension, amounts previously contributed
to the external trust fund are currently projected to be adequate to
meet the decommissioning obligations. Therefore, in June 2005,
the Alabama PSC approved Alabama Power’s request to suspend,
effective January 1, 2005, the inclusion in its annual cost of service of
$18 million in decommissioning costs and to also suspend the associated obligation to make semi-annual contributions to the external
trust fund. Alabama Power will continue to provide site speciﬁc estimates of the decommissioning costs and related projections of trust
funds to the Alabama PSC and, if necessary, would seek the Alabama
PSC’s approval to address any changes in a manner consistent with
NRC and other applicable requirements. The approved suspension
would not affect the transfer of internal reserves (less than $1 million
annually) to the external trust over the remaining life of the licenses.
Allowance for Funds Used During Construction
(AFUDC) and Interest Capitalized
In accordance with regulatory treatment, the retail operating
companies record AFUDC. AFUDC represents the estimated debt
and equity costs of capital funds that are necessary to ﬁnance the
construction of new regulated facilities. While cash is not realized
currently from such allowance, it increases the revenue requirement over the service life of the plant through a higher rate base
and higher depreciation expense. Interest related to the construction of new facilities not included in the retail operating companies’
regulated rates is capitalized in accordance with standard interest
capitalization requirements.
Cash payments for interest totaled $661 million, $551 million, and $603 million in 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively, net
of amounts capitalized of $21 million, $36 million, and $49 million,
respectively.
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and Intangibles
Southern Company evaluates long-lived assets for impairment
when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value of such assets may not be recoverable. The determination of
whether an impairment has occurred is based on either a speciﬁc
regulatory disallowance or an estimate of undiscounted future cash
ﬂows attributable to the assets, as compared with the carrying
value of the assets. If an impairment has occurred, the amount of
the impairment recognized is determined by either the amount of
regulatory disallowance or by estimating the fair value of the assets
and recording a loss if the carrying value is greater than the fair
value. For assets identiﬁed as held for sale, the carrying value is
compared to the estimated fair value less the cost to sell in order
to determine if an impairment provision is required. Until the assets
are disposed of, their estimated fair value is re-evaluated when
circumstances or events change.
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Storm Damage Reserves
Each retail operating company maintains a reserve for property
damage to cover the cost of uninsured damages from major storms
to transmission and distribution facilities and to generation facilities
and other property. In accordance with their respective state PSC
orders, the retail operating companies accrued $15 million in 2005
that is recoverable through base rates. Alabama Power, Gulf Power,
and Mississippi Power also have discretionary authority from their
state PSCs to accrue certain additional amounts as circumstances
warrant. In 2005, 2004, and 2003, such additional accruals totaled
$6 million, $25 million, and $8 million, respectively. See Note 3 under
“Storm Damage Recovery” for additional information regarding the
depletion of these reserves following Hurricanes Ivan, Dennis, and
Katrina and the deferral of additional costs, as well as additional rate
riders or other cost recovery mechanisms which may be approved
by the respective state PSCs to replenish these reserves.

Leveraged Leases
Southern Company has several leveraged lease agreements,
ranging up to 45 years, which relate to international and domestic
energy generation, distribution, and transportation assets. Southern Company receives federal income tax deductions for rent or
depreciation and amortization, as well as interest on long-term debt
related to these investments.
Southern Company’s net investment in domestic leveraged
leases consists of the following at December 31:

Environmental Cost Recovery
Southern Company must comply with other environmental laws
and regulations that cover the handling and disposal of waste and
releases of hazardous substances. Under these various laws and
regulations, the subsidiaries may also incur substantial costs to
clean up properties. Alabama Power, Gulf Power, and Mississippi
Power have each received authority from their respective state
PSCs to recover approved environmental compliance costs through
speciﬁc retail rate clauses. Within limits approved by the state PSCs,
these rates are adjusted annually.
Georgia Power continues to recover environmental costs
through its base rates. Beginning in 2005, such rates include an
annual accrual of $5.4 million. Environmental remediation expenditures will be charged against the reserve as they are incurred.
The annual accrual amount will be reviewed and adjusted in future
regulatory proceedings. Under Georgia PSC ratemaking provisions,
$22 million had previously been deferred in a regulatory liability
account for use in meeting future environmental remediation costs
of Georgia Power and is being amortized over a three-year period
that began in January 2005.
In September 2004, Gulf Power increased its liability for the
estimated costs of environmental remediation projects by approximately $47 million. This increase related to new regulations and
more stringent site closure criteria by the Florida Department of
Environmental Protection (FDEP) for impacts to soil and groundwater from herbicide applications at Gulf Power substations. The
schedule for completion of the remediation projects will be subject
to FDEP approval. The projects have been approved by the Florida
PSC for recovery, as expended, through Gulf Power’s environmental
cost recovery clause; therefore, there was no impact on net income
as a result of these revised estimates.
For Southern Company, the environmental remediation
liabilities balances as of December 31, 2005 and 2004 totaled
$62 million and $63 million, respectively.

A summary of the components of income from domestic
leveraged leases is as follows:

(in millions)

Net rentals receivable

2005

2004

$ 509

$ 457

(280)

(283)

Investment in leveraged leases

229

174

Deferred taxes arising from leveraged leases

(59)

Unearned income

Net investment in leveraged leases

(32)
$ 142

$ 170

(in millions)

2005

2004

2003

Pretax leveraged lease income

$ 23

$17

$11

Income tax expense
Net leveraged lease income

(11)
$ 12

(8)

(4)

$ 9

$ 7

Southern Company’s net investment in international leveraged leases consists of the following at December 31:
(in millions)

Net rentals receivable
Unearned income

2005

2004

$ 1,298

$ 1,298
(496)

(445)

Investment in leveraged leases
Deferred taxes arising from leveraged leases
Net investment in leveraged leases

853

802

(351)

(360)

$ 502

$ 442

A summary of the components of income from international
leveraged leases is as follows:
(in millions)

2005

2004

2003

Pretax leveraged lease income

$ 51

$ 53

$ 55

Income tax expense
Net leveraged lease income

(18)
$ 33

(19)

(19)

$ 34

$ 36
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Cash and Cash Equivalents
For purposes of the ﬁnancial statements, temporary cash investments are considered cash equivalents. Temporary cash investments
are securities with original maturities of 90 days or less.
Materials and Supplies
Generally, materials and supplies include the average costs of
transmission, distribution, and generating plant materials. Materials
are charged to inventory when purchased and then expensed or
capitalized to plant, as appropriate, when installed.

The estimated fair values of stock options granted in 2005,
2004, and 2003 were derived using the Black-Scholes stock option
pricing model. The following table shows the assumptions and the
weighted average fair values of stock options:
2005

Interest rate

3.9%

2004

2003

3.1%

2.7%

Average expected life of
stock options (in years)
Expected volatility of common stock

5.0

5.0

4.3

17.9%

19.6%

23.6%

Expected annual dividends

Fuel Inventory
Fuel inventory includes the average costs of oil, coal, natural gas,
and emission allowances. Fuel is charged to inventory when purchased and then expensed as used. Emission allowances granted
by the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) are included in
inventory at zero cost.
Stock Options
Southern Company accounts for its stock-based compensation plans
in accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25.
Accordingly, no compensation expense has been recognized because
the exercise price of all options granted equaled the fair-market value
on the date of grant.
For pro forma purposes, Southern Company generally recognizes stock option expense on a straight-line basis over the vesting
period. Stock options granted to employees who are eligible for
retirement are expensed at the grant date. The pro forma impact of
fair-value accounting for options granted on earnings from continuing operations is as follows:
AS
REPORTED

OPTIONS
IMPACT

PRO
FORMA

$1,591

$ (17)

$1,574

Basic

$ 2.14

$ (0.02)

$ 2.12

Diluted

$ 2.13

$ (0.03)

$ 2.10

$ 1,529

$

(16)

$ 1,513

Basic

$ 2.07

$ (0.02)

$ 2.05

Diluted

$ 2.06

$ (0.02)

$ 2.04

$ 1,483

$

(17)

$ 1,466

Basic

$ 2.04

$ (0.02)

$ 2.02

Diluted

$ 2.03

$ (0.03)

$ 2.00

2005
Net income (in millions)
Earnings per share (dollars):

2004
Net income (in millions)
Earnings per share (dollars):

on common stock
of stock options granted

Net income (in millions)
Earnings per share (dollars):

$ 1.40

$ 1.37

$3.90

$ 3.29

$ 3.59

Financial Instruments
Southern Company uses derivative ﬁnancial instruments to limit
exposure to ﬂuctuations in interest rates, the prices of certain fuel
purchases, and electricity purchases and sales. All derivative ﬁnancial instruments are recognized as either assets or liabilities and are
measured at fair value. Substantially all of Southern Company’s
bulk energy purchases and sales contracts that meet the deﬁnition
of a derivative are exempt from fair value accounting requirements
and are accounted for under the accrual method. Other derivative
contracts qualify as cash ﬂow hedges of anticipated transactions or
are recoverable through the retail operating companies’ fuel hedging programs. This results in the deferral of related gains and losses
in other comprehensive income or regulatory assets and liabilities,
respectively, until the hedged transactions occur. Any ineffectiveness arising from cash ﬂow hedges is recognized currently in net
income. Other derivative contracts are marked to market through
current period income and are recorded on a net basis in the statements of income.
Southern Company is exposed to losses related to ﬁnancial
instruments in the event of counterparties’ nonperformance. The
Company has established controls to determine and monitor
the creditworthiness of counterparties in order to mitigate the
Company’s exposure to counterparty credit risk.
The other Southern Company ﬁnancial instruments for which
the carrying amount does not equal fair value at December 31 were
as follows:
(in millions)

2003

$1.43

Weighted average fair value

CARRYING AMOUNT

FAIR VALUE

2005

$13,623

$13,633

2004

13,317

13,560

Long-term debt:

The fair values were based on either closing market price or
closing price of comparable instruments.
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Comprehensive Income
The objective of comprehensive income is to report a measure of all
changes in common stock equity of an enterprise that result from
transactions and other economic events of the period other than
transactions with owners. Comprehensive income consists of net
income, changes in the fair value of qualifying cash ﬂow hedges
and marketable securities, and changes in additional minimum pension liability, less income taxes and reclassiﬁcations for amounts
included in net income.
Variable Interest Entities
The primary beneﬁciary of a variable interest entity must consolidate
the related assets and liabilities. Southern Company has established certain wholly-owned trusts established to issue preferred
securities. See Note 6 under “Mandatorily Redeemable Preferred
Securities/Long-Term Debt Payable to Afﬁliated Trusts” for additional
information. However, Southern Company and the retail operating
companies are not the primary beneﬁciaries of the trusts. Therefore,
the investments in these trusts are reﬂected as Other Investments,
and the related loans from the trusts are reﬂected as Long-term
Debt Payable to Afﬁliated Trusts in the balance sheets.
In addition, Southern Company holds an 85 percent limited
partnership investment in an energy/technology venture capital
fund that is consolidated in the ﬁnancial statements. During the
third quarter of 2004, Southern Company terminated new investments in this fund; however, additional contributions to existing
investments will still occur. Southern Company has committed
to a maximum investment of $50 million. At December 31, 2005,
Southern Company’s investment totaled $25.6 million.
N OT E 2 :
R E T I R E M E N T B E N E FITS

Southern Company has a deﬁned beneﬁt, trusteed, pension plan
covering substantially all employees. The plan is funded in accordance with requirements of the Employee Retirement Income
Security Act of 1974, as amended (ERISA). In 2005, the plan was
amended to provide an additional monthly supplement to certain
retirees. No contributions to the plan are expected for the year ending December 31, 2006. Southern Company also provides certain
non-qualiﬁed beneﬁt plans for a selected group of management and
highly compensated employees. Beneﬁts under these non-qualiﬁed
plans are funded on a cash basis. In addition, Southern Company
provides certain medical care and life insurance beneﬁts for retired
employees. The retail operating companies fund related trusts to
the extent required by their respective regulatory commissions. For
the year ended December 31, 2006, postretirement trust contributions are expected to total approximately $45 million.
The measurement date for plan assets and obligations is
September 30 for each year presented.

Pension Plans
The total accumulated beneﬁt obligation for the pension plans was
$5.2 billion in 2005 and $4.6 billion in 2004. Changes during the
year in the projected beneﬁt obligations, accumulated beneﬁt obligations, and fair value of plan assets were as follows:
PROJECTED
BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS
(in millions)

Balance at beginning of year

2005

2004

$ 5,075

$ 4,573
128

Service cost

138

Interest cost

286

270

Beneﬁts paid

(214)

(207)

Plan amendments
Actuarial (gain) loss
Balance at end of year

32

6

240

305

$ 5,557

$ 5,075
PLAN ASSETS

2005

2004

Balance at beginning of year

$ 5,476

$ 5,159

Actual return on plan assets

866

501

(in millions)

Employer contributions
Beneﬁts paid
Balance at end of year

19

23

(214)

(207)
$ 5,476

$ 6,147

In 2005, the projected beneﬁt obligations for the qualiﬁed
and non-qualiﬁed pension plans were $5.2 billion and $0.4 billion,
respectively. All plan assets are related to the qualiﬁed plan.
Pension plan assets are managed and invested in accordance
with all applicable requirements, including ERISA and the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (Internal Revenue Code). The
Company’s investment policy covers a diversiﬁed mix of assets,
including equity and ﬁxed income securities, real estate, and private
equity, as described in the table below. Derivative instruments are
used primarily as hedging tools but may also be used to gain efﬁcient exposure to the various asset classes. The Company primarily
minimizes the risk of large losses through diversiﬁcation but also
monitors and manages other aspects of risk.
PLAN ASSETS

Target

2005

2004

Domestic equity

36%

40%

36%

International equity

24

24

20

Fixed income

15

17

26

Real estate

15

13

10

Private equity

10

6

8

100%

100%

100%

Total
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The reconciliations of the funded status with the accrued
pension costs recognized in the balance sheets were as follows:
(in millions)

Funded status
Unrecognized transition amount

2005

2004

$ 590

$401

(6)

Unrecognized prior service cost
Unrecognized net (gain) loss
Prepaid pension asset, net

(14)

293

292

3

185

$ 880

$864

Postretirement Benefits
Changes during the year in the accumulated beneﬁt obligations and
in the fair value of plan assets were as follows:
ACCUMULATED
BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS
(in millions)

Balance at beginning of year

(in millions)

Prepaid pension asset
Employee beneﬁt obligations

2005

2004

$ 1,022

$ 986

(310)

Other property and investments
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Prepaid pension asset, net

(280)

43

50

125

108

$ 880

$ 864

Components of the pension plans’ net periodic cost were
as follows:
(in millions)

Service cost

2005

2004

2003

$ 138

$ 128

$ 115

Interest cost
Expected return on plan assets

286

269

261

(456)

(452)

(450)
(42)

Recognized net gain

10

(7)

Net amortization

24

18

17

2

$ (44)

$ (99)

Net pension cost (income)

$

Future beneﬁt payments reﬂect expected future service and
are estimated based on assumptions used to measure the projected
beneﬁt obligation for the pension plans. At December 31, 2005,
estimated beneﬁt payments were as follows:
(in millions)

2006

$ 222

2007

230

2008

238

2009

248

2010

262

2011 to 2015

1,596

2004

$ 1,655
27

Service cost

28

Interest cost

96

93

Beneﬁts paid

(78)

(68)

Actuarial (gain) loss

The prepaid pension asset, net is reﬂected in the balance
sheets in the following line items:

2005

$ 1,712

Plan amendments
Balance at end of year

68

72

–

(67)

$ 1,826

$ 1,712
PLAN ASSETS

2005

2004

Balance at beginning of year

$ 592

$522

Actual return on plan assets

78

64

Employer contributions

92

74

(78)

(68)

(in millions)

Beneﬁts paid
Balance at end of year

$592

$ 684

Postretirement beneﬁts plan assets are managed and invested
in accordance with all applicable requirements, including ERISA and
the Internal Revenue Code. The Company’s investment policy covers
a diversiﬁed mix of assets, including equity and ﬁxed income securities, real estate, and private equity, as described in the table below.
Derivative instruments are used primarily as hedging tools but may
also be used to gain efﬁcient exposure to the various asset classes.
The Company primarily minimizes the risk of large losses through
diversiﬁcation but also monitors and manages other aspects of risk.
PLAN ASSETS
TARGET

2005

2004

Domestic equity

44%

46%

43%

International equity

17

18

18

Fixed income

29

29

32

Real estate

6

5

4

Private equity

4

2

3

100%

100%

100%

Total

The accrued postretirement costs recognized in the balance
sheets were as follows:
(in millions)

Funded status

2005

$ (1,142)

2004

$ (1,120)

Unrecognized transition obligation

114

129

Unrecognized prior service cost

121

130

Unrecognized net loss (gain)

428

408

Fourth quarter contributions

40

30

Accrued liability recognized in the
balance sheets

64
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Components of the postretirement plans’ net periodic cost
were as follows:
(in millions)

Service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on plan assets
Net amortization
Net postretirement cost

2005

2004

2003

$ 28

$ 28

$ 25

97

93

93

(45)

(50)

(47)

38

35

30

$ 118

$106

$101

An additional assumption used in measuring the APBO was
a weighted average medical care cost trend rate of 10.25 percent
for 2005, decreasing gradually to 4.75 percent through the year
2014 and remaining at that level thereafter. An annual increase or
decrease in the assumed medical care cost trend rate of 1 percent
would affect the accumulated beneﬁt obligation and the service and
interest cost components at December 31, 2005 as follows:
(in millions)

Beneﬁt obligation

In the third quarter 2004, Southern Company prospectively
adopted FASB Staff Position (FSP) 106-2, Accounting and Disclosure Requirements related to the Medicare Prescription Drug,
Improvement, and Modernization Act of 2003 (Medicare Act). The
Medicare Act provides a 28 percent prescription drug subsidy for
Medicare eligible retirees. FSP 106-2 requires recognition of the
impacts of the Medicare Act in the accumulated postretirement
beneﬁt obligation (APBO) and future cost of service for postretirement medical plan. The effect of the subsidy reduced Southern
Company’s expenses for the six months ended December 31,
2004 and for the year ended December 31, 2005 by approximately
$10.6 million and $26 million, respectively, and is expected to
have a similar impact on future expenses.
Future beneﬁt payments, including prescription drug
beneﬁts, reﬂect expected future service and are estimated based
on assumptions used to measure the accumulated beneﬁt obligation for the postretirement plans. Estimated beneﬁt payments
are reduced by drug subsidy receipts expected as a result of the
Medicare Act as follows:
BENEFIT
PAYMENTS

SUBSIDY
RECEIPTS

TOTAL

2006

$ 86

$ (7)

$ 79

2007

92

(9)

83

2008

100

(10)

90

2009

110

(11)

99

2010

119

(12)

107

2011 to 2015

668

(88)

580

(in millions)

Service and interest costs

1 PERCENT
INCREASE

1 PERCENT
DECREASE

$149

$132

10

9

Employee Savings Plan
Southern Company also sponsors a 401(k) deﬁned contribution plan
covering substantially all employees. The Company provides a 75 percent matching contribution up to 6 percent of an employee’s base
salary. Total matching contributions made to the plan for 2005, 2004,
and 2003 were $58 million, $56 million, and $55 million, respectively.
NOTE 3:
CONTINGENCIES AND REGULATORY MATTERS

General Litigation Matters
Southern Company is subject to certain claims and legal actions arising
in the ordinary course of business. In addition, Southern Company’s
business activities are subject to extensive governmental regulation
related to public health and the environment. Litigation over environmental issues and claims of various types, including property damage,
personal injury, and citizen enforcement of environmental requirements such as opacity and other air quality standards, has increased
generally throughout the United States. In particular, personal injury
claims for damages caused by alleged exposure to hazardous materials
have become more frequent. The ultimate outcome of such pending
or potential litigation against Southern Company and its subsidiaries
cannot be predicted at this time; however, for current proceedings not
speciﬁcally reported herein, management does not anticipate that the
liabilities, if any, arising from such current proceedings would have a
material adverse effect on Southern Company’s ﬁnancial statements.

Actuarial Assumptions
The weighted average rates assumed in the actuarial calculations used
to determine both the beneﬁt obligations and the net periodic costs
for the pension and postretirement beneﬁt plans were as follows:
2005

2004

Discount

5.50%

5.75%

Annual salary increase

3.00

3.50

Long-term return on plan assets

8.50

8.50

Mirant Matters
Mirant Corporation (Mirant) is an energy company with businesses
that include independent power projects and energy trading and risk
management companies in the U.S. and selected other countries. It
2003
was a wholly-owned subsidiary of Southern Company until its initial
6.00% public offering in October 2000. In April 2001, Southern Company
3.75
completed a spin-off to its shareholders of its remaining ownership
8.50
and Mirant became an independent corporate entity.

The Company determined the long-term rate of return
based on historical asset class returns and current market conditions, taking into account the diversiﬁcation beneﬁts of investing
in multiple asset classes.

Mirant Bankruptcy
In July 2003, Mirant and certain of its afﬁliates ﬁled voluntary
petitions for relief under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code in the U.S.
Bankruptcy Court for the Northern District of Texas. The Bankruptcy
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Court entered an order conﬁrming Mirant’s plan of reorganization
on December 9, 2005, and Mirant announced that this plan became
effective on January 3, 2006. As part of the plan, Mirant transferred
substantially all of its assets and its restructured debt to a new corporation that adopted the name Mirant Corporation (Reorganized Mirant).
Southern Company has certain contingent liabilities associated with guarantees of contractual commitments made by Mirant’s
subsidiaries discussed in Note 7 under “Guarantees” and with various lawsuits related to Mirant discussed below. Southern Company
has paid approximately $1.4 million in connection with the guarantees. Also, Southern Company has joint and several liability with
Mirant regarding the joint consolidated federal income tax returns
through 2001, as discussed in Note 5. In December 2004, as a
result of concluding an IRS audit for the tax years 2000 and 2001,
Southern Company paid $39 million in additional tax and interest for
issues related to Mirant tax items. Based on management’s assessment of the collectibility of this receivable, Southern Company has
reserved approximately $12.5 million.
Under the terms of the separation agreements entered into
in connection with the spin-off, Mirant agreed to indemnify Southern Company for costs associated with these guarantees, lawsuits,
and additional IRS assessments. However, as a result of Mirant’s
bankruptcy, Southern Company sought reimbursement as an unsecured creditor in Mirant’s Chapter 11 proceeding. Mirant and The
Ofﬁcial Committee of Unsecured Creditors of Mirant Corporation
(Unsecured Creditors’ Committee) objected to and sought equitable
subordination of Southern Company’s claims, and Mirant moved to
reject the separation agreements entered into in connection with
the spin-off. If Southern Company’s claims for indemniﬁcation with
respect to these, or any additional future payments, are allowed,
then Mirant’s indemnity obligations to Southern Company would
constitute unsecured claims against Mirant entitled to stock in
Reorganized Mirant, the value of which is uncertain. The ﬁnal outcome of this matter cannot now be determined.
Mirant Bankruptcy Litigation
In June 2005, Mirant, as a debtor in possession, and the Unsecured
Creditors’ Committee ﬁled a complaint against Southern Company in
the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the Northern District of Texas, which
was amended in July 2005 and February 2006. The complaint alleges
that Southern Company caused Mirant to engage in certain fraudulent transfers and to pay illegal dividends to Southern Company prior
to the spin-off. The alleged fraudulent transfers and illegal dividends
include without limitation: (1) certain dividends from Mirant to
Southern Company in the aggregate amount of $668 million, (2) the
repayment of certain intercompany loans and accrued interest in an
aggregate amount of $1.035 billion, and (3) the dividend distribution of one share of Series B Preferred Stock and its subsequent
redemption in exchange for Mirant’s 80 percent interest in a holding
company that owned SE Finance Capital Corporation and Southern
Company Capital Funding, Inc., which transfer Mirant asserts is
valued at $248 million. The complaint also seeks to recharacterize
certain advances from Southern Company to Mirant for investments
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in energy facilities from debt to equity. The complaint further alleges
that Southern Company is liable to Mirant’s creditors for the full
amount of Mirant’s liability under an alter ego theory of recovery and
that Southern Company caused Mirant to breach its ﬁduciary duties
to creditors. The complaint seeks monetary damages in excess of
$2 billion plus interest, punitive damages, attorneys’ fees, and costs.
Finally, Mirant objects to Southern Company’s claims against Mirant
in the Bankruptcy Court (which relate to reimbursement under the
separation agreements of payments such as income taxes, interest,
legal fees, and other guarantees described in Note 7) and seeks equitable subordination of Southern Company’s claims to the claims of all
other creditors. Southern Company served an answer to the second
amended complaint in February 2006.
On December 29, 2005, the Bankruptcy Court entered an
order transferring this proceeding, along with certain other actions,
to a special purpose subsidiary of Reorganized Mirant. Under the
order, Reorganized Mirant is obligated to fund up to $20 million in
professional fees in connection with the lawsuits, as well as certain
additional amounts. Any net recoveries from these lawsuits will be
distributed to and shared equally by the unsecured creditors and
the original equity holders.
On January 10, 2006, the U.S. District Court for the Northern
District of Texas granted Southern Company’s motion to withdraw
this action from the Bankruptcy Court, and on February 15, 2006
granted Southern Company’s motion to transfer the case to the
U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Georgia. Southern
Company believes there is no meritorious basis for the claims in the
complaint and is vigorously defending itself in this action. However,
the ﬁnal outcome of this matter cannot now be determined.
Mirant Securities Litigation
In November 2002, Southern Company, certain former and current
senior ofﬁcers of Southern Company, and 12 underwriters of Mirant’s
initial public offering were added as defendants in a class action lawsuit that several Mirant shareholders originally ﬁled against Mirant and
certain Mirant ofﬁcers in May 2002. Several other similar lawsuits ﬁled
subsequently were consolidated into this litigation in the U.S. District
Court for the Northern District of Georgia. The amended complaint is
based on allegations related to alleged improper energy trading and
marketing activities involving the California energy market, alleged
false statements and omissions in Mirant’s prospectus for its initial
public offering and in subsequent public statements by Mirant, and
accounting-related issues previously disclosed by Mirant. The lawsuit
purports to include persons who acquired Mirant securities between
September 26, 2000 and September 5, 2002.
In July 2003, the court dismissed all claims based on Mirant’s
alleged improper energy trading and marketing activities involving
the California energy market. The remaining claims do not allege
any improper trading and marketing activity, accounting errors,
or material misstatements or omissions on the part of Southern
Company but seek to impose liability on Southern Company based
on allegations that Southern Company was a “control person” as to
Mirant prior to the spin-off date. Southern Company ﬁled an answer
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to the consolidated amended class action complaint in September
2003. Plaintiffs have also ﬁled a motion for class certiﬁcation.
During Mirant’s Chapter 11 proceeding, the securities litigation was stayed, with the exception of limited discovery. Since
Mirant’s plan of reorganization has become effective, the stay has
been lifted, and activity in this case is expected to resume.
Under certain circumstances, Southern Company will be
obligated under its Bylaws to indemnify the four current and/or
former Southern Company ofﬁcers who served as directors of
Mirant at the time of its initial public offering through the date of
the spin-off and who are also named as defendants in this lawsuit.
The ﬁnal outcome of this matter cannot now be determined.
Southern Company Employee Savings Plan Litigation
In June 2004, an employee of a Southern Company subsidiary ﬁled
a complaint, which was amended in December 2004 and November
2005 in the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Georgia
on behalf of a purported class of participants in or beneﬁciaries of
The Southern Company Employee Savings Plan (Plan) at any time
since April 2, 2001 and whose Plan accounts included investments
in Mirant common stock. The complaint asserts claims under ERISA
against defendants Southern Company, SCS, the Employee Savings
Plan Committee, the Pension Fund Investment Review Committee,
individual members of such committees, and the SCS Board of
Directors during the putative class period. The plaintiff alleges that
the various defendants had certain ﬁduciary duties under ERISA
regarding the Mirant shares distributed to Southern Company shareholders in the spin-off and held in the Mirant Stock Fund in the Plan.
The plaintiff alleges that the various defendants breached purported
ﬁduciary duties by, among other things, failing to adequately determine whether Mirant stock was appropriate to hold in the Plan and
failing to adequately inform Plan participants that Mirant stock was
not an appropriate investment for their retirement assets based on
Mirant’s alleged improper energy trading and accounting practices,
mismanagement, and business conditions. The plaintiff also alleges
that certain defendants failed to monitor Plan ﬁduciaries and that
certain defendants had conﬂicting interests regarding Mirant, which
prevented them from acting solely in the interests of Plan participants
and beneﬁciaries. The plaintiff seeks class-wide equitable relief and an
unspeciﬁed amount of monetary damages.
On October 4, 2005, the court dismissed the plaintiff’s claims
for certain types of equitable relief, but allowed the remainder of
the ERISA claims to proceed. The defendants ﬁled answers to the
second amended complaint in January 2006, and ﬁled motions for
summary judgment and to stay discovery in February 2006. The
ultimate outcome of this matter cannot now be determined.
Environmental Matters
New Source Review Actions
In November 1999, the EPA brought a civil action in the U.S.
District Court for the Northern District of Georgia against certain
Southern Company subsidiaries, including Alabama Power and
Georgia Power, alleging that these subsidiaries had violated the

New Source Review (NSR) provisions of the Clean Air Act and
related state laws at certain coal-ﬁred generating facilities. Through
subsequent amendments and other legal procedures, the EPA
added Savannah Electric as a defendant to the original action and
ﬁled a separate action against Alabama Power in the U.S. District
Court for the Northern District of Alabama after it was dismissed
from the original action. In these lawsuits, the EPA alleges that NSR
violations occurred at eight coal-ﬁred generating facilities operated by Alabama Power, Georgia Power, and Savannah Electric.
The civil actions request penalties and injunctive relief, including
an order requiring the installation of the best available control
technology at the affected units. On June 3, 2005, the U.S. District
Court for the Northern District of Alabama issued a decision in favor
of Alabama Power on two primary legal issues in the case; however,
the decision does not resolve the case, nor does it address other
legal issues associated with the EPA’s allegations. In accordance
with a separate court order, Alabama Power and the EPA are currently participating in mediation with respect to the EPA’s claims.
The action against Georgia Power and Savannah Electric has been
administratively closed since the spring of 2001, and none of the
parties has sought to reopen the case.
Southern Company believes that the retail operating companies
complied with applicable laws and the EPA regulations and interpretations in effect at the time the work in question took place. The Clean
Air Act authorizes maximum civil penalties of $25,000 to $32,500 per
day, per violation at each generating unit, depending on the date of the
alleged violation. An adverse outcome in any one of these cases could
require substantial capital expenditures that cannot be determined at
this time and could possibly require payment of substantial penalties.
This could affect future results of operations, cash ﬂows, and ﬁnancial
condition if such costs are not recovered through regulated rates.
Plant Wansley Environmental Litigation
In December 2002, the Sierra Club, Physicians for Social Responsibility, Georgia Forestwatch, and one individual ﬁled a civil suit in the
U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Georgia against Georgia
Power for alleged violations of the Clean Air Act at four of the units
at Plant Wansley. The civil action requests injunctive and declaratory
relief, civil penalties, a supplemental environmental project, and attorneys’ fees. The Clean Air Act authorizes civil penalties of up to $27,500
per day, per violation at each generating unit. The liability phase of the
case has concluded with the court ruling in favor of Georgia Power
in part and the plaintiffs in part. In March 2005, the U.S. Court of
Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit accepted Georgia Power’s petition
for review of the district court’s order, and oral arguments were held
on January 24, 2006. The district court case has been administratively
closed pending that appeal. If necessary, the district court will hold a
separate trial which will address civil penalties and possible injunctive
relief requested by the plaintiffs.
The ultimate outcome of this matter cannot currently be
determined; however, an adverse outcome could require substantial capital expenditures that cannot be determined at this time and
could possibly require the payment of substantial penalties. This

SOUTHERN COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 2005 ANNUAL REPORT

67

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

could affect future results of operations, cash ﬂows, and ﬁnancial
condition if such costs are not recovered through regulated rates.
Environmental Remediation
Georgia Power has been designated as a potentially responsible party
at sites governed by the Georgia Hazardous Site Response Act and/or
by the federal Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act. In 1995, the EPA designated Georgia Power
and four other unrelated entities as potentially responsible parties at
a site in Brunswick, Georgia, that is listed on the federal National
Priorities List. As of December 31, 2005, Georgia Power had recorded
approximately $6 million in cumulative expenses associated with its
agreed-upon share of the removal and remedial investigation and
feasibility study costs for the Brunswick site. Additional claims for
recovery of natural resource damages at the site are anticipated.
Georgia Power has also recognized $36 million in cumulative expenses through December 31, 2005 for the assessment and anticipated
cleanup of other sites on the Georgia Hazardous Sites Inventory.
The ﬁnal outcome of these matters cannot now be determined. However, based on the currently known conditions at these
sites and the nature and extent of activities relating to these sites,
management does not believe that additional liabilities, if any, at
these sites would be material to the ﬁnancial statements.
FERC Matters
Market-Based Rate Authority
Each of the retail operating companies and Southern Power has
authorization from the FERC to sell power to non-afﬁliates at
market-based prices. The retail operating companies and Southern
Power also have FERC authority to make short-term opportunity
sales at market rates. Speciﬁc FERC approval must be obtained
with respect to a market-based contract with an afﬁliate.
In December 2004, the FERC initiated a proceeding to assess
Southern Company’s generation dominance within its retail service
territory. The ability to charge market-based rates in other markets is
not an issue in that proceeding. In February 2005, Southern Company submitted responsive information. In February 2006, the FERC
suspended the proceeding to allow the parties to conduct settlement
discussions. Any new market-based rate transactions in its retail service territory entered into after February 27, 2005 are subject to refund
to the level of the default cost-based rates, pending the outcome of
the proceeding. The impact of such sales through December 31, 2005
is not expected to exceed $16 million. The refund period covers 15
months. In the event that the FERC’s default mitigation measures for
entities that are found to have market power are ultimately applied,
the retail operating companies and Southern Power may be required
to charge cost-based rates for certain wholesale sales in the Southern
Company retail service territory, which may be lower than negotiated
market-based rates. The ﬁnal outcome of this matter will depend on
the form in which the ﬁnal methodology for assessing generation
market power and mitigation rules may be ultimately adopted and
cannot be determined at this time.
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In addition, in May 2005, the FERC started an investigation to
determine whether Southern Company satisﬁes the other three parts
of the FERC’s market-based rate analysis: transmission market power,
barriers to entry, and afﬁliate abuse or reciprocal dealing. The FERC
established a new refund period related to this expanded investigation. Any and all new market-based rate transactions both inside and
outside Southern Company’s retail service territory involving any
Southern Company subsidiary will be subject to refund to the extent
the FERC orders lower rates as a result of this new investigation, with
the 15-month refund period beginning July 19, 2005. The impact of
such sales through December 31, 2005 is not expected to exceed
$31 million, of which $11 million relates to sales inside the retail service
territory discussed above. The FERC also directed that this expanded
proceeding be held in abeyance pending the outcome of the proceeding on the Intercompany Interchange Contract (IIC) discussed below.
Southern Company and its subsidiaries believe that there is
no meritorious basis for this proceeding and are vigorously defending themselves in this matter. However, the ﬁnal outcome of this
matter, including any remedies to be applied in the event of an
adverse ruling in this proceeding, cannot now be determined.
Intercompany Interchange Contract
The Company’s generation ﬂeet in its retail service territory is
operated under the IIC, as approved by the FERC. In May 2005,
the FERC initiated a new proceeding to examine (1) the provisions
of the IIC among Alabama Power, Georgia Power, Gulf Power,
Mississippi Power, Savannah Electric, Southern Power, and SCS,
as agent, under the terms of which the power pool of Southern
Company is operated, and, in particular, the propriety of the
continued inclusion of Southern Power as a party to the IIC, (2)
whether any parties to the IIC have violated the FERC’s standards
of conduct applicable to utility companies that are transmission
providers, and (3) whether Southern Company’s code of conduct
deﬁning Southern Power as a “system company” rather than a
“marketing afﬁliate” is just and reasonable. In connection with
the formation of Southern Power, the FERC authorized Southern
Power’s inclusion in the IIC in 2000. The FERC also previously
approved Southern Company’s code of conduct. The FERC order
directs that the administrative law judge who presided over a
proceeding involving approval of PPAs between Southern Power
and Georgia Power and Savannah Electric be assigned to preside
over the hearing in this proceeding and that the testimony and
exhibits presented in that proceeding be preserved to the extent
appropriate. Hearings are scheduled for September 2006. Effective
July 19, 2005, revenues from transactions under the IIC involving
any Southern Company subsidiaries will be subject to refund to
the extent the FERC orders any changes to the IIC.
Southern Company and its subsidiaries believe that there is
no meritorious basis for this proceeding and are vigorously defending themselves in this matter. However, the ﬁnal outcome of this
matter, including any remedies to be applied in the event of an
adverse ruling in this proceeding, cannot now be determined.
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Generation Interconnection Agreements
In July 2003, the FERC issued its ﬁnal rule on the standardization
of generation interconnection agreements and procedures (Order
2003). Order 2003 shifts much of the ﬁnancial burden of new
transmission investment from the generator to the transmission provider. The FERC has indicated that Order 2003, which was effective
January 20, 2004, is to be applied prospectively to interconnection
agreements. Subsidiaries of Tenaska, Inc., as counterparties to three
previously executed interconnection agreements with subsidiaries
of Southern Company, have ﬁled complaints at the FERC requesting
that the FERC modify the agreements and that Southern Company
refund a total of $19 million previously paid for interconnection
facilities, with interest. These proceedings are still pending at the
FERC. Southern Company has also received similar requests from
other entities totaling approximately $14 million. Southern Company
has opposed all such requests. The impact of Order 2003 and its
subsequent rehearings on Southern Company and the ﬁnal results
of these matters cannot be determined at this time.
Race Discrimination Litigation
In July 2000, a lawsuit alleging race discrimination was ﬁled by
three Georgia Power employees against Georgia Power, Southern
Company, and SCS in the Superior Court of Fulton County, Georgia.
Shortly thereafter, the lawsuit was removed to the U.S. District Court
for the Northern District of Georgia and amended to add four more
plaintiffs. The lawsuit also raised claims on behalf of a purported
class. The plaintiffs sought compensatory and punitive damages in
an unspeciﬁed amount, as well as injunctive relief.
Following various court decisions in favor of the defendants and
subsequent appeals by the plaintiffs, on July 13, 2005, the plaintiffs
ﬁled a petition for writ of certiorari to the U.S. Supreme Court. On October 17, 2005, the petition was denied. This matter is now concluded.
Right of Way Litigation
Southern Company and certain of its subsidiaries, including Georgia
Power, Gulf Power, Mississippi Power, and Southern Telecom, have
been named as defendants in numerous lawsuits brought by landowners since 2001. The plaintiffs’ lawsuits claim that defendants may
not use, or sublease to third parties, some or all of the ﬁber optic
communications lines on the rights of way that cross the plaintiffs’
properties and that such actions exceed the easements or other property rights held by defendants. The plaintiffs assert claims for, among
other things, trespass and unjust enrichment and seek compensatory
and punitive damages and injunctive relief. Management of Southern
Company and its subsidiaries believe that they have complied with
applicable laws and that the plaintiffs’ claims are without merit.
In November 2003, the Second Circuit Court in Gadsden
County, Florida, ruled in favor of the plaintiffs on their motion for partial
summary judgment concerning liability in one such lawsuit brought by
landowners regarding the installation and use of ﬁber optic cable over
Gulf Power rights of way located on the landowners’ property. Subsequently, the plaintiffs sought to amend their complaint and asked
the court to enter a ﬁnal declaratory judgment and to enter an order

enjoining Gulf Power from allowing expanded general telecommunications use of the ﬁber optic cables that are the subject of this litigation.
In January 2005, the trial court granted in part the plaintiffs’ motion
to amend their complaint and denied the requested declaratory and
injunctive relief. In November 2005, the trial court ruled in favor of the
plaintiffs and against Gulf Power on their respective motions for partial
summary judgment. In that same order, the trial court also denied Gulf
Power’s motion to dismiss certain claims. The court’s ruling allowed for
an immediate appeal to the Florida First District Court of Appeal, which
Gulf Power ﬁled on December 20, 2005. If the appeal is not successful,
damages will be decided at a future trial.
In January 2005, the Superior Court of Decatur County,
Georgia, granted partial summary judgment in another such lawsuit
brought by landowners against Georgia Power on the plaintiffs’
declaratory judgment claim that the easements do not permit general telecommunications use. The court also dismissed Southern
Telecom from this case. The question of damages and other liability
or remedies issues with respect to these actions, if any, will be
decided at future trials. Georgia Power appealed this ruling to the
Georgia Court of Appeals. The Georgia Court of Appeals reversed,
in part, the court’s order and remanded the case to the trial court
for the determination of further issues. After the Court of Appeals’
decision, the plaintiffs ﬁled a motion for reconsideration, which was
denied, and a petition for certiorari to the Georgia Supreme Court,
which is currently pending. In the event of an adverse verdict in
either case, Gulf Power or Georgia Power, as applicable, could appeal
the issues of both liability and damages or other relief granted.
To date, Mississippi Power has entered into agreements with
plaintiffs in approximately 90 percent of the actions pending against
Mississippi Power to clarify its easement rights in the State of Mississippi. These agreements have been approved by the Circuit Courts of
Harrison County and Jasper County, Mississippi (First Judicial Circuit),
and dismissals of the related cases are in progress. These agreements
have not resulted in any material effects on Mississippi Power’s ﬁnancial statements.
In addition, in late 2001, certain subsidiaries of Southern
Company, including Alabama Power, Georgia Power, Gulf Power,
Mississippi Power, Savannah Electric, and Southern Telecom, were
named as defendants in a lawsuit brought by a telecommunications company that uses certain of the defendants’ rights of way.
This lawsuit alleges, among other things, that the defendants are
contractually obligated to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless
the telecommunications company from any liability that may be
assessed against it in pending and future right of way litigation. The
Company believes that the plaintiff’s claims are without merit. In the
fall of 2004, the trial court stayed the case until resolution of the
underlying landowner litigation discussed above. In January 2005,
the Georgia Court of Appeals dismissed the telecommunications
company’s appeal of the trial court’s order for lack of jurisdiction. An
adverse outcome in this matter, combined with an adverse outcome
against the telecommunications company in one or more of the right
of way lawsuits, could result in substantial judgments; however,
the ﬁnal outcome of these matters cannot now be determined.
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Income Tax Matters
Southern Company undergoes audits by the IRS for each of its tax
years. The IRS has completed its audits of Southern Company’s
consolidated federal income tax returns for all years through 2001.
Southern Company participates in four international leveraged lease
transactions and receives federal income tax deductions for depreciation and amortization, as well as interest on related debt. The IRS
proposed to disallow the tax losses for one of these leases (a leasein-lease-out, or LILO) in connection with its audit of 1996 through
2001. In October 2004, Southern Company submitted the issue to
the IRS appeals division and in February 2005 reached a negotiated
settlement with the IRS, which is subject to ﬁnal approval. Under
current accounting rules, the settlement of this transaction will have
no material impact on Southern Company’s ﬁnancial statements.
In connection with its audit of 2000 and 2001, the IRS also
challenged Southern Company’s deductions related to three other
international lease (sale-in-lease-out, or SILO) transactions. If the IRS
is ultimately successful in disallowing the tax deductions related to
these three transactions, beginning with the 2000 tax year, Southern
Company would be subject to additional interest charges of up to
$34 million. The IRS has also proposed a penalty of approximately
$16 million. Southern Company believes these transactions are valid
leases for U.S. tax purposes, the related deductions are allowable,
and the assessment of a penalty is inappropriate. Southern Company
is continuing to pursue resolution of these matters with the IRS and
expects to litigate the issue if necessary. Although the payment of the
tax liability, exclusive of interest, would not affect Southern Company’s
results of operations under current accounting standards, it could
have a material impact on cash ﬂow. Through December 31, 2005,
Southern Company has claimed $241 million in tax beneﬁts related
to these SILO transactions challenged by the IRS. See Note 1 under
“Leveraged Leases” for additional information.
Alabama Power Retail Regulatory Matters
Alabama Power operates under a Rate Stabilization and Equalization
plan (Rate RSE) approved by the Alabama PSC. Rate RSE provides
for periodic annual adjustments based upon Alabama Power’s earned
return on end-of-period retail common equity; however, in October
2005, Alabama Power and the Alabama PSC agreed to a moratorium
on any rate increase under Rate RSE until January 2007. In October
2005, the Alabama PSC approved a revision to Rate RSE requested by
Alabama Power. Effective January 2007, Rate RSE adjustments will
be based on forward-looking information for the applicable upcoming calendar year. Rate adjustments for any two-year period, when
averaged together, cannot exceed 4 percent per year and any annual
adjustment is limited to 5 percent. Rates will remain unchanged if
the return on equity (ROE) is between 13 percent and 14.5 percent.
If Alabama Power’s actual retail ROE is above the allowed equity
return range, customer refunds will be required; however, there is no
provision for additional customer billings should the actual retail
return on common equity fall below the allowed equity return range.
Alabama Power will make its initial submission of projected data
for calendar year 2007 by December 1, 2006. The ratemaking
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procedures will remain in effect until the Alabama PSC votes to
modify or discontinue them.
The Alabama PSC has also approved a rate mechanism that
provides for adjustments to recognize the placing of new generating
facilities in retail service and for the recovery of retail costs associated
with certiﬁcated purchased power agreements (Rate CNP).
To recover certiﬁcated purchased power costs under Rate
CNP, increases of 2.6 percent or $79 million annually and 0.8 percent or $25 million annually were effective July 2003 and June
2004, respectively. In April 2005, an annual true-up adjustment to
Rate CNP decreased retail rates by approximately 0.5 percent or
$18.5 million annually.
In October 2004, the Alabama PSC approved a request by
Alabama Power to amend Rate CNP to also provide for the recovery
of retail costs associated with environmental laws and regulations,
effective in January 2005. The rate mechanism began operation in
January 2005 and provides for the recovery of these costs pursuant to a factor that will be calculated annually. Environmental costs
to be recovered include operation and maintenance expenses,
depreciation, and a return on invested capital. Retail rates increased
approximately 1 percent in both January 2005 and 2006.
Alabama Power fuel costs are recovered under Rate ECR
(Energy Cost Recovery), which provides for the addition of a fuel
and energy cost factor to base rates. In December 2005, the
Alabama PSC approved an increase that allows for the recovery of
approximately $227 million in existing under recovered fuel costs
over a two-year period. Based on the order, a portion of the under
recovered regulatory clause revenues was reclassiﬁed from current
assets to deferred charges and other assets in the balance sheet.
Georgia Power Retail Regulatory Matters
In December 2004, the Georgia PSC approved a three-year retail
rate plan ending December 31, 2007 (2004 Retail Rate Plan) for
Georgia Power. Under the terms of the 2004 Retail Rate Plan, Georgia Power’s earnings are evaluated against a retail ROE range of
10.25 percent to 12.25 percent. Two-thirds of any earnings above
12.25 percent will be applied to rate refunds, with the remaining
one-third retained by Georgia Power. Retail rates and customer fees
were increased by approximately $203 million effective January 1,
2005 to cover the higher costs of purchased power, operating and
maintenance expenses, environmental compliance, and continued
investment in new generation, transmission, and distribution facilities to support growth and ensure reliability. In 2005, Georgia Power
recorded $5.3 million in revenue subject to refund related to earnings in excess of a 12.25 percent retail ROE.
Georgia Power is required to ﬁle a general rate case by
July 1, 2007 in response to which the Georgia PSC would be
expected to determine whether the rate order should be continued, modiﬁed, or discontinued. Until then, Georgia Power may
not ﬁle for a general base rate increase unless its projected retail
return on common equity falls below 10.25 percent.
In December 2001, the Georgia PSC approved a three-year
retail rate plan (2001 Retail Rate Plan) for Georgia Power ending
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December 31, 2004. Under the terms of the 2001 Retail Rate Plan,
earnings were evaluated against a retail return on common equity
range of 10 percent to 12.95 percent. Georgia Power’s earnings
in all three years were within the common equity range. Under
the 2001 Retail Rate Plan, Georgia Power amortized a regulatory
liability of $333 million, related to previously recorded accelerated
amortization expenses, equally over three years beginning in 2002.
Also, the 2001 Retail Rate Plan required Georgia Power to recognize
capacity and operating and maintenance costs related to certiﬁed
purchase power contracts evenly into rates over a three-year period
ending December 31, 2004.
On May 17, 2005, the Georgia PSC approved Georgia
Power’s request to increase customer fuel rates by approximately
9.5 percent to recover under recovered fuel costs of approximately
$508 million existing as of May 31, 2005 over a four-year period
that began June 1, 2005. Based on the order, a portion of the under
recovered regulatory clause revenues was reclassiﬁed from current
assets to deferred charges and other assets in the balance sheet.
Under recovered fuel amounts for the period subsequent to
June 1, 2005 totaled $327.5 million through December 31, 2005.
The Georgia PSC’s order instructs that such amounts be reviewed
semi-annually beginning February 2006. If the amount under or over
recovered exceeds $50 million at the evaluation date, Georgia Power
will be required to ﬁle for a temporary fuel rate change. In addition,
Savannah Electric’s under recovered fuel costs totaled $77.7 million
at December 31, 2005. In accordance with a Georgia PSC order,
Savannah Electric was scheduled to ﬁle an additional request for a
fuel cost recovery increase in January 2006. In connection with the
proposed merger, Georgia Power has agreed with a Georgia PSC
staff recommendation to forego the temporary fuel rate process,
and Savannah Electric has postponed its scheduled ﬁling. Instead,
Georgia Power and Savannah Electric will ﬁle a combined request
in March 2006 to increase its fuel cost recovery rate.
The case will seek approval of a fuel cost recovery rate
based upon future fuel cost projections for the combined Georgia
Power and Savannah Electric generating ﬂeet, as well as the under
recovered balances existing at June 30, 2006. The new fuel cost
recovery rate would be billed beginning in July 2006 to all Georgia
Power customers, including the existing Savannah Electric customers. Under recovered amounts as of the date of the merger will be
paid by the appropriate customer groups. For additional information
regarding the pending merger, see “Merger of Georgia Power and
Savannah Electric” below.
In August 2005, the Georgia PSC initiated an investigation
of Savannah Electric’s fuel practices. In February 2006, an investigation of Georgia Power’s fuel practices was initiated. Georgia
Power and Savannah Electric are responding to data requests and
cooperating in the investigations. The ﬁnal outcome of these matters cannot now be determined.
Storm Damage Cost Recovery
Each retail operating company maintains a reserve to cover the cost
of damages from major storms to its transmission and distribution

facilities and the cost of uninsured damages to its generation facilities
and other property. Following Hurricanes Ivan, Dennis, and Katrina
in September 2004, July 2005, and August 2005, respectively, each
of the affected retail operating companies has been authorized by
its respective state PSC to defer the portion of the storm restoration
costs incurred that exceeded the balance in its storm damage reserve
account. As of December 31, 2005, the deﬁcit balance in Southern
Company’s storm damage reserve accounts totaled approximately
$366 million, of which approximately $70 million and $296 million,
respectively, is included in the condensed balance sheets herein under
Other Current Assets and Other Regulatory Assets. Approximately
$81 million of the deﬁcit balances are being recovered through separate surcharges or rate riders approved by the Florida and Alabama
PSCs, as discussed further below. The recovery of the remaining
deferred costs is subject to the approval of the respective state PSC.
Hurricane Ivan caused signiﬁcant damage to the service
areas of both Gulf Power and Alabama Power. In February and
December 2005, Alabama Power requested and received Alabama
PSC approval of accounting orders that allowed Alabama Power
to immediately return certain regulatory liabilities to the retail customers. The orders also allowed Alabama Power to simultaneously
recover from customers accruals of approximately $48 million
primarily to offset the costs of Hurricane Ivan and restore a positive balance in the natural disaster reserve. The combined effect of
these orders had no impact on net income in 2005. In March 2005,
the Florida PSC approved a Stipulation and Settlement among Gulf
Power, the Ofﬁce of Public Counsel for the State of Florida, and
the Florida Industrial Power Users Group. The agreement allows
Gulf Power to recover approximately $51.7 million in storm damage costs, plus interest and revenue taxes, from customers over a
24-month period that began in April 2005. Gulf Power also agreed
that it will not seek any additional increase in its base rates and
charges to become effective on or before March 1, 2007.
Hurricanes Dennis and Katrina caused signiﬁcant damage
within Southern Company’s service area, including portions of the
service areas of Alabama Power and Gulf Power and all of Mississippi Power’s service area. Hurricane Dennis and Katrina restoration
costs are currently estimated to total approximately $506 million,
of which approximately $287 million relates to operation and maintenance expenditures. Approximately $60 million of these costs is
expected to be covered through external insurance. Restoration
efforts following Hurricane Katrina are ongoing for approximately
19,200 Mississippi Power customers who remain unable to receive
power, as well as to make permanent improvements in areas where
temporary emergency repairs were necessary. In addition, business
and governmental authorities are still reviewing redevelopment
plans for portions of the most severely damaged areas along the
Mississippi shoreline. Until such plans are complete, Mississippi
Power cannot determine the related electric power needs or associated cost estimates. The ultimate impact of redevelopment plans in
these areas on the cost estimates cannot now be determined.
In December 2005, the Alabama PSC approved Alabama
Power’s request for a separate rate rider to recover its $51 million of
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deferred Hurricane Dennis and Katrina operation and maintenance
costs over a two-year period and to replenish the reserve to a target
balance of $75 million over a ﬁve-year period.
Prior to Hurricane Katrina, Mississippi Power had a balance of
approximately $3 million in its property reserve. In October 2005, the
Mississippi PSC issued an Interim Accounting Order requiring Mississippi Power to recognize a regulatory asset in an amount equal to
the retail portion of the recorded Hurricane Katrina restoration costs,
including both operation and maintenance expenditures and capital
additions. Through December 31, 2005, these incremental costs
totaled $210 million, net of insurance proceeds of $68 million. These
costs include approximately $133 million of operation and maintenance
expenditures and approximately $49 million of capital additions, of
which approximately $100 million are reﬂected as investing activities
for purposes of the statement of cash ﬂows. In December 2005, Mississippi Power ﬁled with the Mississippi PSC a detailed review of all
Hurricane Katrina restoration costs as required in the Interim Accounting Order. Mississippi Power is currently working with the Mississippi
PSC to establish a method to recover all such prudently incurred costs
upon resolution of uncertainties related to federal grant assistance
and proposed state legislation to allow securitized ﬁnancing. Also in
December 2005, Mississippi Power submitted its annual Performance
Evaluation Plan (PEP) ﬁling to the Mississippi PSC. Ordinarily, PEP
limits annual rate increases to 4 percent; however, Mississippi Power
has requested that the Mississippi PSC approve a temporary change
to allow them to exceed this cap as a result of the ongoing effects
of Hurricane Katrina. Mississippi Power has requested a 5 percent or
$32 million retail base rate increase to become effective in April 2006
if approved. Hearings are scheduled for March 2, 2006.
In 2005, the Florida Legislature authorized securitized ﬁnancing for hurricane costs. On February 22, 2006, Gulf Power ﬁled a
petition with the Florida PSC under this legislative authority requesting
permission to issue $87.2 million in securitized storm-recovery bonds.
The bonds would be repaid over 8 years from revenues to be received
from storm-recovery charges implemented under the securitization
plan and billed to customers. If approved as proposed, the plan would
resolve Gulf Power’s remaining deferred costs, by reﬁnancing, net of
taxes, the remaining balance of storm damage costs currently being
recovered from customers related to Hurricane Ivan and ﬁnancing,
net of taxes, restoration costs associated with Hurricanes Dennis
and Katrina of approximately $54 million. It would also replenish
Gulf Power’s property damage reserve with an additional $70 million.
A decision on the plan is expected prior to the end of the second
quarter of 2006. The ﬁnal outcome of these matters cannot now be
determined; however, since Gulf Power will recognize expenses equal
to the revenues billed to customers, the securitization plan would have
no impact on net income, but would increase cash ﬂow.
Plant Franklin Construction Project
Southern Power completed limited construction activities on Plant
Franklin Unit 3 to preserve the long-term viability of the project but has
deferred ﬁnal completion until the 2008-2011 period. The length of the
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deferral period will depend on forecasted capacity needs and other
wholesale market opportunities. As of December 31, 2005, Southern
Power’s investment in Unit 3 of Plant Franklin was $172 million. The
ﬁnal outcome of this matter cannot now be determined.
Southern Company Gas Sale
On January 4, 2006, Southern Company completed the sale of substantially all the assets of Southern Company Gas, its competitive
retail natural gas marketing subsidiary, including natural gas inventory, accounts receivable, and customer list, to Gas South, LLC, an
afﬁliate of Cobb Electric Membership Corporation. Southern Company Gas’ sale of such assets was pursuant to a Purchase and Sale
Agreement dated November 18, 2005 between Southern Company
Gas and Gas South, for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $127 million, subject to certain adjustments. This sale will
have no material impact on Southern Company’s net income for
the quarter ending March 31, 2006. As a result of the sale, Southern Company’s ﬁnancial statements and related information reﬂect
Southern Company Gas as discontinued operations.
Merger of Georgia Power and Savannah Electric
On December 13, 2005, Georgia Power and Savannah Electric entered
into a merger agreement, under which Savannah Electric will merge
into Georgia Power, with Georgia Power continuing as the surviving
corporation. At the effective date of the merger, each share of Georgia
Power common stock will remain issued and outstanding; the issued
and outstanding shares of Savannah Electric common stock, all of
which are held by Southern Company, will be converted into the right
to receive 1,500,000 shares of Georgia Power common stock; and
each share of Savannah Electric preferred stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the merger will be converted into the right to
receive one share of a new series of Georgia Power Class A Preferred
Stock. The merger must be approved by the preferred shareholders of
Savannah Electric, and is subject to the receipt of regulatory approvals
from the FERC, Georgia PSC, and Federal Communications Commission. Pending regulatory approvals, the merger is expected to occur
by July 2006. The merger is not expected to have any material impact
on Southern Company’s ﬁnancial statements.
NOTE 4:
JOINT OWNERSHIP AGREEMENTS

Alabama Power owns an undivided interest in units 1 and 2 of
Plant Miller and related facilities jointly with Alabama Electric
Cooperative, Inc.
Georgia Power owns undivided interests in Plants Vogtle,
Hatch, Scherer, and Wansley in varying amounts jointly with
Oglethorpe Power Corporation (OPC), the Municipal Electric
Authority of Georgia, the city of Dalton, Georgia, Florida Power
& Light Company, and Jacksonville Electric Authority. In addition,
Georgia Power has joint ownership agreements with OPC for the
Rocky Mountain facilities and with Florida Power Corporation for a
combustion turbine unit at Intercession City, Florida.
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Southern Power owns an undivided interest in Stanton Unit
A and related facilities jointly with the Orlando Utilities Commission,
Kissimmee Utility Authority, and Florida Municipal Power Agency.
At December 31, 2005, Alabama Power’s, Georgia Power’s,
and Southern Power’s ownership and investment (exclusive of
nuclear fuel) in jointly owned facilities with the above entities were
as follows:
JOINTLY OWNED FACILITIES
(in millions)
PERCENT
OWNERSHIP

Plant Vogtle (nuclear)
Plant Hatch (nuclear)
Plant Miller (coal)
Units 1 and 2
Plant Scherer (coal)
Units 1 and 2
Plant Wansley (coal)
Rocky Mountain (pumped storage)
Intercession City (combustion turbine)
Plant Stanton (combined cycle)
Unit A

45.7%
50.1
91.8

At December 31, 2005, the tax-related regulatory assets and
liabilities were $937 million and $313 million, respectively. These
assets are attributable to tax beneﬁts ﬂowed through to customers
in prior years and to taxes applicable to capitalized interest. These
liabilities are attributable to deferred taxes previously recognized at
rates higher than the current enacted tax law and to unamortized
investment tax credits.
Details of income tax provisions are as follows:
2005

2004

2003

$ 61

$ 14

$141

419

482

393

480

496

534

Current

35

15

44

Deferred

80

76

34

115

91

78

$ 595

$587

$612

(in millions)

AMOUNT OF
INVESTMENT

ACCUMULATED
DEPRECIATION

$3,311
935

$1,809
492

940

374

Total provision for income taxes:
Federal–
Current
Deferred
State–

8.4
53.5
25.4
33.3

115
395
169
12

56
172
92
2

65.0

156

10

At December 31, 2005, the portion of total construction
work in progress related to Plants Miller, Scherer, and Wansley was
$4.4 million, $0.5 million, and $8.3 million, respectively, primarily for
environmental projects.
Alabama Power, Georgia Power, and Southern Power have
contracted to operate and maintain the jointly owned facilities,
except for Rocky Mountain and Intercession City, as agents for their
respective co-owners. The companies’ proportionate share of their
plant operating expenses is included in the corresponding operating expenses in the statements of income.
N OT E 5 :
I N C O M E TA X E S

Southern Company ﬁles a consolidated federal income tax return and
combined state income tax returns for the States of Alabama, Georgia, and Mississippi. Under a joint consolidated income tax allocation
agreement, each subsidiary’s current and deferred tax expense is
computed on a stand-alone basis. In accordance with IRS regulations, each company is jointly and severally liable for the tax liability.
Mirant was included in the consolidated federal tax return
through April 2, 2001. In December 2004, the IRS concluded its
audit for the tax years 2000 and 2001, and Southern Company paid
$39 million in additional tax and interest for issues related to Mirant
tax items. Under the terms of the separation agreements, Mirant
agreed to indemnify Southern Company for subsequent assessment
of any additional taxes related to its transactions prior to the spin
off. However, as a result of Mirant’s bankruptcy, Southern Company
sought reimbursement as an unsecured creditor. For additional information, see Note 3 under “Mirant Matters–Mirant Bankruptcy.”

Total

Net cash payments for income taxes in 2005, 2004, and 2003
were $100 million, $78 million, and $189 million, respectively.
The tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the ﬁnancial statements and
their respective tax bases, which give rise to deferred tax assets and
liabilities, are as follows:
2005

2004

$ 4,613
1,008
519
333
528
126
68
155

$ 4,290
1,009
447
307
210
132
47
133

7,350

6,575

263
88
210
148
126
58
96
202
260

243
111
177
157
105
61
94
106
233

Total

1,451

1,287

Total deferred tax liabilities, net
Portion included in prepaid expenses
(accrued income taxes), net
Deferred state tax assets

5,899

5,288

(in millions)

Deferred tax liabilities:
Accelerated depreciation
Property basis differences
Leveraged lease basis differences
Employee beneﬁt obligations
Under recovered fuel clause
Premium on reacquired debt
Storm reserve
Other
Total
Deferred tax assets:
Federal effect of state deferred taxes
State effect of federal deferred taxes
Employee beneﬁt obligations
Other property basis differences
Deferred costs
Unbilled revenue
Other comprehensive losses
Alternative minimum tax carryforward
Other

Accumulated deferred income taxes
in the balance sheets

(57)
12

(180)
17
$ 5,736

$ 5,243
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The alternative minimum tax credits do not expire.
At December 31, 2005, Southern Company also had available
State of Georgia net operating loss carryforward deductions totaling
$1.0 billion, which could result in net state income tax beneﬁts of
$59 million, if utilized. These deductions will expire between 2006
and 2021. During 2005, Southern Company utilized $11 million in
available net operating losses, which resulted in a $0.7 million state
income tax beneﬁt. Beginning in 2002, the State of Georgia allowed
the ﬁling of a combined return, which should substantially reduce
any additional net operating loss carryforwards.
In accordance with regulatory requirements, deferred investment tax credits are amortized over the lives of the related property
with such amortization normally applied as a credit to reduce depreciation in the statements of income. Credits amortized in this manner
amounted to $25 million in 2005, $27 million in 2004, and $29 million
in 2003. At December 31, 2005, all investment tax credits available to
reduce federal income taxes payable had been utilized.
The provision for income taxes differs from the amount of
income taxes determined by applying the applicable U.S. federal
statutory rate to earnings before income taxes and preferred dividends of subsidiaries, as a result of the following:

(including Securities Due Within One Year). Southern Company and
the retail operating companies each consider that the mechanisms
and obligations relating to the preferred securities issued for its beneﬁt, taken together, constitute a full and unconditional guarantee by
it of the respective trusts’ payment obligations with respect to these
securities. At December 31, 2005, preferred securities of $1.9 billion
were outstanding. Southern Company guarantees $574 million
of notes related to these securities issued on its behalf. Subsequent to year-end, this amount has been reduced to $502 million
through the redemption of outstanding securities. See Note 1 under
“Variable Interest Entities” for additional information on the accounting treatment for these trusts and the related securities.
Securities Due Within One Year
A summary of scheduled maturities and redemptions of securities
due within one year at December 31 is as follows:
2005

2004

$ 13

$ 12

First mortgage bonds

45

–

Pollution control bonds

12

–

697

675

(in millions)

Capitalized leases

Senior notes
Federal statutory rate
State income tax, net of federal deduction

2005

2004

2003

Long-term debt payable to afﬁliated trusts

72

–

35.0%

35.0%

35.0%

Other long-term debt

47

296

3.4

2.8

2.4

Preferred stock
Total

Synthetic fuel tax credits

(8.0)

(8.5)

(5.7)

Employee stock plans dividend deduction

(1.5)

(1.5)

(1.5)

1.1

1.1

1.1
(0.7)

Non-deductible book depreciation
Difference in prior years’

(1.8)

(0.7)

Other

(1.4)

(0.9)

(1.5)

Effective income tax rate

26.8%

27.3%

29.1%

deferred and current tax rate

N OT E 6:
FINANCING

Mandatorily Redeemable Preferred Securities/
Long-Term Debt Payable to Affiliated Trusts
Southern Company and the retail operating companies have each
formed certain wholly owned trust subsidiaries for the purpose
of issuing preferred securities. The proceeds of the related equity
investments and preferred security sales were loaned back to
Southern Company and the retail operating companies through the
issuance of junior subordinated notes totaling $2.0 billion, which
constitute substantially all assets of these trusts and are reﬂected
in the balance sheets as Long-term Debt Payable to Afﬁliated Trusts
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15

–

$ 901

$983

Debt and preferred stock redemptions, and/or serial maturities through 2010 applicable to total long-term debt are as follows:
$901 million in 2006; $1.5 billion in 2007; $486 million in 2008;
$591 million in 2009, and $243 million in 2010.
Assets Subject to Lien
Each of Southern Company’s subsidiaries is organized as a legal
entity, separate and apart from Southern Company and its other
subsidiaries. Alabama Power, Gulf Power, and Savannah Electric
have mortgages that secure ﬁrst mortgage bonds they have issued
and constitute a direct ﬁrst lien on substantially all of their respective ﬁxed property and franchises. Mississippi Power discharged
its mortgage in June 2005, and the lien was removed. The Georgia
Power lien was removed in 2002. The remaining outstanding ﬁrst
mortgage bonds of Gulf Power and Savannah Electric mature in
2006. There are no agreements or other arrangements among the
subsidiary companies under which the assets of one company
have been pledged or otherwise made available to satisfy obligations of Southern Company or any of its other subsidiaries.
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Bank Credit Arrangements
At the beginning of 2006, unused credit arrangements with banks
totaled $3.3 billion, of which $810 million expires during 2006 and
$2.5 billion expires during 2007 and beyond. The following table
outlines the credit arrangements by company:
EXPIRES
(in millions)

TOTAL

UNUSED

2006

2007 &
BEYOND

COMPANY:

Alabama Power

$ 878

$ 878

$ 428

$ 450

Georgia Power

780

778

70

710

Gulf Power

121

121

121

–

Mississippi Power

326

276

101

225

Savannah Electric

80

80

60

20

Southern Company

750

750

–

750

Southern Power

400

399

–

400

30

30

30

–

$ 3,365

$ 3,312

$ 810

$ 2,555

Other
Total

Approximately $228 million of the credit facilities expiring in
2006 allow the execution of term loans for an additional two-year
period, and $311 million allow execution of one-year term loans.
Most of these agreements include stated borrowing rates.
All of the credit arrangements require payment of commitment fees based on the unused portion of the commitments
or the maintenance of compensating balances with the banks.
Commitment fees are one-eighth of 1 percent or less for Southern
Company, the retail operating companies, and Southern Power.
Compensating balances are not legally restricted from withdrawal.
Included in the total $3.3 billion of unused credit arrangements
is $2.3 billion of syndicated credit arrangements that require the
payment of agent fees.
Most of the credit arrangements with banks have covenants
that limit debt levels to 65 percent of total capitalization, as deﬁned
in the agreements. For purposes of these deﬁnitions, debt excludes
the long-term debt payable to afﬁliated trusts. At December 31,
2005, Southern Company, Southern Power, and the retail operating companies were each in compliance with their respective debt
limit covenants.
In addition, the credit arrangements typically contain cross
default provisions that would be triggered if the borrower defaulted
on other indebtedness above a speciﬁed threshold. The cross
default provisions are restricted only to the indebtedness, including
any guarantee obligations, of the company that has such credit
arrangements. Southern Company and its subsidiaries are currently
in compliance with all such covenants. Borrowings under certain
retail operating companies’ unused credit arrangements totaling
$10 million would be prohibited if the borrower experiences a
material adverse change, as deﬁned in such arrangements.

A portion of the $3.3 billion unused credit with banks is allocated to provide liquidity support to the retail operating companies’
variable rate pollution control bonds. The amount of variable rate
pollution control bonds requiring liquidity support as of December 31,
2005 was $720 million.
Southern Company, the retail operating companies, and
Southern Power borrow primarily through commercial paper
programs that have the liquidity support of committed bank credit
arrangements. Southern Company and the retail operating companies may also borrow through various other arrangements with
banks and extendible commercial note programs. The amount of
commercial paper outstanding and included in notes payable in the
balance sheets at December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004 was
$944 million and $377 million, respectively.
During 2005, the peak amount outstanding for short-term
debt was $1.26 billion, and the average amount outstanding was
$738 million. The average annual interest rate on short-term debt
was 3.5 percent for 2005 and 1.3 percent for 2004 and 2003.
Financial Instruments
The retail operating companies and Southern Power enter into
energy-related derivatives to hedge exposures to electricity,
gas, and other fuel price changes. However, due to cost-based
rate regulations, the retail operating companies have limited
exposure to market volatility in commodity fuel prices and prices
of electricity. In addition, Southern Power’s exposure to market
volatility in commodity fuel prices and prices of electricity is
limited because its long-term sales contracts shift substantially all
fuel cost responsibility to the purchaser. Each of the retail operating companies has implemented fuel-hedging programs at the
instruction of their respective state PSCs. Together with Southern
Power, the retail operating companies may enter into hedges of
forward electricity sales. In addition, Southern Company Gas had
gas-hedging programs to substantially mitigate its exposure to
price volatility for its gas purchases.
At December 31, 2005, the fair value of derivative energy
contracts was reﬂected in the ﬁnancial statements as follows:
(in millions)

Regulatory liabilities, net

AMOUNTS

$103.4

Other comprehensive income

(0.3)

Net income

(2.6)

Total fair value

$100.5

The fair value gains or losses for hedges that are recoverable through the regulatory fuel clauses are recorded as regulatory
assets and liabilities and are recognized in earnings at the same
time the hedged items affect earnings. For Southern Power, the fair
value gains or losses for cash ﬂow hedges are recorded in other

SOUTHERN COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 2005 ANNUAL REPORT

75

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

comprehensive income and are reclassiﬁed into earnings at the same
time the hedged items affect earnings. For 2005, 2004, and 2003,
approximately $7 million, $(3) million, and $22 million, respectively,
of pre-tax gains (losses) were reclassiﬁed from other comprehensive
income to fuel expense. For the year 2006, no material amounts are
expected to be reclassiﬁed from other comprehensive income to
fuel expense. There was no signiﬁcant ineffectiveness recorded in
earnings for any period presented. Southern Company has energyrelated hedges in place up to and including 2008.
Southern Company and certain subsidiaries also enter into
derivatives to hedge exposure to changes in interest rates. Derivatives related to ﬁxed-rate securities are accounted for as fair value
hedges. Derivatives related to variable rate securities or forecasted
transactions are accounted for as cash ﬂow hedges. As the derivatives employed as hedging instruments are generally structured to
match the critical terms of the hedged debt instruments, no material ineffectiveness has been recorded in earnings.
At December 31, 2005, Southern Company had $2.8 billion
notional amount of interest rate swaps and options outstanding
with net fair value gains of $31.7 million as follows:
Fair Value Hedges
(in millions)

MATURITY

VARIABLE
RATE PAID

NOTIONAL
AMOUNT

6-month

$400

FAIR
VALUE GAIN

COMPANY:

Southern Company

2007

$3.0

LIBOR – 0.10%

Cash Flow Hedges
(in millions)

MATURITY

WEIGHTED AVERAGE
FIXED RATE PAID

NOTIONAL
AMOUNT

FAIR VALUE
GAIN/(LOSS)

COMPANY:

Alabama Power

Georgia Power

2007

2.01%*

$536

$ 7.3

2006

1.89%

195

2.5

2016

4.82%

300

3.0

2016

4.42%

300

12.5

2006-2007

2.09-3.85%**

400

1.2

4.58-5.75%***

300

(1.1)

2.67%

300

2.4

2007

2.50%*

14

0.3

2016

4.69%

30

0.6

2037
2007
Savannah Electric

* Hedged using the Bond Market Association Municipal Swap Index.
** Series of interest rate caps and collars (showing the lowest floor and highest cap) with variable rates
based on one-month LIBOR.
*** Interest rate collar.

For fair value hedges where the hedged item is an asset,
liability, or ﬁrm commitment, the changes in the fair value of the
hedging derivatives are recorded in earnings and are offset by the
changes in the fair value of the hedged item.
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The fair value gain or loss for cash ﬂow hedges is recorded
in other comprehensive income and is reclassiﬁed into earnings at
the same time the hedged items affect earnings. In 2005, 2004,
and 2003, the Company incurred losses of $19 million, $7 million,
and $116 million, respectively, upon termination of certain interest
derivatives at the same time it issued debt. These losses have been
deferred in other comprehensive income and will be amortized to
interest expense over the life of the original interest derivative. For
2005, 2004, and 2003, approximately $10 million, $23 million, and
$26 million, respectively, of pre-tax losses were reclassiﬁed from
other comprehensive income to interest expense. For 2006, pre-tax
losses of approximately $2 million are expected to be reclassiﬁed
from other comprehensive income to interest expense.
NOTE 7:
COMMITMENTS

Construction Program
Southern Company is engaged in continuous construction programs, currently estimated to total $2.8 billion in 2006, $3.6 billion
in 2007, and $3.1 billion in 2008. These amounts include $63 million,
$39 million, and $23 million in 2006, 2007, and 2008, respectively,
for construction expenditures related to contractual purchase commitments for uranium and nuclear fuel conversion, enrichment, and
fabrication services included herein under “Fuel and Purchased
Power Commitments.” The construction programs are subject to
periodic review and revision, and actual construction costs may
vary from the above estimates because of numerous factors. These
factors include: changes in business conditions; acquisition of additional generating assets; revised load growth estimates; changes
in environmental regulations; changes in existing nuclear plants
to meet new regulatory requirements; changes in FERC rules and
regulations; increasing costs of labor, equipment, and materials;
and cost of capital. At December 31, 2005, signiﬁcant purchase
commitments were outstanding in connection with the ongoing
construction program, which includes capital improvements to
generation, transmission, and distribution facilities, including those
to meet environmental standards.
Long-Term Service Agreements
The retail operating companies and Southern Power have entered
into several Long-Term Service Agreements (LTSAs) with General
Electric (GE) for the purpose of securing maintenance support for
the combined cycle and combustion turbine generating facilities
owned by the subsidiaries. The LTSAs provide that GE will perform
all planned inspections on the covered equipment, which includes
the cost of all labor and materials. GE is also obligated to cover
the costs of unplanned maintenance on the covered equipment
subject to a limit speciﬁed in each contract.
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In general, except for Southern Power’s Plant Dahlberg, these
LTSAs are in effect through two major inspection cycles per unit.
The Dahlberg agreement is in effect through the ﬁrst major inspection
of each unit. Scheduled payments to GE are made at various intervals based on actual operating hours of the respective units. Total
payments to GE under these agreements for facilities owned are
currently estimated at $1.8 billion over the remaining life of the agreements, which may range up to 30 years. However, the LTSAs contain
various cancellation provisions at the option of the purchasers.
Georgia Power has also entered into an LTSA with GE through
2014 for $14.9 million worth of neutron monitoring system parts and
electronics at Plant Hatch. Total remaining payments to GE under
this agreement are currently estimated at $13.1 million. The contract
contains cancellation provisions at the option of Georgia Power.
Payments made to GE prior to the performance of any work
are recorded as a prepayment in the balance sheets. All work performed by GE is capitalized or charged to expense (net of any joint
owner billings), as appropriate based on the nature of the work.
Fuel and Purchased Power Commitments
To supply a portion of the fuel requirements of the generating
plants, Southern Company has entered into various long-term
commitments for the procurement of fossil and nuclear fuel. In
most cases, these contracts contain provisions for price escalations, minimum purchase levels, and other ﬁnancial commitments.
Coal commitments include forward contract purchases for sulfur
dioxide emission allowances. Natural gas purchase commitments
contain given volumes with prices based on various indices at the
time of delivery. Amounts included in the chart below represent
estimates based on New York Mercantile Exchange future prices
at December 31, 2005. Also, Southern Company has entered into
various long-term commitments for the purchase of electricity.
Total estimated minimum long-term obligations at December 31,
2005 were as follows:
COMMITMENTS
NATURAL
GAS

COAL

2006

$ 1,495

$ 3,129

$ 63

$ 175

2007

805

2,509

39

176

2008

481

1,450

23

180

2009

371

864

14

162

2010

369

694

20

143

3,046

364

89

541

$ 6,567

$ 9,010

$ 248

$ 1,377

(in millions)

2011 and thereafter
Total

NUCLEAR PURCHASED
FUEL
POWER

Additional commitments for fuel will be required to supply
Southern Company’s future needs.

Operating Leases
In May 2001, Mississippi Power began the initial 10-year term of a
lease agreement for a combined cycle generating facility built at Plant
Daniel for approximately $370 million. In 2003, the generating facility
was acquired by Juniper Capital L.P. (Juniper), whose partners are
unafﬁliated with Mississippi Power. Simultaneously, Juniper entered
into a restructured lease agreement with Mississippi Power. In 2003,
approximately $11 million in lease termination costs were also
included in operation expenses. Juniper has also entered into leases
with other parties unrelated to Mississippi Power. The assets leased
by Mississippi Power comprise less than 50 percent of Juniper’s
assets. Mississippi Power is not required to consolidate the leased
assets and related liabilities, and the lease with Juniper is considered
an operating lease. The initial lease term ends in 2011, and the lease
includes a purchase and renewal option based on the cost of the
facility at the inception of the lease. Mississippi Power is required
to amortize approximately 4 percent of the initial acquisition cost
over the initial lease term. Eighteen months prior to the end of the
initial lease, Mississippi Power may elect to renew for 10 years. If
the lease is renewed, the agreement calls for Mississippi Power to
amortize an additional 17 percent of the initial completion cost over
the renewal period. Upon termination of the lease, at Mississippi
Power’s option, it may either exercise its purchase option or the
facility can be sold to a third party.
The lease provides for a residual value guarantee, approximately 73 percent of the acquisition cost, by Mississippi Power that
is due upon termination of the lease in the event that Mississippi
Power does not renew the lease or purchase the assets and that
the fair market value is less than the unamortized cost of the asset.
A liability of approximately $11 million for the fair market value of
this residual value guarantee is included in the balance sheet as of
December 31, 2005.
Southern Company also has other operating lease agreements
with various terms and expiration dates. Total operating lease expenses
were $150 million, $156 million, and $172 million for 2005, 2004,
and 2003, respectively. Southern Company includes any step rents,
escalations, and lease concessions in its computation of minimum
lease payments, which are recognized on a straight-line basis over
the minimum lease term. At December 31, 2005, estimated minimum
lease payments for noncancelable operating leases were as follows:
MINIMUM LEASE PAYMENTS
(in millions)

PLANT DANIEL

RAIL CARS

OTHER

TOTAL

2006

$ 29

$ 42

$ 52

$123

2007

29

34

46

109

2008

29

31

36

96

2009

29

24

30

83

2010

28

22

23

73

2011 and thereafter

28

84

147

259

$172

$237

$334

$743

Total
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For the retail operating companies, the rail car lease expenses
are recoverable through fuel cost recovery provisions. In addition to
the above rental commitments, Alabama Power and Georgia Power
have obligations upon expiration of certain leases with respect to
the residual value of the leased property. These leases expire in
2006, 2009, and 2011, and the maximum obligations are $66 million, $20 million, and $68 million, respectively. At the termination of
the leases, the lessee may either exercise its purchase option, or the
property can be sold to a third party. Alabama Power and Georgia
Power expect that the fair market value of the leased property would
substantially reduce or eliminate the payments under the residual
value obligations.
Guarantees
Prior to the spin-off, Southern Company made separate guarantees
to certain counterparties regarding performance of contractual
commitments by Mirant’s trading and marketing subsidiaries. The
total notional amount of guarantees outstanding at December 31,
2005 is less than $20 million, all of which will expire by 2009.
Southern Company has executed a keep-well agreement with
a subsidiary of Southern Holdings to make capital contributions in
the event of any shortfall in payments due under a participation
agreement with an entity in which the subsidiary holds a 30 percent investment. The maximum aggregate amount of Southern
Company’s liability under this keep-well agreement is $50 million.
As discussed earlier in this Note under “Operating Leases,”
Alabama Power, Georgia Power, and Mississippi Power have entered
into certain residual value guarantees.
N OT E 8 :
C O M M O N STOCK

Stock Issued
Southern Company raised $213 million (10 million shares) in 2005
and $124 million (7 million shares) in 2004 from the issuance of new
common shares under the Company’s various stock plans.
Stock Repurchased
During 2005, in a program designed primarily to offset the issuances discussed above, Southern Company repurchased 10 million
shares of common stock at a total cost of $352 million. The repurchase program was discontinued in early January 2006.
Shares Reserved
At December 31, 2005, a total of 64.9 million shares was reserved for
issuance pursuant to the Southern Investment Plan, the Employee
Savings Plan, the Outside Directors Stock Plan, and the Omnibus
Incentive Compensation Plan (stock option plan).

Stock Option Plan
Southern Company provides non-qualiﬁed stock options to a
large segment of its employees ranging from line management to
executives. As of December 31, 2005, 6,329 current and former
employees participated in the stock option plan. The maximum
number of shares of common stock that may be issued under this
plan may not exceed 55 million. The prices of options granted to
date have been at the fair market value of the shares on the dates
of grant. Options granted to date become exercisable pro rata over
a maximum period of three years from the date of grant. Options
outstanding will expire no later than 10 years after the date of grant,
unless terminated earlier by the Southern Company Board of Directors in accordance with the stock option plan. Activity from 2003 to
2005 for the stock option plan is summarized below:

Balance at December 31, 2002
Options granted

SHARES SUBJECT
TO OPTION

AVERAGE OPTION
PRICE PER SHARE

32,674,814

19.72

7,165,190

27.98

Options canceled

(181,381)

24.37

Options exercised

(5,725,336)

16.56

Balance at December 31, 2003

33,933,287

21.97

7,231,703

29.49

Options granted
Options canceled

(72,794)

26.85

Options exercised

(6,557,690)

18.11

34,534,506

24.27

Balance at December 31, 2004
Options granted

6,969,083

Options canceled

(83,366)

Options exercised

(10,072,868)

Balance at December 31, 2005

32.71
28.01
21.17

31,347,355

$ 27.13

Shares reserved for future grants:
At December 31, 2003

39,751,477

At December 31, 2004

32,583,523

At December 31, 2005

25,687,333

Options exercisable:
At December 31, 2003

18,874,426

At December 31, 2004

21,782,064

At December 31, 2005

18,535,238

The following table summarizes information about options
outstanding at December 31, 2005:
DOLLAR PRICE
RANGE OF OPTIONS
13-21
21-28
28-35

Outstanding:
Shares (in thousands)
Average remaining life (in years)
Average exercise price

4,157

13,370

4.2

5.9

13,821
8.2

$17.25

$26.10

$31.10

Exercisable:
Shares (in thousands)
Average exercise price
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4,157

11,465

2,914

$17.25

$25.79

$29.67
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Diluted Earnings Per Share
For Southern Company, the only difference in computing basic and
diluted earnings per share is attributable to outstanding options
under the stock option plan. The effect of the stock options was
determined using the treasury stock method. Shares used to compute diluted earnings per share are as follows:

(in thousands)

As reported shares
Effect of options
Diluted shares

AVERAGE COMMON STOCK SHARES
2005
2004
2003

743,927

738,879

4,600

4,197

726,702
5,202

748,527

743,076

731,904

Common Stock Dividend Restrictions
The income of Southern Company is derived primarily from
equity in earnings of its subsidiaries. At December 31, 2005,
consolidated retained earnings included $4.5 billion of undistributed retained earnings of the subsidiaries. Of this amount,
$68 million was restricted against the payment of cash dividends
on common stock by Savannah Electric under terms of its bond
indenture. Southern Power’s credit facility also contains potential
limitations on the payment of common stock dividends; as of
December 31, 2005, Southern Power was in compliance with
all such requirements.
N OT E 9 :
N U C L E A R I N S U R A NCE

Under the Price-Anderson Amendment Act (Act), Alabama Power
and Georgia Power maintain agreements of indemnity with the
NRC that, together with private insurance, cover third-party liability arising from any nuclear incident occurring at the companies’
nuclear power plants. The Act provides funds up to $10.76 billion
for public liability claims that could arise from a single nuclear
incident. Each nuclear plant is insured against this liability to
a maximum of $300 million by American Nuclear Insurers (ANI),
with the remaining coverage provided by a mandatory program
of deferred premiums that could be assessed, after a nuclear incident, against all owners of nuclear reactors. A company could be
assessed up to $101 million per incident for each licensed reactor
it operates but not more than an aggregate of $15 million per incident to be paid in a calendar year for each reactor. Such maximum
assessment, excluding any applicable state premium taxes, for
Alabama Power and Georgia Power, based on its ownership and
buyback interests, is $201 million and $203 million, respectively,
per incident, but not more than an aggregate of $30 million per
company to be paid for each incident in any one year.

Alabama Power and Georgia Power are members of Nuclear
Electric Insurance Limited (NEIL), a mutual insurer established to
provide property damage insurance in an amount up to $500 million
for members’ nuclear generating facilities.
Additionally, both companies have policies that currently provide decontamination, excess property insurance, and premature
decommissioning coverage up to $2.25 billion for losses in excess
of the $500 million primary coverage. This excess insurance is also
provided by NEIL.
NEIL also covers the additional costs that would be incurred in
obtaining replacement power during a prolonged accidental outage
at a member’s nuclear plant. Members can purchase this coverage,
subject to a deductible waiting period of up to 26 weeks, with a
maximum per occurrence per unit limit of $490 million. After the
deductible period, weekly indemnity payments would be received
until either the unit is operational or until the limit is exhausted in
approximately three years. Alabama Power and Georgia Power each
purchase the maximum limit allowed by NEIL, subject to ownership
limitations. Each facility has elected a 12-week waiting period.
Under each of the NEIL policies, members are subject to
assessments if losses each year exceed the accumulated funds available to the insurer under that policy. The current maximum annual
assessments for Alabama Power and Georgia Power under the NEIL
policies would be $41 million and $48 million, respectively.
Following the terrorist attacks of September 2001, both ANI
and NEIL conﬁrmed that terrorist acts against commercial nuclear
power plants would, subject to the normal policy limits, be covered
under their insurance. Both companies, however, revised their policy
terms on a prospective basis to include an industry aggregate for
all “non-certiﬁed” terrorist acts, i.e., acts that are not certiﬁed acts
of terrorism pursuant to the Terrorism Risk Insurance Act of 2002,
which was renewed in 2005. The aggregate for all NEIL policies,
which applies to non-certiﬁed property claims stemming from terrorism within a 12-month duration, is $3.24 billion plus any amounts
available through reinsurance or indemnity from an outside source.
The non-certiﬁed ANI nuclear liability cap is a $300 million shared
industry aggregate during the normal ANI policy period.
For all on-site property damage insurance policies for commercial nuclear power plants, the NRC requires that the proceeds
of such policies shall be dedicated ﬁrst for the sole purpose of
placing the reactor in a safe and stable condition after an accident.
Any remaining proceeds are to be applied next toward the costs
of decontamination and debris removal operations ordered by the
NRC, and any further remaining proceeds are to be paid either to
the company or to its bond trustees as may be appropriate under
the policies and applicable trust indentures.
All retrospective assessments, whether generated for liability,
property, or replacement power, may be subject to applicable state
premium taxes.
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N OT E 1 0 :

separate disclosure. These segments include investments in synthetic fuels and leveraged lease projects, telecommunications, and
energy-related services. Southern Power’s revenues from sales to
the retail operating companies were $557 million, $425 million, and
$313 million in 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively. In addition, see
Note 1 under “Related Party Transactions” for information regarding
revenues from services for synthetic fuel production that are included
in the cost of fuel purchased by Alabama Power and Georgia Power.
All other intersegment revenues are not material. Financial data for
business segments and products and services are as follows:

S E G M E N T A N D RELATED INFORMATION

Southern Company’s reportable business segment is the sale of
electricity in the Southeast by the ﬁve retail operating companies
and Southern Power. Net income and total assets for discontinued
operations are included in the reconciling eliminations column. The
“All Other” column includes parent Southern Company, which does
not allocate operating expenses to business segments. Also, this
category includes segments below the quantitative threshold for
Business Segment

ELECTRIC UTILITIES

(in millions)

RETAIL
OPERATING
COMPANIES

SOUTHERN
POWER

$ 13,156

$ 781

1,083

54

–

30

2

567

79

TOTAL

ALL
OTHER

$ 13,278

$ 393

1,137

39

–

32

5

–

646

101

ELIMINATIONS

ELIMINATIONS

CONSOLIDATED

2005
OPERATING REVENUES
DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION
INTEREST INCOME
INTEREST EXPENSE
INCOME TAXES
SEGMENT NET INCOME (loss)
TOTAL ASSETS
GROSS PROPERTY ADDITIONS

$ (659)

$ (117)
–
(1)
–

$13,554
1,176
36
747

827

72

–

899

(304)

–

1,398

115

–

1,513

80

(2)

1,591

36,335

2,303

(333)

39,877

2,177

241

(179)

595

38,459

1,751

–

2,418

58

–

2,476

ELIMINATIONS

TOTAL

ALL
OTHER

ELIMINATIONS

CONSOLIDATED

ELECTRIC UTILITIES
RETAIL
OPERATING
COMPANIES

SOUTHERN
POWER

$11,300

$ 701

$(536)

$11,465

$ 375

$(111)

$11,729

857

51

–

908

41

–

949

Interest income

24

1

–

25

4

(2)

27

Interest expense

518

66

–

584

83

–

667

(in millions)

2004
Operating revenues
Depreciation and amortization

Income taxes
Segment net income (loss)
Total assets
Gross property additions

802

73

–

875

(290)

–

585

1,309

112

–

1,421

109

2

1,532

33,517

2,067

(104)

35,480

1,895

(420)

36,955

2,307

116

(415)

2,008

91

–

2,099

TOTAL

ALL
OTHER

ELIMINATIONS

CONSOLIDATED

ELECTRIC UTILITIES
RETAIL
OPERATING
COMPANIES

SOUTHERN
POWER

$10,502

$ 682

$(437)

$10,747

$ 357

$ (86)

$11,018

933

39

–

972

49

1

1,022

Interest income

33

–

–

33

6

(3)

36

Interest expense

542

32

–

574

108

(4)

678

(in millions)

ELIMINATIONS

2003
Operating revenues
Depreciation and amortization

Income taxes
Segment net income (loss)
Total assets
Gross property additions

80

760

85

–

845

(228)

1

618

1,269

155

–

1,424

59

(9)

1,474

31,503

2,409

(122)

33,790

1,574

(189)

35,175

1,636

344

–

1,980

34

–

2,014
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Products and Services
ELECTRIC UTILITIES REVENUES
RETAIL

WHOLESALE

OTHER

TOTAL

2005

$11,165

$1,667

$446

$13,278

2004

9,732

1,341

392

11,465

2003

8,875

1,358

514

10,747

(in millions)

N OT E 1 1 :
Q UA RT E R LY F I N A N CIAL INFORMATION (UNAUDITED )

Summarized quarterly ﬁnancial data for 2005 and 2004 – including
discontinued operations for net income and earnings per share –
are as follows:
PER COMMON SHARE (NOTE)
(in millions)

OPERATING
REVENUES

OPERATING
INCOME

CONSOLIDATED
NET INCOME

BASIC
EARNINGS

DIVIDENDS

HIGH

PRICE RANGE
LOW

$ 31.25

QUARTER ENDED

$ 2,787

$ 560

$ 323

$ 0.43

$0.3575

$ 34.08

JUNE 2005

3,120

721

387

0.52

0.3725

34.91

31.78

SEPTEMBER 2005

4,358

1,277

722

0.97

0.3725

36.16

33.47

DECEMBER 2005

3,289

404

159

0.21

0.3725

36.07

33.28

MARCH 2005

March 2004

$ 2,651

$ 615

$ 331

$ 0.45

$ 0.3500

$ 30.87

$ 29.10

June 2004

2,984

697

352

0.48

0.3500

30.59

27.86

September 2004

3,424

1,120

645

0.87

0.3575

30.65

28.86

December 2004

2,670

389

204

0.28

0.3575

33.92

29.95

Southern Company’s business is inﬂuenced by seasonal weather conditions.

SOUTHERN COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 2005 ANNUAL REPORT

81

SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL AND OPERATING DATA
FOR THE PE R I O D S E N D E D D E C E M B E R 2 0 0 1 T H R O U G H 2 0 0 5

OPERATING REVENUES (in millions)
TOTAL ASSETS (in millions)
GROSS PROPERTY ADDITIONS (in millions)
RETURN ON AVERAGE COMMON EQUITY (percent)
CASH DIVIDENDS PAID PER SHARE OF COMMON STOCK

2005

2004

2003

2002

2001

$13,554
$39,877
$2,476
15.17
$1.475

$11,729
$36,955
$2,099
15.38
$1.415

$11,018
$35,175
$2,014
16.05
$1.385

$10,447
$33,721
$2,728
15.79
$1.355

$10,155
$31,856
$2,617
13.51
$1.340

$1,591
–
$1,591

$1,529
3
$1,532

$1,483
(9)
$1,474

$1,315
3
$1,318

$1,120
142
$1,262

$2.14
2.13

$2.07
2.06

$2.04
2.03

$1.86
1.85

$1.62
1.61

$2.14
2.13

$2.07
2.06

$2.03
2.02

$1.86
1.85

$1.83
1.82

$10,689
596
–
1,888
10,958
$24,131

$10,278
561
–
1,961
10,488
$23,288

$ 9,648
423
1,900
–
10,164
$22,135

$ 8,710
298
2,380
–
8,714
$20,102

$ 7,984
368
2,276
–
8,297
$18,925

44.3
2.5
–
7.8
45.4
100.0

44.1
2.4
–
8.4
45.1
100.0

43.6
1.9
8.6
–
45.9
100.0

43.3
1.5
11.8
–
43.4
100.0

42.2
1.9
12.0
–
43.9
100.0

$14.42

$13.86

$13.13

$12.16

$11.43

36.160
31.250
34.530
239.5
16.1
$1,098
4.3
69.0

33.920
27.860
33.520
241.8
16.2
$1,044
4.2
68.3

31.810
27.710
30.250
230.4
14.8
$1,004
4.6
67.7

30.850
23.890
28.390
233.5
15.3
$958
4.8
72.8

26.000
16.152
25.350
221.8
15.6
$922
5.3
82.4

743,927
741,448
118,285

738,879
741,495
125,975

726,702
734,829
134,068

708,161
716,402
141,784

689,352
698,344
150,242

3,642
586
15
5
4,248
25,554

3,600
578
14
5
4,197
25,642

3,552
564
14
6
4,136
25,762

3,496
553
14
5
4,068
26,178

3,441
539
14
4
3,998
26,122

CONSOLIDATED NET INCOME (in millions):
CONTINUING OPERATIONS
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
TOTAL
EARNINGS PER SHARE FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS –

Basic
Diluted
EARNINGS PER SHARE INCLUDING DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS –

Basic
Diluted
CAPITALIZATION (in millions):

Common stock equity
Preferred and preference stock
Mandatorily redeemable preferred securities
Long-term debt payable to affiliated trusts
Long-term debt
Total (excluding amounts due within one year)
CAPITALIZATION RATIOS (percent):

Common stock equity
Preferred and preference stock
Mandatorily redeemable preferred securities
Long-term debt payable to affiliated trusts
Long-term debt
Total (excluding amounts due within one year)
OTHER COMMON STOCK DATA:

Book value per share
Market price per share:
High
Low
Close
Market-to-book ratio (year-end) (percent)
Price-earnings ratio (year-end) (times)
Dividends paid (in millions)
Dividend yield (year-end) (percent)
Dividend payout ratio (percent)
Shares outstanding (in thousands):
Average
Year-end
Stockholders of record (year-end)
RETAIL OPERATING COMPANY CUSTOMERS (year-end) (in thousands):

Residential
Commercial
Industrial
Other
Total
EMPLOYEES (year-end)
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SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL AND OPERATING DATA
FOR THE PERIODS E N D E D D E C E M B E R 2 0 0 1 T H R O U G H 2 0 0 5

2005

2004

2003

2002

2001

$ 4,376
3,904
2,785
100
11,165
1,667
12,832
722
$ 13,554

$ 3,848
3,346
2,446
92
9,732
1,341
11,073
656
$ 11,729

$ 3,565
3,075
2,146
89
8,875
1,358
10,233
785
$ 11,018

$ 3,556
3,007
2,078
87
8,728
1,168
9,896
551
$ 10,447

$ 3,247
2,966
2,144
83
8,440
1,174
9,614
541
$ 10,155

51,082
51,857
55,141
996
159,076
37,801
196,877

49,702
50,037
56,399
1,005
157,143
35,239
192,382

47,833
48,372
54,415
998
151,618
40,520
192,138

48,784
48,250
53,851
1,000
151,885
32,551
184,436

44,538
46,939
52,891
977
145,345
30,768
176,113

8.57
7.53
5.05
7.02
4.41
6.52

7.74
6.69
4.34
6.19
3.81
5.76

7.45
6.36
3.94
5.85
3.35
5.33

7.29
6.23
3.86
5.75
3.59
5.37

7.29
6.32
4.05
5.81
3.82
5.46

14,084
$1,207
40,502

13,879
$1,074
38,622

13,562
$1,011
38,679

14,036
$1,023
36,353

13,014
$949
34,579

30,384
35,050
14.4
60.2

28,467
34,414
20.2
61.4

31,318
32,949
21.4
62.0

25,939
32,355
13.3
51.1

26,272
29,700
19.3
62.0

89.0
90.5

88.5
92.8

87.7
94.4

84.8
90.3

88.1
90.8

67.0
13.9
3.1
10.9
5.1
100.0

64.6
14.4
2.9
10.9
7.2
100.0

66.4
14.8
3.8
8.8
6.2
100.0

65.7
14.7
2.6
11.4
5.6
100.0

67.5
15.2
2.6
8.4
6.3
100.0

OPERATING REVENUES (in millions):

Residential
Commercial
Industrial
Other
Total retail
Sales for resale
Total revenues from sales of electricity
Other revenues
Total
KILOWATT-HOUR SALES (in millions):

Residential
Commercial
Industrial
Other
Total retail
Sales for resale
Total
AVERAGE REVENUE PER KILOWATT-HOUR (cents):

Residential
Commercial
Industrial
Total retail
Sales for resale
Total sales
AVERAGE ANNUAL KILOWATT-HOUR USE
PER RESIDENTIAL CUSTOMER
AVERAGE ANNUAL REVENUE PER RESIDENTIAL CUSTOMER
PLANT NAMEPLATE CAPACITY RATINGS (year-end) (megawatts)
MAXIMUM PEAK-HOUR DEMAND (megawatts):

Winter
Summer
SYSTEM RESERVE MARGIN (at peak) (percent)
ANNUAL LOAD FACTOR (percent)
PLANT AVAILABILITY (percent):

Fossil-steam
Nuclear
SOURCE OF ENERGY SUPPLY (percent):

Coal
Nuclear
Hydro
Oil and gas
Purchased power
Total
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

1. David M. Ratcliffe
Chairman, President, and Chief Executive Ofﬁcer
Southern Company
Atlanta, Georgia
Age 57; elected 2003
Other corporate directorships:
CSX Corporation
2. Juanita P. Baranco
Executive Vice President and
Chief Operating Ofﬁcer
Baranco Automotive Group (automobile sales)
Morrow, Georgia
Age 57; elected 2006
Board committees: Audit
Other corporate directorships:
Cox Radio Incorporated
3. Dorrit J. Bern
Chairman, President, and Chief Executive Ofﬁcer
Charming Shoppes Incorporated (retail)
Bensalem, Pennsylvania
Age 55; elected 1999
Board committees: Finance (chair), Governance
Other corporate directorships: Charming
Shoppes Incorporated
4. Francis S. Blake
Executive Vice President of Business Development
and Corporate Operations
The Home Depot Incorporated (retail)
Atlanta, Georgia
Age 56; elected 2004
Board committees: Audit
Other corporate directorships: None

5. Thomas F. Chapman
Retired Chairman and Chief Executive Ofﬁcer
Equifax Incorporated (information services and
transaction processing)
Atlanta, Georgia
Age 62; elected 1999
Board committees: Governance (chair),
Compensation and Management Succession
Other corporate directorships: None

8. J. Neal Purcell
Retired Vice Chairman-Audit Operations
KPMG (audit and accounting)
Duluth, Georgia
Age 64; elected 2003
Board committees: Audit (chair)
Other corporate directorships:
Synovus Financial Corporation, Dollar General
Corporation, Kaiser Permanente Health Care
and Hospitals

6. Donald M. James
Chairman and Chief Executive Ofﬁcer
Vulcan Materials Company
(construction materials)
Birmingham, Alabama
Age 57; elected 1999
Board committees: Compensation and
Management Succession, Finance
Other corporate directorships:
Vulcan Materials Company, Protective Life
Corporation, Wachovia Corporation

9. William G. Smith, Jr.
Chairman, President, and Chief Executive Ofﬁcer
Capital City Bank Group Incorporated (banking)
Tallahassee, Florida
Age 52; elected 2006
Board committees: Compensation and
Management Succession, Finance
Other corporate directorships:
Capital City Bank Group Incorporated

7. Zack T. Pate
Chairman Emeritus
World Association of Nuclear Operators
(nuclear power industry)
Atlanta, Georgia
Age 69; elected 1998
Board committees: Nuclear (chair), Audit
Other corporate directorships: None

10. Jerry St. Pé
Former President
Ingalls Shipbuilding
Retired Executive Vice President
Litton Industries (shipbuilding)
Pascagoula, Mississippi
Age 66; elected 1995
Board committees: Compensation and
Management Succession (chair), Governance
Other corporate directorships: None
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MANAGEMENT COUNCIL

1. David M. Ratcliffe
Chairman, President, and Chief Executive Ofﬁcer
Ratcliffe, 57, joined the company as a biologist
with Georgia Power in 1971, and has been in his
current position since 2004. Previously, he was
president and CEO of Georgia Power, Southern
Company’s largest subsidiary, from 1999 to
2004 and also served as president and CEO of
Mississippi Power from 1991 to 1995. Ratcliffe
has held executive and management positions
in the areas of ﬁnance, external affairs, fuel
services, operations and planning, and research
and environmental affairs.
2. J. Barnie Beasley Jr.
Chairman, President, and Chief Executive Ofﬁcer,
Southern Nuclear
Beasley, 54, joined the company as a cooperative
education student with Georgia Power in 1969.
He has been in his current job as president
and CEO of Southern Nuclear since 2004 and
also became chairman in 2005. Beasley served
in various electrical distribution roles before
transferring to Plant Vogtle in 1980, and has held
several executive and management positions
since then in the company’s nuclear power
system, which includes six nuclear reactors.
3. W. Paul Bowers
President, Southern Company Generation
Bowers, 49, joined the company as a residential
sales representative with Gulf Power in 1979.
He has been in his current position, with overall
responsibility for fossil and hydro generation and
operations, Southern Power, engineering and
construction services, and environmental affairs
and research services, since 2001. Bowers also
served as president and CEO of Southern Power
from 2001 to 2005 and president and CEO of
Southern Company’s former UK subsidiary from
1998 to 2000.
4. Robert G. Dawson
President and Chief Executive Ofﬁcer,
SouthernLINC Wireless and Southern Telecom
Dawson, 59, joined the company as a
cooperative education student with Southern
Company Services in 1964. He has held his
current position, heading the company’s
telecommunications subsidiaries, since 1995.
Previously, Dawson served as vice president of
Latin America and Caribbean assets for Southern
Energy (now Mirant Corporation) and also has
held executive and management positions in
generation, power delivery, and fuel services.

5. Andrew J. Dearman III
Executive Vice President and
Chief Transmission Ofﬁcer
Dearman, 52, joined the company as a junior
engineer with Alabama Power in 1975. He was
named to his current position, overseeing the
Southern Company transmission system, in
2001. Previously, Dearman was senior vice
president and chief technical ofﬁcer for
Southern Energy (now Mirant Corporation)
and also held executive positions in power
generation and delivery, as well as serving at
Alabama Power as a division vice president and
in various construction-related jobs.

10. Anthony R. James
Executive Vice President and President
of Shared Services
James, 55, joined the company as a safety and
health supervisor with Georgia Power in 1978. He
began his current job, overseeing the centralized
corporate functions that provide services to
operating subsidiaries, in 2006. James previously
was president and CEO of Savannah Electric
from 2001 to 2005. He also has held executive,
management, and supervisory positions in
power generation, plant maintenance, plant
management, employee beneﬁts, wholesale
power marketing, and safety and health.

6. Dwight H. Evans
Executive Vice President
Evans, 57, joined the company as a design engineer and environmental engineer with Georgia
Power in 1970. He has held his current position,
which includes responsibility for environmental
policy, regulatory and legislative affairs, and
corporate communication, since 2001. Previously,
Evans was president and CEO of Mississippi
Power and also has held executive positions in
external affairs and governmental affairs.

11. Charles D. McCrary
Executive Vice President
McCrary, 54, joined the company as an assistant
project planning engineer with Alabama Power
in 1973. He began his current job as president
and CEO of Alabama Power in 2001. Previously,
McCrary was chief production ofﬁcer for
Southern Company and president and CEO of
Southern Power. He also held executive positions
at Alabama Power and Southern Nuclear as well
as various jobs in engineering, system planning,
fuels, and environmental affairs.

7. Thomas A. Fanning
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Ofﬁcer,
and Treasurer
Fanning, 49, joined the company as a ﬁnancial
analyst in 1980. He has held his current position,
which also includes responsibility for corporate
strategy, since 2003. He previously was
president and CEO of Gulf Power and served
as chief ﬁnancial ofﬁcer at Georgia Power and
Mississippi Power. Fanning also has held several
ofﬁcer positions in the areas of ﬁnance, strategy,
international business development, and
information technology.
8. Michael D. Garrett
Executive Vice President
Garrett, 56, joined the company as a cooperative
education student with Georgia Power in 1968.
He began his current job as president and CEO
of Georgia Power in 2004. Previously, Garrett was
president and CEO of Mississippi Power. He also
has held executive positions at Alabama Power
in the areas of customer operations, regulatory
affairs, ﬁnance, and external affairs, as well as
serving as Birmingham Division vice president.
9. G. Edison Holland
Executive Vice President, General Counsel,
and Corporate Secretary
Holland, 53, joined the company as vice
president and corporate counsel for Gulf Power
in 1992. He was named to his current position,
which also includes serving as the chief
compliance ofﬁcer, in 2001. Previously, he was
president and CEO of Savannah Electric from
1997 to 2001. Holland also has served as vice
president of power generation and transmission
at Gulf Power.

12. Susan N. Story
President and Chief Executive Ofﬁcer, Gulf Power
Story, 46, joined the company as a nuclear
power plant engineer in 1982. She has held her
current position leading Southern Company’s
subsidiary serving northwest Florida since 2003.
Previously, Story was executive vice president
of engineering and construction services for
Southern Company Generation and Energy
Marketing. She also has held executive and
management positions in the areas of supply
chain management, real estate, corporate
services, and human resources.
13. Anthony J. Topazi
President and Chief Executive Ofﬁcer,
Mississippi Power
Topazi, 55, joined the company as a cooperative
education student with Alabama Power in 1969.
He began his current job leading the Southern
Company subsidiary that serves southeast
Mississippi in 2004. Topazi previously was
executive vice president for Southern Company
Generation and Energy Marketing and also
served as senior vice president of Southern
Power. He held various positions at Alabama
Power, including Western Division vice president
and Birmingham Division vice president.
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STOCKHOLDER INFORMATION

TRANSFER AGENT

AUDITORS

SCS Stockholder Services is Southern Company’s transfer agent,
dividend-paying agent, investment plan administrator, and registrar.
If you have questions concerning your Southern Company stockholder account, please contact:

Deloitte & Touche LLP
Suite 1500, 191 Peachtree St. NE
Atlanta, GA 30303
INVESTOR INFORMATION LINE

By mail
SCS Stockholder Services
P.O. Box 54250
Atlanta, GA 30308-0250
By phone
9 to 12; 1 to 5 ET
Monday through Friday
(800) 554-7626

By courier
SCS Stockholder Services
30 Ivan Allen Jr. Blvd. NW
11th Floor–Bin SC1100
Atlanta, GA 30308
By e-mail
stockholders@southernco.com

STOCKHOLDER SERVICES INTERNET SITE

Located within Southern Company’s Investor Relations Web site at
http://investor.southerncompany.com, the Stockholder Services
site provides transfer instructions, service request forms, and answers to frequently asked questions.
Through this site, registered stockholders may also securely
access their account information, including share balance, market
value, and dividend payment details–as well as change their
account mailing addresses.
SOUTHERN INVESTMENT PLAN

The Southern Investment Plan (SIP) provides a convenient way
to purchase common stock and reinvest dividends. Access the
Stockholder Services Internet site to review the Prospectus and
download an enrollment form.

For recorded information about earnings and dividends, stock
quotes, and current news releases, call toll-free (866) 762-6411.
INSTITUTIONAL INVESTOR INQUIRIES

Southern Company maintains an investor relations ofﬁce in Atlanta,
(404) 506-5195, to meet the information needs of institutional investors and securities analysts.
ELECTRONIC DELIVERY

Any stockholder may enroll for electronic delivery of proxy materials
by logging on at www.icsdelivery.com/so.
CERTIFICATIONS

Southern Company has ﬁled the required certiﬁcations of its chief
executive ofﬁcer and chief ﬁnancial ofﬁcer under Section 302 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 regarding the quality of our public disclosures as exhibits 31(a)1 and 31(a)2 to Southern Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December
31, 2005. The certiﬁcation of Southern Company’s chief executive
ofﬁcer regarding compliance with the New York Stock Exchange
(NYSE) corporate governance listing standards required by NYSE
Rule 303A.12 will be ﬁled with the NYSE following the 2006 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders. Last year, Southern Company ﬁled this
certiﬁcation with the NYSE on June 6, 2005.
ENVIRONMENTAL INFORMATION

DIRECT REGISTRATION

Southern Company common stock can be issued in direct registration (book entry or uncertiﬁcated) form. The stock is DRS (Direct
Registration System) eligible.
DIVIDEND PAYMENTS

The entire amount of dividends paid in 2005 is taxable.
The board of directors sets the record and payment dates for
quarterly dividends. A dividend of 371/4 cents per share was paid in
March 2006.
For the remainder of 2006, projected record dates are May 1,
Aug. 7, and Nov. 6. Projected payment dates for dividends declared
during the remainder of 2006 are June 6, Sept. 6, and Dec. 6.
ANNUAL MEETING

The 2006 Annual Meeting of Stockholders will be held Wednesday,
May 24 at 10 a.m. ET at the Southern Pine at Callaway, Highway 18,
Pine Mountain, GA 31822.
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Southern Company publishes a variety of information on its activities to meet the company’s environmental commitments. It is available online at www.southerncompany.com/planetpower/ and in
print. To request printed materials, write to:
Chris Hobson
Senior Vice President, Research and Environmental Affairs
600 North 18th St.
P.O. Box 2641
Birmingham, AL 35203-2206
COMMON STOCK

Southern Company common stock is listed on the NYSE under the
ticker symbol SO. At December 31, 2005, Southern Company had
118,285 stockholders of record.
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06 Central Topics:
Energy policy & other key matters

08 In Front:
Staying in front of our customers’ needs

A look at some of the people who make customer
satisfaction the driver of our business

Baseload Generation–the generating facilities within the system
that are operated to the greatest extent possible to maximize
efﬁciency and minimize costs, thus providing the “base” of generation requirements.
Book Value–a company’s common stock equity as it appears on a
balance sheet, equal to total assets minus liabilities, preferred stock,
and intangible assets such as goodwill. Book value per share refers
to the book value of a company divided by the number of shares
outstanding.
Competitive Generation Business–our market-based wholesale
electricity supply business that, primarily through long-term contracts, serves customers who can choose their suppliers based on
price, reliability, capacity, and other market needs.

10 Up Front:
Actions speak louder than words

We strive to achieve outstanding results and
to improve the ways that we achieve them

12 Out Front:
Our business model is clear

Executing the strategy by focusing on
what we do best

Distribution Lines–power lines, like those in neighborhoods, that
carry moderate-voltage electricity to customer service areas.
Dividend Yield–the annual dividend income per share received
from a company divided by its current stock price.
Earnings Per Share–net income divided by the average number of
shares of common stock outstanding.
Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC)–an independent
agency within the U.S. Department of Energy that, among other
things, regulates wholesale sales of electricity and transmission in
interstate commerce.
Generating Capacity–the amount of energy that can be produced
using all of our power generation facilities.
Kilowatt-hour–the basic unit of electric energy, which equals one
kilowatt of power taken from an electric circuit steadily for one hour.
A 100-watt light bulb burning for 10 hours uses one kilowatt-hour
of electricity.

Market Value–what investors believe a company is worth, calculated by multiplying the number of shares outstanding by the current market price of the company’s shares.
Megawatt–one thousand kilowatts. A measurement of electricity
usually used when discussing large amounts, such as the capacity
of generating plants.
Payout Ratio–the percentage of earnings that is paid to shareholders in the form of dividends.
Public Service Commissions (PSC) –the authorities that regulate
utilities at the state level.
Regulated Retail Business–the part of our business that generates,
transmits, and distributes electricity to commercial, industrial, and
residential customers in most of Alabama and Georgia, the Florida
panhandle, and southeastern Mississippi.
Retail Markets–markets in which energy is sold and delivered
directly to the ultimate end-users of that energy.
Return on Equity –a measure of proﬁtability, calculated as net
income divided by shareholders’ equity.
Risk-adjusted Return –a measure of return which factors in the risk
(expected variability in returns) of the investment relative to other
stocks.
Total Shareholder Return–stock price appreciation plus reinvested
dividends. (The distribution of shares of Mirant Corporation stock to
Southern Company shareholders is treated as a special dividend for
purposes of calculating Southern Company shareholder return.)
Transmission Lines–circuits carrying power at a high voltage. They
generally carry the power from the source of generation to the point
where the voltage is reduced and distributed to customers.
Wholesale Customers–energy marketers, electric and gas utilities,
municipal utilities, rural electric cooperatives, and other entities that
buy power for resale to retail customers.

14 Environmentally Centered:
Cleaner energy, today and tomorrow

16 The Frontlines:
Teamwork and operational excellence

We’re investing to generate electricity more
cleanly and looking for new technologies to
lessen our impact on the environment

Working to be the best at generating and
delivering electricity reliably

MAJOR SUBSIDIARIES & BUSINESS UNITS

S O U T H E R N C O M PA N Y

Alabama Power
Georgia Power
Gulf Power
Mississippi Power
Savannah Electric*

30 Ivan Allen Jr. Blvd. NW
Atlanta, GA 30308
(404) 506-5000
www.southerncompany.com

Southern Power
Southern Nuclear
SouthernLINC Wireless
Southern Telecom

* Merger with Georgia Power planned in 2006.

601 Pennsylvania Ave. NW
Suite 800 South
Washington, D.C. 20004

18 Data Center: Performance Facts & Figures
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